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Minutes: Chairman DeKrey opened the hearing on 13 1306, Relating to the limit on wagers in
the game twenty-one under the games ol chance laws,
Todd Kranda: Charitable Gaming Association of North Dakota. Rep Reaner and Rep Hawken

spoke on the previous bill HIB 1305 as sponsors of 1B 1306, Introduced the amendments with a
handout. e refers to the colored handout from the previous bill, The amendments deal with the
rent issue allowing the increase of the table rent,

Rep Klemin: Can you tell me. why the decrcase in gaming in North Dakota?

Keith Lauer:! don't think there is less gambling in North Dakota, the weekly gamblers were
gombling less then before, that doesn®t mean that the total number is less,

Rep Klemin: Are the Indian casino's drawing more people away?

Keith Lauer: There certainly is a drop in the charitable gaming, it show that,

Rep Klemin: Al it shows is that there is a drop in revenue,
. Keith Lauer: I you walk in any casino you will sce that, it is public information,
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Rep Klemin: There is evidence of the decreasie, we just can’t see il.
Keith Lauer: Exactly,

Rep Maragos: [ didn’t sce the gaming report, of the 5,000 what per cent had gained?
g grep p 8

Keith Lauer: I will have to go back to the report for the numbers.
Rep Maragos: What per cent have never gambled?

Keith Lauet: I'm sure there is, [ believe (9%,

Rep Onstad: What pereent is addiction is directly related to Indian Casino and what to charitable

gaming,

Chairman DeKrey: T ean get the committee a copy of the report, e gives information from the

report, The problem is identified as male and native American and in those counties closest to the
reservations,

Rep Onstud: They are contributing a small portion back to the gambling addiction problem, are
they contributing back to the state in direct portion as to whose causing the problem,

Todd Kranda: The compacts now are negotiating that involved some funding for treatment, but |
am not familiar with that.

Rep Delmore: When you renegotiating with the compacts, did you have an expunsion,

Jodd Kranda: 1 don't know the increase in the different types of games. SEGAN was there
maybe they can answer that,

Rick Stengeth: The last compuct doubled all the numbers for the Indian Casinos.

Keith Lauer: They added erap, roulette and poker, plus some new games, also and increase in

electronic games.
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Rep Delmore: [n light of this information, we have to take into consideration of what you are

asking, and portion of what wus given.

Todd Kranda: Please do. We think it would be appropriate,

Rep Klemin: Do you know about the $85,000.00 a year given to the Mental Health and what they
are doing with it, anything clsc¢?

Todd Kranda: I don't know that answer,

Rep Klemin:[t doesn't sound that they are doing much.
Rep Disrud: Have the psychologists been involved in these studies. the addictive studies?

Todd Kranda: 1 am not sure who in involved.

Rick Stenseth: In reference o the study, the pathological gamblers are most likely to use other

substance abuses and they are also more tikely o be compulsive in other areas.
Rep Gunter: Could you explain the chart.

Rick Stenseth: He explains the chart that Chuck Keller handed out.

TAPE T SIDE A

Rick Stenseth continues his (estimony on the chart. He gave the reasons why the dollar amount
wils picked.

Rep Disrud: When was the $25.00 chip implanted?

Rick Stenseth: 1 don®t know swhen the paddle wheel statute was enacted.

Rep Disrud: Has there been more gambling problems as a result?

Rick Stenseth: 1 don't know the impact.

Chairman Delrey: 1 there no further questions. thank you for appearing.
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Rick Stenseth: We are dealing with the facts, they are in the study. and make them available so

that you can study them,

Bill Shathoob: representing the Hospitality Association spoke in support of HI3 1306.

Chairman DeKrey: We will continue with those who are in favor of 1B 1306.

Gary Fonya: Greater Grand Forks Visitors Burcau. spoke in support of HBO 1306, His reasons
lor the decline 1) cconomy 2) lack of Canadian visitors 3) proliferation ol other gaming
opportunitics and 4) loss of population, We know from sword of mouth that people are going to
the native American casinos, His reasons for support of this bill 1) people will be staying with
local gaming instead of driving distances. 2) value of the dollar 3) expenses exceed what the
charities make now and 4) tourisim,

Rep Disrud: Is there a limit at the casino.

Gary Fonya: $60.00 on craps and higher than that at black juck. two tables o1 $250.00

Rep Klemin: [ do remember the reason for higher limits at the Indian Casinos and now we want
higher limits want higher limits, aren't we just poing in a cirele?

Gary Fonya: I can’t speak 1o that,

Rep Klemin: f you reduce your expense, are you thinking ol cutting back on the number of’
tables to reduce your expenses”

Gary Fonyi: Our expenses are as low as they can get, Rep Delmore: Can you see any reasons
why the Indian casinos are as far ahead?

Cary Fonya: No.,

Chairman DeKiey: Do you have any fears, that we have two class of gamblers, Those that like to

casino and those that like charitable gambling,
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Gary Fonya: There are always fears in this business, but ] feel that most people will not pay any
attention.

Chairman_DeKrey: Are there any further questions. if not thank you for appearing.

Joseph Dirk: from the Moose orgonization, spoke in support of H13 1300,

Vickic Wagner: from the Bismarck VIEW. spoke in support o 1153 1306

Rep Maragos: Is there anything that will preserve the right for the veterans to stay that low,

Vickic Wagner: I don’t see that it will change,

Chairman DeKrey: Vice Chr Kretschmar has pointed out to me that itis in the law to $1.00 the

bet, We will move to the opposition,
Governor Link:Chairman of the North Dakota Council on Gambling Problems (see attached

. testimony)

Chairman DeKrey: Just o note. when they purposed and approved the first gambling compact. the

Legislature had no input, so we changed the law accordingly.

Governor Link: Wasn't that a nice day.

Chairman DeKrey: There is frustration from the legislature too.

Rep Disrud: What has been done to train the people at the ables to identify the people with
gaming problems?

Govemor Link: T don't know.

Rep Disrud: Anything on gambling addition?

Governor Link: Tean't answer,

Rep Maragos: You brought up suicide, are you aware of any increase since we have had charity

. gaming?
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Goverpor Link: It is recognized as an end result, but 1 have no numbers. no.

Rep Marapos: | understand  the concern.,

Governor Link: Tdon't know if there is a conpection,

Chairman DeKRey: No lurther questions. thank you lor appearing.,

Watren DeKrey: Spoke in opposition to T 1300, He has appeared many times to oppose this

bill.
Rep Klemin: When you were at the hearing. was the charitable gaming people there?

Warren DeKrey: Fam not sure. [ can't answer,

Chairman DeKrey: If there are no further questions. thank you for appearing.

Warren Wenzel: United Methodist Pastor. Fairmount ND. spoke in opposition to i 113 1300.

Rep Maragos:Can you tell us why Governor Schafer allowed the gaming compact to raise the

Hmit?

Warren Wenzel: 1t was a puzzle 1o me. He was surrounded by high pressure people to

accomplish the higher limits.
Rep Maragos: What about our arm twisters?

Wirren Wenzel: The way 1 see it but I don't see a lot ol other people that have an economic self

interest to get their point across as others do.

Rep Distud: Asks about the church and there part in the gambling issue,

Warren Wenzel: The United Methodist, ELCA and Presbyterian Chureh have material to reach
out to those people and we have counseling, Part of our church involvement is that we are

testifying here today.
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Chairman DeKrey: 1 there are no further questions, thank you for appearing. I there is no further

testimony, we will close the hearing on HB 13006,
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Minutes:Chairman DeKrey called /thc committec to order on Hi3 1306.

Rep Delmore: 1 have some amendments, [Cadds the money for the rent. Rep Grande seconded the
amendments,

DISCUSSION

Chuck Keller. Todd Kranda were usked guestions 1o explain some of the reasons of the
amendments,

DISCUSSION CONTINUES

Chairman DeKrey called for o voice vote on the amendiments. Motion carries. What are the
wishes of the committee? Rep Maragos moved a DO PASS as amend. Rep Delmore second.
DISCUSSION

Chairman DeKrey, the clerk will call the roll on a DO PASS as amend. The motion passes with

[0 YIS, 5§ NO and 0 ABSEN'T, Carrier Rep Maragos.




FISCAL NOTE

Requested by Legislative Council
02/20/2001

Bill/Resolution No.:

Amendment to: HB 1306

1A. State fiscal effect: /dentify the state fiscal effect and the fiscal effect on agency appropriations

compared to funding levels and appropriations anticipated under currernt faw., ~
1999-2001 Blennium | 2001-2003 Blennium | 2003-2005 Biennium |

General Fund | Other Funds [General Fund| Other Funds [Genersi Fund| Other Funiis |
Revenues sof o] §42.000] CTsf T serood 8
Expenditures sof 80| Y| $o sof ¢
Ripropriator S S R R— —

1B. County, city, and school district fiscal effect: /dentify the fiscal elfect on the appropriate political
subdivision.

1999-2001 Biennium [ 2001-2003 Biennium j 2003-2005 Biennfum ]

School | ~ School | . School

Counties Citles Districts | Counties ( Citles Districts | Counties Cities Districts l
(sof o[ " so[  Use[ o[ 0] Sol _sof ~s0

2. Narrative: /dentify the aspects of the measure which cause fiscal impact and include any comments

. relevant to your analysis.

The bill would increase the maximum limit of a wager for the game of twenty-one from the
present five dollars, to "twenty-five" dollars.

The bill would allow an organization to pay the owner of a gaming site up to an additional
one hundred dollars of rent per month for cach twenty-one table on which wagers exceeding
five dollars are accepted.

3. State fiscal effect detail: For information shown under state fiscal effect in 14, please.

A. Revenues: Explain the revenue amounts. Provide detail, when approptiate, for each revenue type
and fund affected and any amounts included in the executive budget.

The bill would raise general fund revenue because the gaming tax would be applied to the
adjusted gross proceeds (gross proceeds less prizes) that is forecast tor the increased activity
of the game of twenty-otie,

B. Expenditures: Explain the expenditure amounts.  Provide detail, when appropriate, for each
agency, line item, and fund affected and the number of FTE positions affected.

. Not applicable




on the biennial appropriation for each agency and fund affected and any amounts included in the
executive budget. Indicate the relationship between the amounts shown for expenditures and
appropriations.

‘ C. Appropriations: Explain the appropriation armounts.  Provide detail, when approptiate, of the elfect

Not applicable

e e ey

ame: Charles Keller/Kathy Roll [Agency: Office of Attorney General o
Phone Number! 378.4482 ~ Date Prepared: 02/21/2001 ]




FISCAL NOTE

Requested by Legislative Council
01/17/2001

Bill/Resolution No.: HB 1306

Amendment {o;

1A. State fiscal effect: /dentify the state fiscal effect and the liscal effect on agency appropriations
compared to funding levels and appropriations anticipated under current law.

1999-2007 Biennium | 2001-2003 Bienn'um | 2003-2005 Blennium |

General Fund | Other Funds |General Fund | Other Funds |General Fund| Other Funds |

Revenues $0 $0 $42,000) $0) $67.00 $0
Expenditures $0) $0) $0) s $ $0
Appropriations $ $0 $ I $ $q

1B. County, city, and school district fiscal effect: Identily the fiscal effect on the appropriate political
subdivision.

1299.2001 Biennium 2001-2003 Biennium A"[ 2003-2005 Biennium
[ School ‘ I School ‘ School
Counties Cities Districts Countles Cities Districts Countles Cities Districts
$0 $0| $0 50 $0| $0[ $0| $0 $

2. Narrative: /dentify the aspects of the measure which cause fiscal impact and include any comments
relevant to your analysis.

The bill would increase the maximum limit of a wager for the game of twenty-once from five dolbars, 1o
twenty-five dolars,
3. State fiscal effect detall: For information shown under state fiscal effect in 1A, please:

A. Revenues: Explain the revenue amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each revenue type
and fund affected and any amounts included in the executive budget.

The bill would increase General Fund revenues sincee the incerease in adjusted gross proceeds (gross
proceeds less prizes) forecast for the game of twenty-one would be subject to the gaming tax.

B. Expendltures: Explain the expenditure amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each
agency, line item, and fund affected and the number of FTE positions affected.

Not applicable

C. Appropriations: Explain the appropriation amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, of the effect
on the biennial appropriation for each agency and fund affected and any amounts includod in the
executive budge!. Indicate the relationship between the amounts shown for expenditures and

appropriations.




Not applicable

Name:

Charles Keller/Kathy Roll

gency: Office of Attorney General i

Phone Numbaer:

328-4482

Date Prepared: 01/29/2001 |




18299.0101 Adopted by the Judiclary Committee } S ) o
Title.0200 February 14, 2001 =2

HOUSE AMENDMENTS TO HB 1306 HOUSE JUDICJARY K 02-15-01
Page 1, line 1, after "53-06.1-10" insert gand subsection 5 o?secllon 5 -08.1-1 1"

Page 1, line 2, after "lwenty-one” inser! "and rent limits"

Page 1, afler line 16, insert;

"SECTION 2. AMENDMENT. Subsection 5 of section 53-06.1-11 of the North
Dakota Century Code is amended and reenacted as follows:

5. For a site where bingo is not the primary game:

a. Iftwenly-one or paddlewheels is conducted, the monthly rent may not
exceed two hundred dollars mulliplied by the necessary number of
tables based on criteria prescribed by gaming rule. For each
twenty-one lable with a wager greater than five dollars, an additional
amount up to one hundred dollars may be added to the monthly rent,
If pull tabs Is also conducted involving a jar bar or dispensing device,
but not both, the monthly rent for pull tabs may not exceed an
additional one hundred seventy-five dollars, I pull tabs is conducted
involving both a jar bar and dispensing device, the monthly rent for
pull tabs may not exceed an additional two hundred dollars.

b. If twenty-one and paddiewheels are not conducted but pull tabs is
conducled involving a jar bar or dispensing device, but not both, the
monthly rent may not exceed two hundred seventy-five dollars. If pull
tabs Is conducted involving both a jar bar and dispensing device, the
monthly rent for pull tabs may not exceed three hundred dollars.”

Renumber accordingly

Page No. 1 18299.0101
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CHR - Duane DeKrey
VICE CHR --Wm E Kretschmar

Rep Curtis E Brekke

Rep Lois Delmore

Rep Rachael Disrud

Rep Bruce Eckre

Rep April Fairfield I
Rep Bette Grande v
Rep G. Jane Gunter

Rep Joyee Kingsbury v
Rep Lawrence R. Klemin d
Rep John Mahoney

Rep Andrew G Maragos
Rep Kenton Onstad

Rep Dwight Wrangham

Total  (Yes) /0 No ..5
Absent /&/
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REPORT OF STANDING COMMITTEE (410) Module No: HR-28-3456

February 15, 2001 8:56 a.m. Carrier: Maragos
Insert LC: 18299.0101 Title: .0200

REPORT OF STANDING COMMITTEE
HB 1306: Judiclary Committee (Rep. DeKrey, Chairman) recommends AMENCIMENTS AS
FOLLOWS and when ~o amended, recommends DO PASS (10 YEAS, 5 NAYS,
0 ABSENT AND NOT \OTING). HB 1306 was placed on the Sixth corder on the

calendar.

Page 1, line 1, after "563-06.1-10" insert "and subsection 5 of section 53-06.1-11"
Page 1, line 2, after "twenty-one" insert "and rent limits"

Page 1 after line 18, insert:

"SECTION 2. AMENDMENT. Subsection 5 of section 5§3-06.1-11 of the North
Dakota Century Code is amended and reenacted as follows:

5. For a site where bingo is not the primary game:

a. If twenty-one or paddlewheels is conducted, the monthly rent may not
exceed two hundred dollars multiplied by the necessary number of
lables based on critena prescribed by gaming rule. For each
twenty-one table with a waqer _grealer than five dollarg, an adgitional
amount up_to one hundred dollars may be added to the monthly rent.
I pull tabs is also conducted involving a jar bar or dispensing device,
but not both, the monthly rent for pull tabs may not exceed an
additional one hundred seventy-five dollars. If pull tabs is conducted
involving both a jar bar and dispensing device, the ronthly rent for
pull tabs may not exceed an additional two hundred dollars.

b. It twenty-one and paddlewheels are not conducted but pull tabs is
conducted involving a jar bar or dispensing device, but not both, the
monthly rent may not exceed two hundred sevenly-five dollars. It pult
tabs Is conducted involving both a jar bar and dispensing device, the
monthly rent for pull tabs may not exceed three hundred dollars."

Renumber accordingly

(2) DEBK, (3) COMM Page No. 1 HR-28-3460
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2001 SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE MINUTES

BILL/RESOLUTION NO, 1306

Senate Judiciary Committee
Q Confecence Commitiee

Hearing Date March 191h, 2001

Tape Number Side A Side B  Meter#t
l X 24.2-end
X 0-30.1

Committee Clerk Signature e

Minutes: Senator Traynor, opened the hearing on HB 1306.

Rep, Hawken, representing district 46, asks for favorable consideration on 1306, Have a
tremendous number of casinos in ND. This gaming hurts our local communitics. This industry
is taxed and helps generate our general revenue, In casinos the Hmit is $100 dollars, This is a
reasonable bill.

Todd Kranda, representing Charitable Gaming Association of ND, testifles in support of HB
1306. 1306 is a simple bill, it increases the wager max. Rent increase is a reasonable amount,
Rent increase coincides with the possible increase of wager. Allows charitable gaming
organizations to continue in ND, The entire state of ND was effecied by the Tribal compacts.
We want to level the playing field with them. (Handout attached regarding HB 1306 and 1305)
We think this is a reasonable amount for gaming going on in ND. Projected tax revenue is going
down significantly.

Senator Trenbeath, how would your organization fell about tracking on the tribal compact,
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Todd Kranda, we thought about adopting the tribul compact. They have more games than we
do, so it wouldn't help much.

Senator Trenbeath, your answer shows my ignorance of guming,

Senator Traynor, are the tribal casinos limited to what they can do?

Todd Kranda, I'm not familiar with how they operate other than the compacts.

Senator Nelson, when they play 21, if you had these tables once & month, are you saying the rent
depends on who you're renting them to?

Todd Kranda, this bill doesn’t give us more games,

Senator Nelson, how do you tax a machine?

Rick Stensa, represents charituble organization, (background attachment). Our industry does a
lot of good in our state. The $25 increment we came up with is reasonable. The last time there
was a change in this was in 1989,

Senator Traynor, what projections do you have of the revenue for charities?

Rick Stensa, refatively small, we are being conservative. This will provide jobs for people.
Senator Nelson, what kind of tips do they get?

Riek Stensa, it depends on the location.

Senator Nelson, how much does the IRS estimate?

Rick Stensa, about 100%.

Senator Watne, the raise for rent is other than bingo sites?

Rick Stensa, that basically disclosed bingo halfs because thiey don’t have black jack tables.

Bill Shalhoub, representing the ND Hospitality Association, testifies for the bill. Negotiated
amount between bar owner and others. Our feeling is a site is worth as much as it is producing,

Only so many sites receive the maximum rent. Wagering on line 9-10. Even at $25 a table, a
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Senate Judiciary Committeo
Bill/Resolution Number 1306
Hearing Date March 19th, 2001

player ¢an bot a dollar amount, At a $250 table the range may be from 5 to 250 dollurs, Players
discration,

Scnator Dovoer, what is the rational of estimates with legislating rent?

Bill Shalhoub, In the late 70°s, busloads would come into Fargo to gamble, Rents are now the
issuo,

Artls Olson, from Draton County, asking to improve the standards of gaming. Asks the
commiftee to support the bill,

Sonator Boereler, do you think the gaming sites that are tribal have brought revenue into ND?
Artis Olson, for the Hotel industry,

Terry Foriege, bringing people from out of state has helped gaming in the towns, It has helped
ND,

Kevin Myer, teamsters organization from Fargo, gives money in scholarships to students and
this will decline, We want to increase our gambling.

Senator Dever, do you know what MN does? Does Moorehead have gambling?

Kevin Myer, no.

Mona Dletrich, executive director of Fort Abraham Lincoln Foundation. We are very pleased
with this bill. The money we generate from gaming helps us out to provide for charity and
maintain our foundation. Helps us operate Fort Lincoln and the surrounding historical native
sites. We need language to have gaming dollars. Our gaming revenues are down 40%. [ don't
see this bill as competing with the Native American Casinos.

Vicky Wagner, secretary for veterans organization, we have seen our gross proceeds decline. It
has had an effect on our charitable organizations. We would like to keep our revenues up.

Governor Link, (testimony aitached), opposes the bill,
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Rick Fosno, from Bismarck, testifios against the bill, (testimony attached)

Warren Dekroy, opposed to the bill, Docesn’t ereate any new wealth, Moves money around.

Recommend a pause in gambling. We hear about the benefits of gambling, We used to solicit
money I‘ann those who can afford it. This is an expansion of gambling. Players will lose. We
are asking people to gamble more,

Rickard Unkenholz, opposed to the bill, What is the message we are sending to our children,
Sophia Prezle, opposes the bill,

Steve Wistoff, opposcd to raising the limit on gambling, Competition will rise. (Testimony
attached on behalf of a Reverend),

Senator Traynor, closed the hearing on HB 1306,

SENATOR WATNE MOTIONED TO DO PASS, SECONDED BY SENATOR DEVER,

VOTE INDICATED 6 YEAS, 0 NAYS AND 0 ABSENT AND NOT VOTING. SENATOR

LYSON VOLUNTEERED TO CARRY THE BILL,




Date: 3/2¢ /o1
Roll Call Vote #: (

2001 SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ROLL CALL VOTES
BILL/RESOLUTION NO. /30¢

Senate _Judiciary Committee

D Subcommittee on
or
Conference Committeo

Législative Council Amendment Number

Action Taken Do Pass

Motion Made By Seconded
[Jathe B D
A y evel

Selstors No Senators
Traynor, J. Chainnan Bercier, D.
Watne, D, Vice Chairman Nelson, C.
Dever, D. '
Lyson, S,
Trenbeath, T,

Total  (Yes)

Absent |

Floor Assignment L%/s oA

If the vote is on an amendment, briefly indicate intent:




REPORT OF STANDING COMMITTEE (410) Module No: 8R-48-6189

March 20, 2001 2:80 p.m. Carrier: Lyaon
Insert LC:. Title:.

REPORT OF STANDING COMMITTEE
HB 1308, as engrossed: Judlolary Committee (Sen. Traynor, Chalrman) recommends DO
PASS (6 YEAS, 0 NAYS, 1 ABSENT AND NOT VOTING). Engrossed HB 1306 was

placed on the Fourteenth order on the calendar.

(2) DESK, (3) COMM Page No. 1 5R-48-6189
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INFORMATION SHEET IN SUPPORT OF
ENGROSSED HB 1305 and HB 1306

Charitable gaming gross proceeds have dectined every year since 1994; a total of $45 to
$50 million In the lust 6 years,

There was $8 million less for charities in 1999 than they recolved in 1993; und
approximately $1 million less in tax revenues.

Expenses have increased, video surveillance has been required, the minimum wage has
Increased $2 per hour, rent and gencral operating oxpenses have increased.

HB1305 and HB 1306 amend the maximum amount that can be wagered on 21 and poker

to $25.

The tast increase in 21 was in 1989 - 12 yc&'lrs ag:).

In comparison the State [ndian Gaming Compacts have a maximum wager limit of $100
with two tables.at $250 for 21,

Since 1994 gross proceeds from the game of 21 have declined $10 million,

FB1305 and HB1306 are pot an expansion of gaming., Both 21 and poker are alrcady
legal games played in our State for wage‘rs much higher than the Bills propose.

Nc; new games of chance are allowed under FIR1305 only various versions of games
already allowed similar to pull tabs and bingo.

HB 1305 and HB1306 will slow the decline in charitable gaming in North Dakota and

slow the decline in revenues given to charities.

HB 1305 passed the House by a vote of 64-34 & HB1306 passed the House by a vote of 63-35

PLEASE VOTE “YE5” IN SUPPORT OF HB 1305 AND HB 1306

3




INFORMATION SHEET IN SUPPORT OF
ENGROSSED HB 1416

° In 2000, 112 charitable organizations (almo:s’t 32%) had uactual expoenses which exceeded
the allowable expense limit set by law,

® HB 1416 increases the amount of ullowable expenses that may be deducted from adjusted
gross proceeds from 50% to 51%,

® If HB1416 is defeated charltable gaming orgunizations many of whom aro traternal and
vetoran's organizations, youth clubs, firemen’s ussdciutions, ete., will bo forced to shut
down which would devastate these charitios,

® \Ifthe'oxpense rate is not increased and if charttable gaming does not sfaw the decline in
gross proceeds charities will be forced to shut down,

‘ L) HDB 1416 passed the House by a vote of 77-21

PLEASE VOTE “YES” IN SUPPORT OF ENGROSSED HB 1416




T he,x&.m,._.,ouatcd Tribal-State Indiun Gaming Compact pmmdas for these
game types and wagefmg limits for alt the mbea '

(rame f;jvg | ".,'-‘
Twc*utymne -
POLL_U’ “4-""',‘,5':

Roulette

Pa&dkwheels

Indian Dice

Electronie gaming devices
Craps '
Sports- bmwks

Sports pocib

Caleurtas-

Pull mbs

Punchboards

Raﬁles

Keno. -

Pan-mutuel zmn* simulcass

? w:m,nm;f Lxmzt

$100, and two tables with lrnits nf QSZSO

550, with hmzt of mm» rafzes per berdng round
850 single bet per spin.of the mulme whesl

550 toral kex per spin of the paddlewhe:*
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OFFICE OF ATTORNEY GENERAL

Gaming Division

Eligible Use Contributions frr the Flscal Year Ended June 30, 2000

Charitable Uses:

Abused

Alcohol and Drug Abuse
Animal Protection
Blind

Cancer

Cystlc Flbrosis
Disabled

Heart Disease
Learning Disabilltles
Mantal Health
Multiple Sclerosis
Needy

Paralysls

Developmentally Disabled Cltizens

Senlor Citizens

Terminaily |l

Wildlife

Youth Activities

Adult Activities

Head Injurles

Home on the Range
March of Dimes

Meals on Wheels

Medical Fadiiities (Nonprofit)
Memeorial Funds

Nureing Homes (Nanprofit)
Ronald McDonald House
Salvation Army

Special Olymplcs

United Fund/United Way
YMCA/YWCA

Volunteer Services
Gambling Addiction

Other
Total

Religious Uses:

Religlous uses
Total

Percant to
Amount Grand Total
$ 64,714 0.31
148,118 0.86
308,446 1.77
14,141 0.08
49,383 0.28
128,667 0.74
1,208,866 6.92
13,822 0.08
3,340 0,02
200,795 1,16
142,726 0.82
112,823 0.86
800 0.00
028,616 6.31
148,124 0.86
30,873 0.18
182,216 1,04
1,089,738 11,38
168,314 0.98
3,420 0.02
33,494 0.19
4,779 0.03
17,381 0.10
110,161 0.63
16,726 0.09
30,226 0.17
7376 0.04
9,600 0.06
371,114 2,12
7,226 0.04
8,860 0.04
17,803 0.10
7,800 0.056
109,028 0.62
$ ~ 6,686,370 37.69

Percent to
Amount Grand Total
234,186 1.34
$ 234185 1.34

[




Bducational Uses;

Uses Benefiting a Dafinite Number of Persons Who are the Victims of Loss of Home or
Huusehuld Possessions Through Explosion, Fire, Flood, or Storm and the losses are

Uncompensated by Insurance:
Uses described above $ 21,436

Agriculture . $ 61,683 0.36
Arts 2,096,841 11.09
Educational Public S8ervices 083,026 661
Safaty 83,007 0.83
Educational Institutions and Activities 716,031 4,10
Preservation of Cultural Herftage . 349,038 2.00
Soholarships 732,882 4,19
Vocational Workshops " 7,666 0.04
Other ) 93,806 0.64
Total $ 8,113,384 29.28
Fratermal Uses:
Camp Grassick . $ 33,100 0.18
Fraternal Foundations 22,272 0.13
Legion Baseball 400,366 2,29
Disabled or Injured Veteran's Assistance - 43,200 0.26
Cther 42,317 0.24
Total ' & 541,343 310
Patriotic Uses:
Scouting Activities and Boyu or Girls State $ 96,874 0.65
Community Bands, Color and Hanor Guards, Flags,
and Patriotio Celebrations 236,044 1.36
Other 60,630 0.29
Total $ 382,448 2,19
Uses for Erectlon or Maintenance of Pubilc Bulldings or Works:
Uses described above ' 146,047 0.83
Total . 3 148,047 0.83
Percent to
Uses Lessening the Burden of Government: Amount Grand Total
Community Emergency Services such as
Ambulance and Fire Departments $ 486877 2.78
_ Disbursements Directly to a City, County,

State, or U.S. Government 350,678 2.01
Improvement of Public Areas 187,718 1.07
Parks and Recreation 1,604,100 9.18
Law Enforcement 18,432 0.11
Other 14116 0.08

Total $ ~ Z,860,720 16.23

0.12

()




. Uses Benefiting a Definite Number of Persons Suffaring froi a Seriously Disabling
Disease or Injury Causing S8evure Loss of income or Incurring Extraordinary Medical

Expense Which Is Uncompensated by Insurance:

Uses described above $ 720,749 4.18
Community Uses:

Economic Development $ 301,447 1.73

Tourlam . 838,801 3.08

Other ‘ 118,880 0.68

Total $ T 1,060,187 8.07

Grand Total $ 17,474,848 100.00




OFFICE OF ATTORNEY GENERAL
Gaming Division

Forecasted Gaming Activity fo"'r the 2001-03 Blennium

(Excludes Pari-mutuel Wagering)
January 16, 2001

Grasa Proceuds Prizes Ad| Gross Proceeds
Bingo ~ Regular $ 89,286,000 $ 68,762,000 $ 20,624,000
Bingo - Disp. Dev. 21,000 17,000 4,000
Raffles 4,630,000 2,130,000 2,600,000
Pull Tabs - Jars 232,614,000 184,724,000 47,890,000
Puil Tabs - Disp. Dev. 101,689,000 79,732,000 21,957,000
Ro4ard Games 1,428,000 1,028,000 400,000
Puirchboards 13,000 9,000 4,000
Sports Pools 229,000 176,000 54,000
Twaenty-one 57,845,000 48,671,000 11,274,000
Calcuttas 233,000 198,000 35,000
Paddlewheels 10,714,000 7,714,000 3,000,000
Poker 4,000 Q 4,000
Totals $ 498,706,000 $ 391,060,000 $ 107,646,000
Add: Interest Earned $ 130,000
Less: ND Exclse Tax 14,470,000
- Federal Excise Tax 269,000
Bingo Sales Tax 5,000,000
Total Adjusted Gross Proceeds $ 88,037,000
tass: Gaming Tax $ 6,260,000
Alloweble Expenseas 51,624,000
Total Expenses $ 657,774,000 '
Net Proceeds $ 30,263,000
Taxes Summary
ND 4.6% Exolse Tax $ 14,470,000
Gaming Tax _...8,260,000
Total $ 20,720,000
Qther Revenue
Monetary Finas $ 27,000
Interest and Penaity 16,000
Gaming Stamps and License and Record Check Fees . ..448.000
Total $ 490,000
Total Taxes and Other Revenue (Excludes Bingo Sales Tax) $.21,210.000

Gross Profit %

23%
19%
54%
21%
22%
28%
31%
24%
19%
16%
28%
100%
22%




Observations on Charitable Gaming Activity and Related Costs

. There has not L«sen any change in the maximum wager allowed at blackjack or to the kind of games
that may be pleyed in the charitsble casinos in many years. The last change to the wager limits went
into effect July 1, 1989. Since tha* time there have been many additional cost burdens placed on
charitable gaming proceeds. The largest of these has been increased taxation. In the year ended
June 6, 1989, the year before this chart begins, gaming tax collections were $1,977,000.

Net Proceods v. Taxes 1990-1999
since adoption of excise tax

I NetProceeds I Tax Colecions

As you can see, the taxes collected from charitable gaming have gone from about $2 million up to
about $14 million per year. Net Proceeds are the monies that go the organizations whose programs an}
services qualify as eligible uses. Today, that amount is almost equal to the revenue the state realizes
from the conduct of charitable gaming. At the end of the last fiscal year, Net proceeds were $15.5
million while tax collections were $13.1 million, only an 8.4% difference. The same has been true for
the last few years. We have become virtual partners in the charitable gaming industry,

Net Proceeds v Taxes 7/95-6/99

$66,010,000 (45.5%)

Tax Collections
$66,062,000 (64.1%)
Net Proceeds

-
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Observations on Charitable Gaming Activity and Related Costs

. As the charts on the preceding page show, taxes definitely have risen. In July 1981 the Gaming Tax
was established to provide funds for the auditing, policing, and controlling of charitable gaming.
That tax was 5% of all proceeds after prizes had been paid to the player.
That tax generated just under $1 million dollars in the first year.

In July 1989 the Excise Tax on pull-tabs was enacted. This is basically a sales tax applied to all gross
sales, before prizes are paid to the players. It began as 1.96% on the gross, which translated to 5.9% of
the proceeds afier prizes. The proceeds afier prizes were also subject to the 5% Gaming Tax already in
place, bringing total tax on pull-tabs to almost 11% of the proceeds after prizes. The Gaming Tax was

also collected on “21” and other games. This year Sales Tax on Bingo began to be reported.

July of 1993 brought an increase in the Excise Tax. The new rate was 4.5% of the gross, before prizes.
This doubling of the tax rate meant that |8.4% of Pull-tab proceeds went into the general fund.
At the end of fiscal 1994, $14.8 million dollars was collected in taxes from charitable gaming.
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MINIMUM WAGE INCREASES

The second biggest cost to our industry is wages. The gaming business is very labor intensive. Dealers,
Jar Operators, Pit Bosses, Count Team Members, Auditors, and Accountants are those who we employ.
The minimum wage in 1989, afier the last wager increase and before the Excise Tax, was $3.15 per hour.
In April of 1990 it went up to $3.80 per hour. In April of 199: it went up again to $4.15 per hour.
The wage was revisited again in 1926 and increased to $4.75 per hour.
. The latest increase came ot September 1, 1997 with the wage going to $5.15 per hour.

The exact cost impact of this is not readily available, but it is hard to imagine that any business or
organization could absorb such an increase without somehow raising revenues. It is also quite likely that
we will see another $1 increase be approved very soon and while it may be a needed change, no gaming
organization is looking forward to any such change.

VIDEO SURVIELLENCE

In 1994 the legislature enacted legislation that required organizations conducting $5 blackjack to put in
video surveillance systems that would record all activity on the tables, This was intended to stop and
deter any cheating on the “21” tables. This capitol investment was not small. The cost for installing

video surveiilance a ‘21" table ran from $3,000 to $4,000 per blackjack table. We were told to that our

revenue would increase as cheating decreased, therefore recouping our investment, This did not happen

and today we have state of the art systems in place that make our table games very secure, but have not
done anything to enhance our revenues. These systems are designed, and of such quality, that they can be
applied te any new applications be they new games or increased wagers, The security is there to be used.

RENT TO LESSORS

Most organizations pay a monthly rent amount to the business that owns the establishment where gaming
is conducted. The rental amounts have been established by statute and have been fairly consistent for the
last ten years. A lessor may receive up to $200 per month for each “21” or Paddlewheel table and $175
per month for the jar bar.. There is additional rent available to those sites where only dispensing devices
. are in play. While the lessor is certainly entitled to rental payments for the value of the space they give to
the gaming operator, rent is still a regular expense, in some cases a substantial expense,
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2)

3)

4)

5)

6)

7)

8)

IN SUPPORT OF HB1305 & HB1306

Comparing 1994 to the years since, there has been a decline in chariiable gaming gross
proceeds each year. The decline has been steadily increasing. 1995 was down 14.5 million,
1996 down 7.7 million, 1997 down 23 million, 1998 down the same 28 million, and 1999

down 43 million from the gross in 1994,

There has been a 35% drop in the net charitable gaming proceeds from 1993 to 1999. This
amounts to almost 8 million dollars less for charities in 1999, This is also a disturbing trend.

The game of “21” has had a decline of 10 million dollars of gross proceeds since 1994,
This is a 23% decrease. The same 23% decrease is seen in the adjusted gross.

This decline, especially in the game of “21" has resulted in a corresponding loss of jobs
throughout the industry.

Gaming Tax collections have also been negatively affected. This amounts to approximately
1 million dollars per year, 4 23.9% decrease.

This IS NOT an expansion of gaming, The games and limits allowed under HB 1305 and
HB1306 are already legal games, in play in our state, for wagers much higher than the bills
propose. This legislation will slow the downward trend in charitable gaming, the only type

of gaming the legislature has supported.

No new games of chance are allowed under these bills. Only various versions of games
aiready allowed under charitable gaming statute would be considered. Pull-tabs and Bingo
are conducted this way today, with many different types of games being played.

Passage of these bills provides only the possibility of game variations currently allowed.
Any such game proposed would need approval of the Gaming Commission, after public
hearing, with input from the Gaming Advisory Board and the Attorney General’s Office, and
with oversight by the Legislative Administrative Rules Committee,

9) Neither of these bills authorizes or allows electronic or video games or a {ottery.




EXCERPTS FROM GAMBLING AND PROBLEM GAMBLING IN NORTH DAKOTA:
A REPLICATION STUDY, 1992 TO 2000

These are results taken directly from the study conducted by Gemini Research, Ltd. and presented
to the Governot on January 15, 2000, The sample for the 1992 study was 1,517 people vs. 5,002
for the 2000 study. This study was done to examine changes in ND Gaming since the 1992 study,

It is important to note that all of the Native American Casinos in ND became operational
afier the completion of the baseline study in 1992,

The percentage of North Dakotans who 1992 result - 12.3%
gamble once per week or more often,; 2000 resuit - 4.3%

Defining the Patterns of Participation
Non-Gamblers who have never participated in any type of gambling (19% of sample)

Infrequent Gamblers who participated in one or more type of gambling,
but not in the past year (11% of sample)

Past Year Gamblers who participated in one or more types of gambling
in the past year but not on a weekly basis (65% of sample)

Weelcly Gamblers who participate in one or more iypes of gambling on
a weekly basis (4% of sample)

Weekly gamblers in ND are significantly more likely to be male, age 30-54, Native American,
divorced or separated and working full-time. Non-gamblers in ND are more likely to be over 65,
widowed, 1atired, and have annual houschold incomes of under $25,000.

‘ Problem gamblers are significantly more likely than non-problem gamblers to smoke daily,
to drink alcohol once a week or more often, and to use marijuana or cocaine on a monthly basis.
They also are more likely to report their problems and to have sought help for abuse problems,

The combined prevalence of problem and pathelogical gambling did not change significantly
in ND between 1992 and 2000, The Lifetime Combined percentage of those in the sample that
gambled showed a 1992 number of 3.5% and a 2000 number of 3.8%. The Current Combined
vercentages showed a 1992 result of 2.0% and a 2000 result of 2.1% of those who gambled,

Definitions:
Problem gambling is a broad term that refers to all of the petterns of gambling behavior that

compromise, disrupt or damage personal, family or vocational pursuits, .
Lifetime Problem gamblers wete 2.5% of the sample in 1992 and 2.0% in 2000
Current Problem gamblers were 1.3% of the sample in 1992 and 0.7% in 2000

Pathological gambling lies at one end of a continuum of problematic gambling involvement,
These gamblers are problem gamblers who are more likely to require professional treatment,

of losses, lies and deception, family and job disruption, financial

ballouts and illegal acts.

Lifetime Probable Pathological gamblers were 1.0% in 1992 and 1.8% in 2000
' Current Probable Pathological gamblers were 0.7% in 1992 and {.4% in 2000

Based on the results of the study, it is estimated that North Dakota should plan to provide problem
gambling treatment services to between 130 and 270 individuals per year.

Pathological gambling is a treatable disorder characterized by loss of control over gambling, chasing




Office of Attorney General
Gaming Division
January 19, 2001
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North Dakota Council on Gambling Problems

Arthur A. Link

‘ Choirman
February 5, 2001

Re: H.B. No. 1306

Chairman Representative Duane DeKrey
and members of the House Judiciary Committee,

My name is Arthur Link, Chairman of the North Dakota Council on
Gambling Problems, which opposes expansion of gambling in North

Dakota.

House Bill No. 1306 would amend Sectiocn 53-06-10 of the North
Dakota Century Code relating to the game of twenty-one under the

games of chance laws.

The present maximum wager limit is five dollars and the amendment
provides a twenty-five dollar maximum limit.

This 400 percent increasse is designed to entice more participants
betting more money in an attempt to achieve greater profits. It
would no longer be recreational or low stakes.

This would break faith with the people of North Dakota who accepted
gambling on condition that wagers would be limited and dosigned for

recreation and charity.

On January 25, 2001, Governor John Hoeven and Carol K. Olson,
Executive Director of the North Dakota Department o¢f Human
Services, released the report on Gambling and Problem Gambling in
North Dakota: a Replication Study, 1992 to 2000. The study shows
a decline in gambling statewide but pathological gambling has risen

since 1992,

I quote from the report: "Pathological gambling ~- the worst form
of problem gambling -~ doubled from 0.7 percent to 1.4 percent of
the population between 1992 and 2000. Pathological gambling is
characterized by loss of control over gambling, chasing of losses,
lies and deception, family and job disruption, finanaidl bailouts

and illegal acts."

We can not ignore this report!

Passage of H.B, 1306 would only add to these problems. Please
stop this proposal to increase gambling and vote NO on H.B. 1306,

Thank you,

Lt & sk

Arthur A, Link
Chairman




February 5, 2001 House Bill 1305 & 1306

Chairman DeKrey and Members of the House Judiciary Committee:

Gambling is a camel that got its nose under the tent over 20 years ago in North
Dakota. And ever since has worked its way into the tent more and more. [t started as
help for charitics. But more than help for charities it was an etfort by some to introduce
gambling for gambling sake. We as a state have become addicted to gambling. [ have
provided a chart of the progress of gambling addiction. One of the factors is tolerance
(Needs to gamble with increasing amounts of money in order to achieve the desired
excitement),

House Bill No. 1305 and House Bill No. 1306 are evidence of our addiction. If
these betting limits arc approved the next step is sure 10 come in the next session to raise
them even more. It's time to say NO to increases in bet limits and gambling in gencral.
The recently released study of gambling has shown that problem gambling has doubled in
the last 8 years and among the lower income groups in our state it has grown even more
than double. There are big scandals that we could point to and there are many little ones
going on in homes, in businesses, and schools, yes tean-age gambling is real, because of
gambling, all across our state.

| helped pull together statements on gambling from many religious groups in our
state. The attached statement from the North Dakota Conference of Churches is the
result of that work. We are a religiously diverse society but not on gambling. We all
agree on the destructive nature of gambling in our society. The increases asked for in
these bills, HB1305 & HB 1306, go against the grain of all the religious groups in the
State of North Dakota. Up to a few years ago the Catholic Church gave its blessing to
some forms of gambling if it was done in moderation but now they have joined in
opposing the expansion of gambling that is going on in our state. We are not talking
about religious radicals here. These concerns are coming from the main stream, We sce
the problems when they happen. Society wants to cover them up. The gamblers are the
best at denial. The cancer is here and it wants to grow. You can stop some of that
growth by rejecting these increases, by saying a toua NO to these bills. Your job is to act
in the common good. These bills may be guod for a few but are not in the interest of the
common good. That's is why I see the religious groups united on this issue.

Dr. Valerie Lorenz, Executive Director of Compulsive Gambling Center,
Baltimore, Maryland, one of the leading experts on the effects of gambling said, "If
together we can prevent the expansion of gambling, then we will be able to prevent the
expansion of gambling addiction, and that betefits all of us."

Your vote is very important in stopping the growth of gambling addiction. 1 ask
that you vote no on both of these bills. Thank you,

Rev. Warren Wenzel, Fairmount, North Dakota




THE CLARION-LEDGER W JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI

Gambling called
most compelling
issue facing U.S.

B Head of federal
commission chastises
public for disinterest

The Aseoclated Press

Some people wrongly
downplay gambling as a
minor {ssue amid other
American troubles like
crime and homelessnnss,
tha head of a federal com-~
mission on the subject said
Friday.

Kay Cole James of Rich-
mond, Va., who has headed
the National Gambling
Impact Study Commission
for the past two years, told
an anti-gaming group
meeting in Jackson to gen-
erate public debate on the
inipact of casinos and lot-

" teries,

“This {s the most com-
pelling public policy issue
in America today,” she told
the Natjonal Coalition
Against Legalized Gam-
bling.

James said the commis-
sion focused on soclal and
economlic implications of
gambling., She said reli.
glous leaders now have the
responsibility of address.
ing the moral implications.

he federal commission
created in 1996, concluded
two years of work in June
after holding 280 hours of
hearings, James said then

that legal
botting
created
thousands
of jobs but
w a 8
accompa-
nied by
troubling
conge-
quences,

The commission's report
has been submitted to Con.
gress, the White House,
state governors and tribal
leaders.

Among recommenda-
tions were a nationwide
minimum age of 21 to place
bets, a ban on collegiate
aports betting, restrictions
on campaign donations by
the gambling industry, and
the consideration of a
moratorium on further
expansion of gambling.

On Friday, James
blamed %ambling expan-
sion on the lack of citizen
opposition.

“Our very freedom Ia at
stake,” she said. “Not only
can lives be destroyed. You
can destroy an entire
nation,”

Mississippl has 30 casl-
nos, including the ona at
the Choctaw Indian reser-
vation near Philadelphia.

Thern have been no seri-
ous discusaions at the atate
Capitol of banning new ones.

roo

) 4

James

SATURDAY, SEPTEMBER 26, 1999




BLEM AND
LOGICAL

M 86% ol Americans
report having gambled at
least orice in their lives,?
(p. 1-1)

® In 1998, people gam-
bling tn the U.S. lost

$50 billion in legal
gambling.! (p. 1.2)

® Problem and pathologi-
cal ;. \mbling affects not
only "¢ gambler and his
or her family but also
broader society. Such costs
include unemployment
benelits, welfare benelits,
physical and mental health
problems, theft, embezzle-
ment, bankruptey, suicide,
domestic violence, and
child abuse and neglect.!
(p. 16)

o Problem and pathologj-

cal gamblers account lor
-30% of all gambling
enues.’ (pp. 4. 15,16)

® Problem ar | patholog)-
cal gambling estimates in
17 states where surveys
have been conducted
range from 1.7% all the
way up 1 7.3% of U.S.
adults. The malority of
surveys place the average
in the range of 5.5% or 11
million pathological and
problem gamblers

in the U.5. (p. 4-5)

® Th- National Research
Council estimates that as
many 1.1 million adoles-
cents between the ages of
12 and 18 exhibited
pathological gambling
problems In the past year.!
(p. 4-12)

a The National Opinion
Research Center estimates
that the anfiual average
costs of job loss, unem-
ployment benefits, wellare
beneflts, poor physical
and mental kealth, and
gambling treatment is
approximately $1,200 per

pathological gambler and
$715 per problem gam.
bler. They estimate that
ifetime costs (bankruptcy,
arrests, imprisonment,
legal lees for divorce, and
so forth) are $10,550 per
pathological gambler and
$5,130 per problem gam-
bler. The unhual aggregate
costs caused by these fac-
tors Is estimated (o be
approximately $5 billlon,
in addition to $40 billion
in estimated lifetlme costs.
These estlmates do not
include the financial costs
of any gambling-related

incltences of theft, embez-

zlement, sulcide, domestic
violence, child abuse and
neglect, and the non-legal
costs of divorce.? (p. 4-14)

a in a survey of 1,100
people [n rescue missions
across the U.S., 18% cited
gambling as a cause of
thelt homelessness.!

(p. 7-27

CRITERIA FOR PATHOLOGICAL GAMBLING .

GAMBLING ACYIVITY OF THOSE
MORALLY OPPOSED TO GAMBLIMG
. Gambled in past year 79%
[::] Gambled, not In past year
[:, Never gambled
56%
29%
15% 17%
4%
]
Sirongly Opposed  Somewhict Opposed

Source: Minneseota Stale { oftery, as printed in
Beyond the Odds, a quarterly publication of the
Gambling Problems Resource Center, June 1999

oy

AR

m Pathological gamblers
have higher arrest and
imprisonment rates than
non-pathologieal gamblers.
A third of problem and

Preoccupation Is preoccupled with gambling (e.g,, preoccupled with rellving past gambling
experiences, handicaﬁplng or planning the next venture, or thinking of ways
to get money with which to gamble

Tolerance Needs to gamble with increasing amounts of money {n order (o achieve the
desired excitement

Withdrawal Is restless or frritable when attempting to cut down or stop gambling

Escape Gambiles as a way of escaping frotn problems ot relieving dysphotic mood
(e.g., feelings of helplessness, guilt, anxiety, or depression)

Chasing After losing money gambling, often returns another day in order to get even
(“chasing ones losses")

Lying Lies to family members, therapists, or others to conceal the extent of
{nvolvement with gembling

Loss of control Has made repeated unsuccessful efforts to control, cut back, or stop gambling

llegal acts Has committed lllegal acts (e.g,, forgery, {raud, thelt, or embezzlement) in
order to finance gambling

Risked significant  Has jeopardized or lost a significant relationship, job, or educational

relationship or career opportunity because of gambling

Balfout Has velied on others to provide money Lo relieve a desperate financial

situation caused by gambling

Source! Neloaal Opinlon Research Cemier & e University of Chicago
Gambling lspact and Behavior Study. Report 10 the National Gambsling lmpact Study Comasisalon. Apel) 1, 1999, Table 1, p. 6.

0000000 MMl Conuniasion, June 1999

, Gemind Research, snd The Lewin Group.

pathological gamblers have
been arrested, compared to
10% of low-tisk gamblers
and 4% of non-gamblets.
About 23% of pathological
gamblers and §39% of
problem gamblers have
been imprisoncd.! (p 744)

w0 According to Tom Cuales,
Director of Consumer Cre-
dit Counseling Services in
Des Molnes, fowa, It the
late 19803, 2.3% of the
people seeking counseling
had gambling.related credit
problems. Today, approx-
mately 15% of counseling
goes to individuals with
gambling aurtbuted to the
core of thelr credit prob-
lems.? (p. 7-1%)

@ A National Opinion
Survey Cominission re-
potted 19.2% of patholog-
ieal gambless reported fil-
(ng bankruptey! (p. 7-16)

m Las Vegas has the high-
est resident sulcide rate in
the nation.! (p 7.26

| Executive Summary, The
National Gambling Impact
Study Commission, June 1999
1 Pinal Report, The National
Gambling tapsct Study




THE B'.of DISCIPLINE of the U M C 1992

G) Gambling. —Cambling is a menace to society, deadiy to the best
interests of moral, social, economic. and spiritual life, and destructive
of good govemment. As an act of faith and love, Christians should
abstain from gambling, and should strive to minister to those victim-
ized by the practice. Where gambling has become addictive, the
Church will encourage such individuals to receive therapeutic assis-
tance so that the individual’s energies may be redirected into positive
and constructive ends. Community stardards and personal life styles
should be such as would make unnecessary and undesirable the
resort to commercal gambling, including public lotteries, as a recre-
atich, as an escape, or as a2 means of producing public revenue or
funds for support of charities or government.

Sex Social Principles. ¥ 73.G. "UMC Position on Gambhng. ™
The United Methodist Church’s Positicn on Gambling

Whaezeas, the Sodal Prindples state in part: “Gambling is a menace
to society, deadly to the best interests of moral, socal, economic, and
spiritual kfe, and destructive of good government. As an act of faith
and love, Christians should abstain frcm gambling. . . . Community
standards and personal hfe styles should be such as would make
unnecessary and undesirable the resort to commercial gambling,
incdluding pubiic lotteries, as a recreation, as an escape, or as a means
of producing public revenue or funds for support of charnties or
government”; and

Weuereas, the number of organizations and govermments using
lotteries, raffles, and bingo as a revenue resource has dramatically
increased recently; and

Wiseeas, high-stakes gambling has led to tragedy and the
disruption of community life; and

Whereas, raffles and other types of gambling methods are used in
some United Methodist Churches; and

Wicreas, many other Christian denominations rely heavily upon
the proceeds from raffles, lotteries, and other gambling devices as
means of fund raising;

Be it tiwrefore resofeed, that The United Methodist Church reaffirm its
position on gambling: and

Be it further resolocd, that the appropnate general agencies continue
to provide matenal to the local churches for study and action: to
combat gambling and aid persons addicted to gambling.

THE BOOK of RESOLUTIONS of the U M C 1992
pages 412-414

NORTH DAKOTA CONFERENCE OF CHURCHES

227 Wt Broadway, #1 = Bomarck, North Dakowx 58501 » (T01) 255-0e04

STATERMENT ON GAMBLING

Iz rthe cousse of human l:fe, each mndivadual faces normal —isk-Tiking
si1Tuations, OppcrTunilies .o make prudeni Investments, and other ordinaly
chorces ot a reqular basis. ke whderstand gambi:ing to be wvery different
from these  exper:iences. North Dakara legalited small stakes,
onfertdiment gampling n 1977 and now has large casincs, blacklack,
pull-tabs, bingo and other forms of gambling. In 1992, the amomt of
onew spent on Gampling was $23% mezllron. Thes spread of Gambling in
our sState s alarmag o the member curches of e NorTh Dakota
Conference of Chuxches.

The North Cakota Conference of Chuwrches opposes Gampling and further
legal:zation of Gamcl:ng in the state for ow follow:ng easans:

- Gmeling undermines the work ethic on which our state 1s founded.
The work ethi:c suggests that all should contrilxte to the welfare of
society o Che degree hey are able, and be revaded i accordance with
thelr g2fts or needs.

= Gampling has no long term ecarxmic benef:f and creates no new wealth
for our state anc commmiies. Money spent on gambling is money that
ould be spent n other ways {and thersfore taxed through normal
channels,} or 1nvested it other segments of the econamy Qo Create more
value.-

- Gambl:ng promotas the untruth that an individual can "get something
for noth:ing,” and do so at the expense of a ne:chbor. Therefore, gasmtling
has a cormupting effect on personal character and coammumity spirit as
1t Tazses false hopes 1a the face of real nexds.

bd State spoocsared Gambling for the purpose »f ralsing revenue for
govermmental operafions 1s a regress:ve tax. It has been proven to be
a larger tax cn the poor than on those most able to pay the tax. It
is a tax hased on the weaknesses of the pecple. The state itself becomes
a victim. The state becume dependent on gamb.ing and sust begin promoting
QAmblinGg among 1Ts CitiTens.

* Gapbling costs our sociely move Thar it generates. Family problems,
oken lives, financial czses and other uman tragedies are a by-procduct
of the abuse of gambling.

Hiving considered all of the evidence l:sted above, it 1S cur cons:dered
judgment that the Gambling 1ndustry 1is not in tne best interest of the
Stare cf North Dakcra.

February, 1995

Al BE K L3 OMIATIINY. - et o7 a8t L o "o o o Nt Crmtios = &, Sst ™ 20 Boovinrn iz Sian Arvs ® Crvte™ 00 Codt 020, & Lorm a0 s o > O
P R Y W P S TR Tl st e o Do WD Vet = AW iah C Rt e A o R Perng e & BBt TN L S A Py
O TR NI P a, = Dima e T P 1 T 4 Npaett * st C ot L st & Btsoe n Doon e Frrgo Do S A (i m e (M =D {omevemer & Lnime
e Crsa . W3 Cemsrrmsr

VDS LATE MEMBLEY - A * iy e = RIS @ LNt M Vet et = G Py i @ Ty ¢ Tme s e Karge o e Codege = L atear
N1 S ot B Doars @ & Myt o My = e Db LB - 43 Vi st ® L e A et P olamiAg The vmpgs e, i (e




Gambling Tnformation IT

National
- Coalition

- AGAINST
.Legalized

'h rOm ACT
-, 'NUALG

Page 1 0F2

e

THE CASE AGAINSY LEGALIZED
GAMBLING

Gambling costs far more than it benefits. Studies show that
for every doliar gambling produces for & regional
economy, three dollars are lost beeause of the economie
and social costs of gambling. When government legalizes
more gambling, tuxpayers lose -~ whether they gamble or
not.

Cambling cannibalizes local businegses. A hundred doblars
spent in & stot machine is a hundred dollass that is not
spent n a local restaurant, theater or retail store. As
Donald Trump told the Miami Herald, "People will spend a
tremendons amount of money in cusinos, money that they
would normally spend on buying a refrigerator or a new
¢ar, Local businesses will sufler bacause they'll lose
customer dollars to the ¢asinos.”

Gambling Tuggefs addiction, The more legalized gambling
available, the more addictive behavior is triggered. In
1989, only 1.7% of lowa's adults were gambling addicts,
but after riverboat casinos were lealizad, the rate of
addiction more than tripled to 5.4%. The Flotida Office of
Planning and Budgeting conducted a study which
concluded that the costs to government of gambling
addiction far outweighed all revenuey that might be
generated by casino gambling,

Gambling addiotion hag ngmth.
Tie«carcﬁors now call gambling the fastest-growing teenage
addiction, with the rate of pathologleal gambling among
high school and college-age youth about twice that of
adults. According to Dr, Howard Shatfer, Director of the
Harvard Medjcal School Conter for Addiction Studies,
"Today, there arc more children cxperiencing adverse
symptoms from gambling thun from drugs...and the

problem 5 growing."

CGambling attracts orime, A comprehensive report by the

http://wwav.ncalg.org/pages/case.hitm 02/08/2001
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Attorney General of Maryland concludes, "Casinos would
bring a4 substantial increase in crime to our Stato, There
would be more violent erime, more ¢rimes against
property, more insurance fraud, more white collur ¢rime,
more juvenile crime, more drug and alcohol-related crime,
more domestic violence and chiki abuse, and more
organized crime.”

@%‘&&W@ The poorest citizens spend
the Targest percentage of their incomes on gambling, Those
who can afford it the least gamble the most. Both public
and private gambling businesses target advertising dircetly
ar the weakest individuals in socisty because they are
gambling's best customers,

Gambling presents & bad example to our children,
Gambling promotes The deu that ludk, not education and
hard work, 1 the key to success, Gambling produces no
wealth for society, and suggests that productivity is not
important, Gambling scts up artificial risks and glorifies
individualy who tuke the biggest, most foolish risks,

Gambling corrupts govermment, So nwch money is at
stake, and pambling companier ure so dependent on
governmental decisions for a plece of those profits, that
corruption is incvitable, Wherever gambling has gone,
bribery, extortion and payoffs have followed.

National Coulition Against Legalized Gambling
110 Marylund Avenue, NLE,
Washington, D.C, 20002

Far information on NCALQ, please send e-mail (o
ncalg@nealg.org, or phone our National Information
Center at , 800-664.2680. Our address is 831 South King
St., Suite E, Lessburg, VA 20175, Out FAX number is
('703) 443.2315.

. http://www.malg.org/pagcs/cnse.htm 02/08/2001 ’




industry."

Govenor Parris N, Glendening, Maryland

"L.resist the temptation of so-called easy moncy" dangicd by the gambling

" ..My futher taught me that hard work and a gocd education are the koys to

sucoess in Hie, In Maryland, we are doing everything in our power to instill that same
philosophy in our children and give them the right start. But what example do we set tor
children if as policy makery we were to turn o the "easy money” that gambling lobbyists
promisc? What valuos would we teach if, despite knowing that expanded gambting
brings ittcreased crime and other social problems, we willingly ¢hase the "easy money."

August 1997 Natlonal Gambling Impact Study Commission public hearing,
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March 19, 2001 House Bllls 1305 & 1306

Chalrman Traynor and members of the Senate Judiclary Committeo:

Gambling Is « camel that got Its nose under the tent over 25 years ago in North
Dakota. And over since hag worked its way in more and moro. More than belp for
charities it s driven by gambling for gamnbling sake. We a5 a state have become addioted
to iambling. One of the factors of prmbling addiction is tolerance or the need to gamble
with lnoreasing amounts of monsy in order to achieve the dosired excitemeut.

House Bfll No, 1305 and House Bill No. 1306 are evidence of our addiction, If
these betting limits are approved the next step s sure to come to ruise them even more. 1
ask you to say NO to increases In bet limlts. T sk you ta say NO to the deleting of the
two occusions per year limit In Fouse Blll No. 1305, This will allow licensed
organizations to become full time casinos.

The recontly released study of gambling problems in North Dakota his shown that

{:oblcm gambling hos doubled in the last 8 years. And among the lowet in¢ome groups

our state it has grown even mote than double, It Is the tnture of gamblers to deny the
problems and glamorize the games. What addiction counselors know all to well is that
gambling oreates a drcam workl, Your job s to deal with reality. Reality is that the
canoer is here and t wants to grow, You oan stop some of thut growth by rejectimg these
inoreases, by saying No to these cfforts to expand gambling, These bills do not setve the
common good. _

Dr. Valerie Lorenz, Executive director of Compulsive Gambling Center,
Baltimore, Maryland, one of the leading experts on the exfects of gambling sald, “If
together we can provent the expansion of gambling, then we wiil bo able to prevent the
oxpansion of gurabling addiction, and that benefits all of us,” The majority of North
Dgkota pcople have consistently said NO at the ballet box. Religious groups in North
Dakota are all united in thelr opposition the any gambling expansion. Gambling
connibalizes local businesses, attracts crime, victimizes the poor, prescats a bad example
10 our children and corrupts government, Gambling advertising dollars also undermines
the ability of the media In our communities to tell th: truth about gambling.

These bills nre bad news for North Dakota, Stop the growth of gambling and
gambling addiction by voting NO on both of these bills, Thank You.

Rev, Warren Wenze! 7 /
Fairmount, North Dakota %W % W/




North Dakota Council on Gambling Problems:

Arthur A, Link
Chairman

March 19, 2001
RE: HB #1306

Senator Jack Trayner, Chairman
and Members of the Senate Judiciary Committee,

My name is Arthur Link, Chairman of the North Dakota Council on
Gambling Problems, which opposes expansion of Gambling in North

Dakota.

House Bill 1306 would raise the wager limit from five dollars to
twanty-£five dollars on the game of Twenty-one.

This 500 percent increase is designed to entice more participants
betting more money in an attempt to achieve greater profits. It
would no longer be low stakes recreational gambling.

On January 25, 2001, Governor John Hoevan and Carol K. 0Olson,
Executive Director of the North Dakota Department of Human Services
released the report on Gambling and Gambling Problems in North
Dakota. I quote from the report:"Pathological gambling-the worst
form of problem gambling--doubled from 0.7 percent to 1.4 percent
of the population between 1992 and 2000, Pathological gambling is
characterized by loss of control over gambling, chasing of losses,
lies and deception, family and job disruption, financial bailouts

and illegal acts."

December 6, 2000 Bismarck Tribune prints '"United Way survey
identifies needs". One paragraph reads: "After transportation,
community leaders listed the community's top problems to be needs
for affordable child care and gambling intervention."

March 7, 2001, Bismarck Tribune under the headline "Gambling
addicts appeal to lawmakers for moxre funding to pay for treatment."

When are we going to admit to gambling problems? 1Is ¢ur answer
going to be: "Give them more gambling?" If you pass H.B.1306 that
is exacty what you will be doing.

You have the opportunity to say North Dakota has enough gambling.
We respectfully ask you to vote NO on House Bill 1306.
Cluter &R

Arthur A. Link
Chairman




GAMBLING AND PROBLEM GAMBLING IN
NORTH DAKOTA: A REPLICATION STUDY, 1992 TO 2000

Report to the North Dakota Office of the Governor

" Rachel A, Volberg, Ph.D.
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P.O, Box628
Northampton, MA 01060
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Executive Summary

This report presents the findings of a state-wide survey of gambling participation and gambling-
related problems In North Dakota. This study Is a replication of a baseline study that was carried
out In North Dakota in 1992, The main purpose of this study was to examine changes in the
prevalence of gambling and problem gambiing in the adult population in North Dakota between
1902 and 2000. An additional purpose of this siudy was to identify the types of gambling causing
the greatest difficulties for the ckizens of Norih Dekota. The results of this study will be useful in
documenting the Impacts of legal gambling on the ckizens of North Dakota and in refining the
services available to individuals in North Dakota with gambling-related difficuities.

Problem gambling Is a broad term that refers to all of the pattems of gambling behavior that
compromise, disrupt or damage personal, famlly or vocational pursuits. Pathological gambling
lies at one end of a continuum of problematic gambling Involvement, Pathological gambling is a
ireatable disorder characterized by loss of control over garnbling, chasing of losses, lles and
deception, family and job disruption, financial ballouts and lilegal acts.

Methods

The present study Is a replication, or repetition, of a survey carrled out In North Dakota In 1892,
Like the earlier survey, the 2000 survey was completed in three stages. These included
developing the questionnaire and sampling frame, collecting the data, and, finaliy, analyzing the
data and Interpreting the findings. Gemini Research, Lid. was responsible for managing the
project, drafting the questionnalre and designing the sampling frame, analyzing the data and
drafiing this report. Data collection was carried out by the Soclal Sclence Research institute at

the University of North Dakota, Grand Forks.

The sampling strategy for this study was designed to compensate for the relatively rare
occurrence of problem gambling In the general population and Is known as a “two-phase
probability sample.” The first phase Involved identifying approxdmately 5,000 residentlal
households with telephones In North Dakota and selecting one eligible aduit In each household to
respond to a brief screening Interview. The second phase involved selecting a stratified random
group of 1,60% respondents from the first phase for a lengthler interview, The compietion rate of
71% was excellent and the sample Is representative of the adult population of North Dakota.

Gambling in North Dakota

+ Thetypes of gambling that North Dakotans are most |ikely to have ever iried and to have
tried In the past year are charitable games, gaming machines, pulltabs, lottery games and live
bingo. The types of gambiing that North Dakolans are most likely to engage In on a monthly
basis are charitable games, pulitabs, live bingo, lottery games and blackjack. Oniy 4% of the
aduit North Dakota population gambles once a week or more oiten,

+ Non-gamblers in North Dakota are more likely than gamblers to be over the age of 65,
widowed, and retired, Non-gamblers in North Dakota are also more likely to have annual

houselold incomes under $25,000.

o Weekly gamblers in North Dakota are more likely than non-gamblers and less frequent
gamblers to be male, aged 35 to 54, Native American, and to reside in the northwest (NW)
region of the State, Weekly gamblers in North Dakota are also more likely to be divorced of
separated, to be either working fulltime or to be disabled or unempioyad, and to have annual
household incomes between $20,000 and $25,000.

Gambling and Problem Gambling in North Dakota




Problem Gambling in North Dakota

Two different screens were used 10 kdentify problem and pathological gambiers in North
Dakota. The South Oaks Gambling Screen (SOGS) is the same screen used in the eartler
North Dakota gambling survey in 1992, The NODS is the problem gambiing screen
developed for use in the recent L.8, national gambling survey and Is based on the most
recent psychiatrio criteria for pathological gambiing.

Based on the SOGS, the combined lifetime prevalencs of problem and pathological gambiling
In North Dakota is 3.8% and the combined past year prevalsnce Is 2.1%.,

Past year problem gambling prevalence rates in North Dakota are highest among adulls aged
18 to 24 and among Native Americans.

Past year problem gambling prevalence rates in North Dakota are highest among individuals
who gamble wirekly or more often and among past year horse race bettors, among past year
players of casino table games such as rouletie or keno, and among past year players of

blackjack and other card games.

Comparing Non-Problem and Problem Gamblers in North Dakota

Comparing problem and non-problem gamblers in North Dakota, we find that problem
gamblers are significantly more likely than non-problem gamblers to be male, aged 30 to 34,
Natiye American, widowed, divorced or separated, to have less than a high school education,
to be disabled or unemployed, and to have annual household incomes between $20,000 and

$25,000,

Problem gamblers in North Dakota are significantly more likely than non-problem gamblers to
have gambled on pulltabs, blackjack, non-card casino table games, horse races and poker in
the past year. Problem gamblers are significantly more likely than non-problem gambilers to
gambie on blackjack, pulitabs and gaming machines on a monthly basis.

Problem gambliers in North Dakota are significantly more likely than non-problem gamblers to
have been troubled in the past year by the gambiing of sumeone they live with, to have
engaged in physical arguments about their own or another's gambling, to have filed for
bankruptcy In the past year, and to have been arrested.

Problem gambters in North Dakota are significantly more fikely than non-problem gamblers to
smoke dally, to drink alcohol once a week or more often, and to use marjuana or cocaine on
a monthiy basis. Problem gamblers in North Dakota are significantly more likely than non-
problem gamblers to report experiencing problems due to their use of alcohol and drugs and
to have sought help for an emotional or substance abuse problem. Finally, problem gambiers
In North Dakota are significantly more likely than non-problem gamblers to have experienced
episodes of mania or depression in their lifetimes,

Comparing the Baseline and Replication Surveys in North Dakota

*

To compare the resuits of the present survey with those from 1992, we combined responses
to questions in 1992 about gambling on instant lottery games with those involving other
lottery garnes; we combined responses to questions about gambling on video lottery
terminals (VLTs) with those involving other slot machines; finally, we comh!ned responses {0
questions about gambling on sports with friends and family with tnose telaling 1o JAMbNg on

sports with a bookmaker.,

Gambiing and Problem Gambling (n North Dakote



o Thasample In 1602 (N=1,517) was substantially smaller than the sample in 2000 (N=8,002).
Furthermore, the sample in 2000 contains significantly more young males and Native
Amerkans—groups that are often difficull to recrult for surveys of all kinds,

o In spie of the Incluslon of more young males (tradkionally the heaviest gambiers in the
general population), gambling paricipation dropped significantly in North Dakota between
1992 and 2000, The proportion of the adult population in North Dakota that gambles once a
week or more often declined from 12% 10 4%,

¢« \While gambling particlpation in general has declined, iifetime participation rates have
increased significantly for gaming machines and lottery products. Similarly, past yea:
participation rates have increased significantly for gaming machines, lottery products and

casino table games such as roulette and keno.

+ The combined prevalence of pro*iem and pathological gambling «id not change significantly
in (North Dakota between 1992 and 2000, However, the prevaience of both lifetime and past
year pathological gambling (the most severe category) has Increased significantly, This
suggests that problem gamblers in North Dakota are experiencing more severe problems and

may be In greater need of services,

¢ Problem gamblers in North Dakota in 2000 are significantly more likely than those In-199§ o
be male, to be Native American and to be widowed, Problem gambiers in North Dakota in

2000 are significantly less likely than those in 1992 to be married.

Directions for the Future

The impacts of problem gambling-can be high, families and communities as well as for individuals.
Pathological gamblers experience physical and psychological stress and exhibit substantial rates of
depression, aicohol and drug dependence and suicidal ideation. The familles of pathological
gamblers experience physical and psychological abuse as well as harassment and threats from bill
collectors and creditors. Other significant Impacts Include costs to employers, crediors, nsurance
companies, social service agencies and the civil and criminal justice systems.

Given the significant increase In the pravalence of the most severe category of problem gambling in
North Dakota, state legislators and other concerned parties may wish to consider a range of
ameliorative measures. These include exending health insurance coverage to cover problem
gambling treatment, fostering responsible gambling policies and programs by the gambling
industrles and developing government-industry initiatives to address this issue, expanding training
opportunities for treatment professionals, establishing a gambling counselor certification program,
increasing funding 1o the North Dakota Department of Human Services to support Increased public
education and prevention services as well as prablem gambling treatment, and continued
monitoring of gambling and problem gambling prevalence to assess the impacts of fegal gambling

on the residents of North Dakota,
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INTRODUCTION

Since the rise of the ‘third wave’ of legal gambling in the Untied States in the 16608 (Rose,
1088), the avalabllity of gambling has grown tenfold. Today, u person can make a legal wager of
some sort in every state except Utah, Tennessee, and Hawall; 37 states have lotieries. 28 states
have casinos and 22 states have off-track betting (National Gambling impact Study Commission,
1999). Just as telling as the expansion of gambling into new jurisdictions Is the growth of the
gambling Industries. Between 1975 and 1997, revenies from legal wagering in the United States
grew by nearfy 1,600% from $3 billion to $81 billion while gambling expenditures more than
doubled a8 a percentage of personal income, from 0.30 percent in 1974 to 0.74 In 1997
(Christlansen, 1968; Kallick, Sults, Dieiman & Hybels, 1878),

In the 1970s and 1980s, gambling legaltzation proceeded with Itle consideration of the potentiaily
hamful impacts that gambling can have on individuals, families and communities. In the 1860s,
however, prevalence surveys have become an essential component in the establishment and
monkoring of legal gambling In the Unkied States and intemationaily (Abbott & Volberg, 2000;
Bondolfi, Osiak & Ferrero, 2000; Gersteln, Volberg, Harwood, Christiansen et al, 1989;
Productivity Commission, 1899; Rdnnberg, Volberg, Abbott, Munck et al, 1999; Shaffer, Hall &
Vander Bilt, 1999; Sproston, Erens & Orford, 2000; Volberg, 10€8). '

The main purpose of this study, funded by the North Dakota Office of the Governor, the North
Dakota Indlan Gaming Association, and the North Dakota Councll on Problem Gambling, is to
examine changes In gambling participation and the prevalence of gambling-related problems in
North Dakota between 1992 and 2000. An additional purpose of this study is to identify the types of
gambling causing the greatest difficulties for the cRizens of North Dakota, The results of this study
wil be useful in documenting the impacts of lega! gambling on the citizens of North Dakota and in
refining the services avallable to Iindividuals in North Dakota with gambling-related difficuities.

This report is organized Into several sections for clarity of presentation. The Infroduction Includes a
definition of the terms used in the report while the Methods sectiont addresses the details of
conducting the survey, The nex four sections present findings from the survey In the following

areas.

o gambling in North Dakota in 2000;

e prevalence of problem gambling In North Dakota in 2000;

¢ comparing non-problem 4nd problem gamblers in North Dakota in 2000; and

« comparing the baseline and replication surveys in North Dakota.

Background

in 1992, when the first survey of gambling and problem gambling was carried out in North Dakota
(Volberg & Silver, 1993), there wera already substantial legal gambling opportunities avallable to
the state's citizens. Although there was no state loltery operating in North Dakota, charitable
organizations were permitted to offer live bingo, pulltabs, blackjack and poker games, and off-
track wagering on horse races In bars, restaurants, lounges and fratemal organizations

throughout the state. \

in the wake of the Indian Gaming Regulatory Act of 1088, several Native American tribes in North
Dakota established compacts with the state government to operate casinos on ther reservations.
All of these casinos became operational after the completion of the baseline problem gambiing
prevalerce survey in North Dakota, Th--3 are presantly five Native Ameiican casinos opesating
in North Dakota. All of these casinos ais authorized to run craps and roulette, card games
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including blackjack and poker, and siot machines, Tribal casinos are also permitted to offer park
. mutuel and simulcast wanering on horse races taking place both In and outside of Nurth Dakota.

Thers have also been substantial increases In legal gambling opportunities throughout the ragion.
To the north, the Canadlan provinces of Saskatchewan and Manttoba offer North Dakota
residents 4 range of gambling opportunities, including charflable casinos, large-scale bingo halls,
and a complete range of lottery products, including sports, bingo and keno games. To the south,

., video poker machines owned by the South Dakota Lottery are widely avallable al bars, taverns
and restauiants as well as at Native American tribal casinos operating across the border from
North Dakota. To the west, Montana offers video gaming machines similar to those in South
Dakota as well as parl-mutuel and charitable wagering. Finally, to the east, Minnesota Is home to
a malure state (ottery as well as numerous Native American casinos,

Problem Gambling Services in North Dakota

- Services for problem gamblers in North Dakota consist, for the most part, of meetings of the self-
help fellowship, Gamblers Anonymous, and a few professional treatment providers, Gamblers
Anonymous chapters meet regularly in Bismarck, Devil's Lake, Dickinson, Faigo, Grand Porks,
Minot and Williston, Gam-Anon chapters (for family members and friends of problem gamblers)
meel in Bismarck, Dickinson and Fargo, Qutpatient treatment for Individuals with gambiing
problems is avallable from a small number of treatment professionals In Bismarck, Fargo, Grand
Forks and Minot. These programs offer individual and group counseling sessions, some coupls

and family therapy and aftercare,

Approximately 50 mental health and addictions treatment professionals In North Dakota have
recelived training in the assessment, dlagnosis and treatment of problem gambiing, However,
because Iinsurance reimbursement for problem gambling treatment is rare, few of these

Individuals offer treatment for problein gambling. The North Dakota Council on Problem
Gambling has been active for several years raising public awareness of problem gambling and

working to develop services for problem gamblers and their families in the State. Finally, the
heipline operated by the North Dakota Mental Heaith Assoclation recelves funding from the North
Dakota Council on Problem Gambling and the North Dakota Indlan Gaming Assoclation to
provide crisis Intervention for problem gamblers as well as Information and referrals.

Defining Our Terms

Gambling is a broad concept that includes diverse activities, undertaken in a wide variety of
settings, appealing to different sorts of people and perceived in varlous ways by participants and
observers, Fallure {0 appreciate this diversity can limit scientific understanding of gambling.
Another reason o note the differences between various forms of gambling arises from
accumulating evidence that some types of gambling are more strongly associated with gambling-
related problems than others (Abbott & Voiberg, 1999a).

People take part in gambling activities because they enjoy them and obtain benefits from their
participation. For most people, gambling is generally a positive experience; however, for a
minority, gambling is assoclated with difficuities of varying severity and duration. Some regutar

. gamblers develop signiicant, debilitating problems that also typically rasult in harm ta people
close to them and to the wider community (Abbott & Volberg, 1999a).

Pathological gambling was first included in the third edition of the Diagnostic and Siatistical

Manual (DSM-lil) of the American Psychiatric Assoclation (1980). Each revision of this maswal
has seen changes in the diagnostic criteria for pathological gambling. The essential featuras of
pathological gambling are presently defined by the American Psychiatric Assoclation (1994) as:
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« 3 continuous or periodic loss of cantrol over gambling;

» aproygression, In gambling frequency and amounts wagered, in the preoccupation
with gembling and In obtaining monles with which to gamble; and

+ & continuation of gambling involvement despite adverse consequences.

A formal diagnosis of pathological gambling is arrivad at by an appropriately qualified and
axperienced clinician following an exdensive clinical interview. To make a dlagnosis of
pathological gambling, the clinician must determine that a patient hus met five or more of the ten
diagnostic Indicators associated with pathological gambling., Tabile 1 presents the diagnostic
criteria for pathological gambling:

Table 1: Diagnostic Criteria for Pathological Gamblin

["Persistent and recyrrent maladaptive gambliing behavior as Indiceted by five he following:
Fracacupation Preoccupted with gambling (e.9. precccupied with reliving pact gambling sxpenences,
hancgfa)pplng of planning the next venture, of thinking of ways to get money with which to
amble
" Tolerance geds to gamble with increasing amounts of money in ordef 1o achisve the desirad exciemept
| Withdrawal Rastiessness or imitabiity when attempting to cut down of stop gambling ;
Escape Gambiing as a way of escaping from problems or relieving dysphorie mood (e.g. feeiings of

helpiessness, guit, snxiety or depression)
Chasing Losses After losing money gambiing, often return another day in order to get even (*chasing one's

losses)
Lying Lies t: family members, therapists or others to concesl the extent of involvement with
ambiing
Loss of Control Made repeated unsuccessiul efforts to controt, cut back or stop gambling
illegsl Acte Comn;md illegal acts, such as forgery, fraud, thef or embezziement, In order (o finance
_Qambling
Risked Significant | Jeopsrdized or lost a significant relationship, job, educational or career opportunity becasuse of
|_Ralstionship gambiing
Ballow Rellance on others to provide monay to relieve 8 desperate financist situation caused by

ambi
The gambling behavior Is not Ecmf accounted lor by a ManK Eplsode.

The term problem gambling Is used in a variety of ways. In some situations, its use is limited to
those whose gambling-related difficulties are less serious than those of pathological gambiers. In
other situations, R is used to indicatu all of the patterns of gambiing behavior that compromise,
disrupt or damage personai, family or vocational pursuits (Cox, Lesleur, Rosenthal & Volbery,
1997, Lesleur, 1998). From this perspective, pathological gambling can be regarded as a sub-
category, or one end of a continuum, of problem gambling. Problem gamblers, as well as
Individuals who score even lower on problem gambling screeris (at-risk gamblers; are of concem
because they represent much larger proportions of the population than pathologicat gamblers.
These groups are aiso of interest because of the possibility that their gambling-related difficulties
may become more severe over time,

In considering the public heaith risks of problem gambling, # is important to note that not all of the
features of problem or pathological gambling need be present at one point in time (Abbott &
Volberg, 1989a; Gerstein et al, 1999). Some of the impacts that at-risk, problem and pathological
gamblers may experience include psychological difficulties, such as anxety, depression, guilt,
exacerbation of alcohol and drug problems and attempts at suicide as well as stress-reiated
physical llinesses such as hypertension and heart disease. Interpersonal problems include
arguments with family, friends and co-workers and breakdown of relationships, often culminating in
separation or divorce. Job and school problems include poor work performance, abuse of leave
time and loss of job. Financial effects loom large and include reliance on famiy and frends,
substantlai credit card debt, unpaid crediors and bankruptcy. Finally, there may be legal problems
as a result of criminal beh- r undertaken to obtain money to gambie or pay gambling detits
(Lesleur, 1998),
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Measuring Gambling Problems

State govemments began funding services for individuals with gambling problems in the 1980s.

in eslablishing these services, policy makers sought answers to questions about the number of
people who might seek help for thelr gambling probiems and what they looked like. In responding
tn these questions, researchers adopted methods from the fleld of psychiatric epidemiology to
Investigate the pravalence of gambiing problems in the general population,

" In the 1980s, few tools existed to measure gambling problem= and only one, the South Oaks

Gambilig Screen, (SOGS) had been rigorously develuped aiiu tested for performance (Lesleur &
Blume, 1987)., The SOGS was first used in a prevalence survey In New York State In 19686
(Volberg & Steadman, 1988). Since then, the SOGS and subsequent modifications’ have been
used In problem gambling prevalence surveys In more than 48 jurisdictions in the United States,
Europe, Canada and Asla (Productivity Commission, 1990, Rénnberg et al, 1699; Shaffer, Hall &

Vander Bllt, 1999; Sproston, Erens & Orford, 2000).

With the publication of revised psychiatric criterla for pathological gainbling In 1894, a number of

_new screens for problem gambling began development (Cunningham-Williams, Cottler, Compton
& Spitznagel, 1998; Fisher, 2000; Gerstein et al, 1999; Shader, L.aBrie, Scanlan & Cummings,
"1994; Winters, Specker & Stinchfleld, 1897). In part, these tools emerged in responseto -
percelved shoncomlngs inthe SOGS and SOGS-R, They also re‘lect a concem to have
screening Instruments based on the most recent dlagncstic criterla. Despite this proliferation, the
psychometric properties of most of these tools have yet to be fully examined, For exampie, only
one has been assessed for differential performance In clinical settings and survey research

(Gersteln et al, 1999).

in problem gambling prevalence surveys, Individuals are generally categorized as problem
gamblers or ica on the basis of their responses to the questions in cne
of the screens developed to identlify Individuals with gambling-related difflcuities. In this report and
elsewhere, use of the term probable distinguishes the rasults of prevalence surveys, where
classification is based on a telephone interview, from a clinical dlagnosis.

Considerations In Designing Prevalence Studies

On the face of it, finding out how many people there are in a community with serious gambling
problems Is stralghtforward. You select a random sample of peopte from the populalion, assess
them using a valid problem gambling measure and carry out some etementary statistical analyses
to generate a prevalence estimate. In reality, for a variety of financial and technical reasons,

things are not so simple,

One concern Is that the sample sizes employed in nearly all gambling surveys to date have been
fartoo small. Large sample sizes are needed to detect differences between sub-groups in the
population at greatest risk for gambling problems. With small sample sizes, the confidence
intervals associated with prevalence estimates tend to be quite large. In the case of many sub-
groups within these studlies, these error terms may be so large that little confidence can be
placed In the findings. Most gambling researchers now agree that it is essentlal to Interview large

.samples of respondents to establish rellable prevalence estimates, particularly for sub-groups in
the population. Another approach Is to over-sample such groups to ensure that there are

adequate numbers of respondents with gambling problems for analytic purposes,

"Another concern Is that, with the exception of the recent national survey in Sweden, all of the

problem gambling prevalence studies conducied to date have employed complex sample designs
(l.e. random selection of single respondents within randomly selected househoids). While this

' The most widely used modification of the SOGS is the SOGS-R, a revised version of the ariginal screen that 2ssesses
both lifetime and current gambiing problems (Abbuolt & Volberg, 19986).
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approach reduces the cost of a study, R also means that the sample varies from what would be
attained ¥ truly random sampling of the population had occurred. While complex designs do not
present problems for establishing point estimates such as means, medians or percentages, the
confidences intervals associated with these measures are typically greatly under-estimated. This
concern has led to the growing involvement of statistical e;perts in problem gambling prevalence
surveys. Statisticians provide essential expertise in the appropriate calculation of standard errors
and confidence Intervals, Statisticians have also provided riew tools for identifying risk factors
related to gambling problems in the general population.

Finally, glven uncertainly about the characteristics of individuals who choose not to participate in
surveys, 1 is highly desirable 1o attain high response rates in gambling surveys. This means
budgeting for and completing substantial callbacks to eligible respondents. This aiso means
employing interviewers with demonstrated success at completing lengthy interviews and
experience in converting refusals, All of these measures mean that problem gambling prevalence
surveys now cost more to carry out than they have In the past and require careful planning.
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METHODS

The majority of surveys of gambling and problem gambling completed to date have been baseline
surveys, assessing these behaviors in the general population for the first time. Replication surveys
are used to monitor changes over time by measuring the same behawviors, using the same methods,
at subsequent points in time. Replication surveys are useful in examining changes in participation
In a mix of gambling activities. Repiication surveys also permit more precise assessments of the
impact of specific types of gambling or the prevalence of gambling-related difficulties In the general
population. Finally, replication surveys provide important information for the refinement of services
for individuals with gambling-related problems.

The present survey of gambling and problem gambling in North Dakota is a replication of a survey
carried outin 1992 (Volberg & Silver, 1993). The present survey was completed in three stages.

In the first stage of the project, Gemini Research consulted with the North Dakota Office of the
Governor, the North Dakota Indian Gaming Assoclation, and the North Dakota Council on Problem
Garnbling as well as the Social Science Research Institute (SSRI) at the University of North Dakota,
the organization responsible for data coilection, regarding the final design of the questionnaire and
the sample design. In the second stage of the project, staff from SSRI completed telephone
interviews with a sample of 5,002 residents of North Dakota aged 18 years and older. All interviews
were completed between August 17 and Oclober 16, 2000. SSRI then provided Gemini Research -
with the data for the third stage of the project which included analysis of the data and preparation of

this report,

Questionnaire

All respondents were administered a brief screening interview to determine their I vel of gambling
involvement. Respondents who never gambled were asked only a few additional questions
before the interview s terminated. Approximately one in four respondents who gambled but not
on a regular basis were administered the full interview, as were all respondents who gambled
once a week or more often.’ The average adrinistration time for the screener was S minutes
and the average administration time for the full interview was 16 minutes. Coples of he
questionnaire are avaitable from Gemini Research.

fcreanen All respondents were screened to obtain information about thelr involvement in 14
different gambling activities as weil as demographic information, For aach gambling activity,
respondents were asked whether they had ever participated in this activity and whether they had
done so in the past year. For each activity'they had done in the past year, respondents were
asked whether they participated daily, 1 to 3 times a week, 1 or 2 times a month, a few days all
year or only one day in the past year. Respondents who acknowledged no gambling at ail were
asked several quastions about why they did not gamble beture the intervew was terminated.

Full Interviewn The full interview included sections on gambling participation, problem gambling,
alcohol and drug use, experience of psychiatric aisorders (major depression and manic episodes)
and help-seeking. As noted above, the majority of problem gambling prevalence surveys carried
out In the United States have used the South Oaks Gambling Screen (SOGS) to assess problem
and pathological gambling. This includes the 1992 survey In North Dakota, A revised version of
the SOGS (SOGS-R) which uses an expanded format 10 assass both ifelime and current (past
year) prevaience of problem gambiing has been used in most of the North American surveys
completed since 1991, Llke the original screen, the SOGS-R has been tested for its performance

in the general population (Abbott & Voiberg, 1996; Volberg, 1698).

Several researchers In the fleid of gambiing studies racommend using more than one measure of
problem gambling in surveys of the general population (Abbott & Volberg, 1899b; Gambino, 1699,

1 An axception is Region 1 (NW) where faulty skip rules resuited in full interviews with 90% of the past yeat gambiers and
84% of the Infrequant gamblers.

Gambiing and Problem Gambling In North Dakota




Shaffer, Halt & Vander Bilt, 1997). Indeed, Shaffer and his colleagues argue that the use of
multipie problem gambling screens should be one measure of the quaiity of problem gambiling
prevalence studies, We noted above that several problem gambling screens based on the most
recent psychiatric criterla for pathological gambling have recently been deveioped. However,
only the NODS—developed for the recent U.S. national survey—has been tested for its
performance In both clinical and survey populations (Gerstein et al, 1999),

To provide comparability with the baseline survey In North Dakota in 1992, we included the
SOGS-R in the 2000 questionnaire. The NODS was also included to provide a measure of
problem gambling based on the most recent psychiatric ¢riteria as weil as to provide
comparability with the U.S, national survey. In administering the questionnaire, the two problem
gambling screens wera rotated so as to avoid an ordering effect. This is the approach taken in
the recent national survey in Sweden as welt a$ in several recent state-leve| prevalence surveys
where two different problem gambling screens have been used (Abbott & Voiberg, 1999;

Rénnberg et al, 1999).

Survey Design

Since problem and pathological gambling Is a relatively rare phenomenon, problem gambling -
surveys have typically yielded too few individuals to examine in deta# the relationships between
problem gambling and c¢ther variables, such as gender, age and ethnicky. There are two
approaches to obtaining larger numbers of problem and pathological gamblers in a sample, The
first approach 18 to increase the overall sample size dramatically, as was done In the recent
national surveys in New Zealand and Sweden (Abbott & Volbery, 2000; Rénnberg et al. 1999),
The chief drawback to this approach Is the aqually dramatlc increase in the cost of data coilection

for these studies.

The second approach Is to focus on recruiting Individuals into the sample who are at higher-than.
usual risk for experlencing gambling problems. This can be done by interviewing individuals at
paming venues or by screening potential respondents by telaphone to identify reguiar gamblers.
The first strategy of interviewing gaming patrons was used in the recent U.S, national survey
(Gerstein et al, 1999), The second strategy of screening for régular gamblers was adopted in the
recent national survey In Australia (Productivity Commission, 1899) and was used for the probiem

gambling survey in Norih Dakota.

Sampling Approach

Information about survey sampies is helpful In assessing the validity and rellabilty of the resuits of a
survey. While a fully random design Is the most desirable approach to obtaining a representalive
sample of the population, this approach often resulls in under-sampiing demographic groups with
jow rates of telephone ow  “hip. These groups most often include young adults, minotities and
Individuals with low educa.wn and income. To deleamine how well the sample represents the total
populaticiv, R is helpful to calculale the response rate for the survey as well 28 to examine how
closaly the sample matches the known demographic characteristics of the population.

The sample used In the North Dakota survey is known as a “two.phase probalilty sampie® (Kish,
1683) or ‘double sampie® (Cochran, 1963). The first phase involved the selection of 8,002
residential households with telephones in North Dakota and the seiection of one #ligible adult
aged 18 or older from each selected household to respond to the screener, The second phase
involved a stratified random selection of 1,609 raspondents from the first phase for the full-length
Intervisw: 202 of the 549 respondents who were classified as Iifetime gamblers, 1,194 of the
3,284 respondents who were classified as past year gamblers, and all of the 213 respondants
who were classified as weekly gamblers were selected to recelve the fuil-length interview.
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All interviews were conducted at SSRI faciiities by trained interviewers with supenvision and
random monitoring for technique and adherence to established procedures. inteniews were
conducted aftemoons and evenings on weekdays and weekends. Efforts to complete intendews
with selected respondents were exiensive. The number of callbacks to complete an interview with

an eligible respandent ranged from 1 ta 12.
Sample Disposition and Response Rate

To obtain a representative sample for the North Dakota survey, random selection of households
and random selection of respondents within households (most recent birthday) were used during
the data collection process. Geographically, North Dakota was divided into four quadrants (NW,
SW, NE, and SE), each combining two state planning areas (SPAS). A random sampie of 10-digit
telephone numbers was generated by SSRI for each guadrant ulilizing Genesys Sampling
Systems Random Digit Dialing software. The list from which the numbers were drawn included
only actual North Dakota area codes and telephone banks (that is, biocks of 1,000 consecutive
numbers within North Dakota) that had been determined to contain a threshold number of active

residential numbers,

Overall, SSRI called 17,570 numbers to determine whether it was a working residential number in
contrast to a non-working number, a commaerclalbusiness line, a cell phone, data or fax line, ora
non-primary household telephone. SSRI classifled 7,039 of these numbers as working
residential numbers eligible for interview and successfully interviewed 5,002 of these households.
Throughout the study, completed interviews were moniored to determine whether the quadrant
samples matched population estimates in terms of gender (male/female) and the age distribution
of North Dakota respondents' age 18 or older. Table 2 shows the dispositions for all of the

numbers by quadrant,

Table 2: North Dakota Quadrant RDD Sample Dispositions

[ND Region Completed Non-Working | Non-Primary Language Refusals Haouseheld
Interviaws Numbers Heusehold Barrier Contacted Not

Interviewed
1 Nofth West 904 2,318 217 23 242 147
2 North Easl 1,057 2.259 274 19 306 244
3 Soulh Easl 1,748 2,145 301 38 380 34
4 South West 1,208 2,621 294 27 218 162
Tolals 5,002 9,341 " 1,088 104 1,143 394

Rasponse rates for telephona surveys In gereral have declined in recent years. These declines are
related to the proliferation of fax machines, answering machines, blocking devices and other
telecommunications technology that make k more difficult 10 identity and recruk eligibie Individuals.
These declines are also related to the amount of political polling and market research that is now
done by telephone and to the higher likelihood that eligible households will refuse to participate in

any surveys,

One consequence has been that response rates for lelephone surveys are now calculated in
saveral diffarent ways. Although all of these approaches involve dividing the number of
respondants by the number of contacts believed to be eligible, there are sumetimas substantial
differances in response rates that resuit from differant ways of calculating the denominator, i.e. the
numbar of individuals eligible to respond. The most liberal approach is called the Upper Bound
method and takes into account only those individuals who refuse to participate or who terminate an
Interview. This approach Is used by the faderal govemment bacause of controversies about the
eligibilty of numbers that could not be reached, The Upper Bound method of calculating the
rasponse rate for the North Dakota survey yields a response rate of 77%.
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A more conservative approach is the method adopted by the Counci of American Survey Research
Organizations (CASRO). The CASRO method uses the known status of portions of the sample that
are contacted to impute characteristics of portions of the sample that were not reached. The
CASRO method of calculating the response rate for the North Dakota survey yields a completion
rate of 71% if over-quota eligibles are assumed to qualify as “good numbers.”

Characteristics of the Achieved Sample

To determine whether the sample was representative of the popuiation, the demographics of the
sample were compared with the most recent information from the United States Bureau of the
Census (U.S. Bureau of the Census, 2000). Table 3 shows 2y demographic characteristics of the
achieved sample in North Dakota compared with estimates from the Bureau of the Census.

Table 3: Comparing the Achleved Sample to the General Population

Achisved 1999
Sample Population
% %
Gender (N=5002)
Male 48.6 49.2
Fermnale 514 0.8
[ Age (N=4754)
18- 24 13.3 14,5
25-4 383 37.0
45 ~ 64 29.5 290
65 + 18.8 19.5
| Ethnicity , (N=4850) N
White 89.8 927
Native American 3.9 48 |
Hispanic 2.1 1§
Other 13 1.0

Table 3 demonstrates that the achieved sample was quite representative of the total adult
population in North Dakota, as estimated by the Bureau of the Census, The greatest difference
between the two sampies was in the proportion of Native Americans included in the final sample.

gven this differance, however, was less than 1 percent,

Weighting and Imputation

Once dats collection was compleled, the data were weighted to ensure that the results of the

survey couid be generalized to tho adult population of North Dakota, Assistance In weighting the
North Dakota sample was provided by Robert Johnson, Ph.D., a senior statisticlan working at the
National Opinion Research Center (see Appendix B for a detailed discussion of the weighting and

imputation procedures).

The two-phase sample used in the North Dakota survey required the construction of two sets of
weights, The first set of weights (WT_SHORT) treated the selection procass for Phase One as
an equai-probabKity selection of eligible aduits in North Dakota, except that male and female
adults of different ages In each of tha four regions of North Dakota had different probabilties of
compieting the screener. The second set of weights (WT_LONG) adjusted for both the
differential probabiities of selection for the full Interview based on gambling frequency, for
differential nan.response by region, age, and gender at Phases One and Two, and for differential

non-responsa by gambling frequency at Phase Two.
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WT_SHORT was used in all analyses of data from the screener. WT_LONG was used in all
analyses of data from the full interview, Since sach weight was scaled to sum to the total
number of respondents, the weights yield fairly accurate standard errors for analytical statistics

and confidence intervals for estimated parameters,

Exceptions were the calculation of point estimates for problem gambling prevalence for the North
Dakota population as a whole and the caiculation of standard errors for problem gambling
prevalence In specific sub-groups in the population. In determining point estimates of problem
gambling prevalence for the entire sample, prevalence rates were first calculated for respondents
who compieted the full interview using WT_LONG. These estimates were then muitiplied by an

-adjustment factor that was obtained by dividing the number of respondents who ever gambled by

the total number of respondents in the sample. Additionally, standard errars for problem
gambling prevalence among sub-groups in the population were adjusted by a factor of 1.17 (the
square root of the coefficient of variation in WT_LONG) to account for unequal welghts due to
unequal probabliities of sample selection and difforential non-response.

Statistical Analysis

Numerous analyticat variables were constructed from the raw data, including generallzed gambling
participation levels, scores on the two problem gambling screens, levels of alcohol and drug use,
experience of manic episodes and major depression, and help-seeking for mental health problems,
alcohol or drug abuse and gambling problems. In analyzing the resuits of the survey and in
comparing the present survey with the 1992 survey, chi-square analysis and analyses of varlance

were used to test for statistical significance.

Gambling and Problem Gambiling in North Dsketa

‘.The data were analyzed using Statistical Package for the Social Sciences, Version 10.0 (SPSS). .
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GAMBLING IN NORTH DAKOTA

This chapter ¢xamines gambling participation in the general population in North Dakota. To
assess the full range of gambling activities available to North Dakota residents, the questionnaire
for the survey collected information about 14 different wagering activities, All respondents were

asked if they had ever played or bet money on the following activities:

e chartable (inc, raffles, casho nights, e casino table games (inc. rouiette, keno)

small stakes games)
e card games other than blackjack or poker

o live bingo
¢ Sports betting

o pulltabs
o Dbetting on games of skill (inc. own
o lottery garnes performance in games of darts, pool,

bowling, or golf)
¢ gaming machines (in¢. slot machines,

video poker, VLTS) s betting on horse, dog or muie races
¢ blackjack o telephone or computer wagering -
o poker o anyother type of gambling

Gambling in the General Population

In every recant survey of gambling and problem gambling, the majority of respondents
acknowledgé participating In one or more gambling activities. Nationally, the proportion of the
population that has ever gambled ranges from 81% In the Southern states to 89% in the
Northeast (Gierstein et al, 1999). In 2000, 81% of the North Dakota respondents acknowledged
participating in one or more of the 14 activities included in the questionnaie (see Comparing the

1992 and 2000 Surveys on Page 28 for further discussion).

Table 4 shows IHfetime, past year, monthly and weekly participatian for ail of the types of gambling
included in the 2000 survey. Lifetime participation among North Dakota respondents is highest for
small-stakes chartable gambling, such as raffles and sweepstakes, gaming machines, and pulitabs.
Betweean one-half and two-thieds of the respondents acknowledge having participated In these
activities. Eletween one-quarter and two-fifths of the respondents have ever wagered on lottery
games, live bingo, blackjack and sporis events, Between one-lenth and one-quarter of the
respondents have aver wagered on card games other than blackjack or poker, horse or doy races,
games of skill, and poker. Lifetime participation rates are below 10% for all of the other types of

gambiing included in the survey,

The rank order of gambling activities by past year participation Is similar to the rank order for iifetime
participation with one exception. While lifelime participation in games of skil Is ranked tenth, past
year pariicipation in these activities is ranked ninth, However, the top Light activities remain the
same for both ifetime and past year participation. There are greater differances in rank order when
we consider monthly gambling paricipation. Several activities move up in rank when we consider
monthly participation, including pulitabs, lottery games, live bingo, and gamaes of skill, Several other
activities move down in rank when we consider monthly participation, These include charitable

gambiling and gaming machines,
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Table 4: Gambling Participation in North Dakots

Lifetime Past Yoar Monthly Weekly
Participation Participation Participation Participation

{5002) (65002) {5002) {5002)
% % % %
Chartable £6.8 475 3.1 0.8
Gaming machines 55.6 38.4 23 0.4
Pulkabs 46.0 305 3.2 0.8
Lottery games 39.9 28.5 29 1.0
Live bingo 39.4 216 2.9 12
Blackjack 30.2 178 2.2 08
Sports 26.0 18 08
Card games other than blackjack or 20.1 08 0.3

- poker
Pari-mutuel (inc. horse, dog, mule) 16.9 3.9 0.2 0.1
Games of skiit 14.8 10.3 1.4 0.8
Poker 11.6 5.8 0.3 0.2
Casino tabie games (inc. roulette, 8.7 55 0.3 0.1
keno)

internet 19 18 02 0.1 .
Other gaming activities 18 14 0.1 00
| Total 80.8 69.8 11.0 43

Patterns of Gambling Participation

To understand patterns of gambling participation, # is helpful to examine the demographics of
respondents who wager at Increasing leve!s of frequency. To analyze levels of gambiing
participation, we divided respondents into four groups:

o non.gamblers who have never panicipated in any type of gambling (19% of the total

sample),

o Infrequent gamblers who have panicipateu in one or more types of gambling but not
in the past year (11% of the total sample),

o past year gamblers who have parlicipated in one or more types of gambting in the
past year but not on a weekly basis (85% of the total sample); and

o weekly gamblers who participate in one or more types of gambling on a weekly basis

(4% of the lotal sample),

Table § on the following page shows that there are numerous significant ditferences in the
doemographio characteristios of non-gamblers, infrequent gamblers, past-year gamblery and weekly
gamblers In North Dakola as well as differences In the mean number of gambling activities these

groups have sver tried.
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Table 5: Demographics of Gamblers in North Dakota
Nen- Infrequent | Past Year Weekly
Gamblers | Gamblers Gamblers | Gamblers Total
(962) (651) (3275) (214) (5002)
% % % % %
Gender*™ Maie 475 51.4 50.7 65.4 §0.8
' Female 52.5 48.6 49,3 4.8 49 2
Age*** 18 - 24 11.2 2.4 15.8 13,5 14.3
25 - 29 54 8.7 10.0 8.3 87
30 =34 5.4 5.5 9.5 12.2 8.4
35 - 54 30.2 35.4 40.4 42.3 7 8
55 - 64 10.1 11.5 12.0 11.3 115
85 + 37.6 28.6 12.8 12.3 19.3
Ethnicity* ™ White 88.6 90.2 90.8 85.3 90.1
Native American 3.4 4,0 4.0 7.4 4.0
Hispani¢ 1.9 1.9 2.2 1.0 2.1
Other 1 6.0 3.9 3.0 6.4 3.9
Maritai Status** | Married 56 4 59.4 59.3 §2.3 58.5
Widowed 19.5 13.0 8.7 8.2 8.9
QOivorced/Saparated 6.9 10.8 11.1 17.1 10.5
Never Married 17.2 17.0 22.9 22.4 21.2
"Education®** Elementary / Some HS 16.1 11.0 8.5 12.8 9.0
HS Grad 30.1 30.3 28.6 24.8 28.9
. Some College 30.4 32.9 7.7 39.5 359
BA Degree 15.1 16.9 20.1 7.6 18.7
QGraduate Study a2 8.8 7.2 53 75
Employment*** Working Full Time 40.8 42,3 83.0 630 56 5
Working Part Time 10.1 12.1 9.9 8.4 10.1
Keeping House 9.0 11.3 5.0 2.4 63
Going to School 5.4 0.1 7.2 48 8.5
Relired 31.7 25.2 12.7 18 .0 17.8
Disabled / Unemployed |. 3.0 4.0 2.4 56 2.8
Income*** (602) (407) (2633) (168) | (3812)
Up to $10,000 99 B2 57 3.5 85
$10,000 - $16,969 14.4 18,9 10.8_ 10.5 12.0
$20,000 - §24,609 16.8 14.8 11.2 16.0 128
$28,000 - $34,659 1632 17.3 17.2 17.1 7.1
$35,000 ~ $49,899 20.8 19.6 22.8 20.4 21.9
$80,000 ~ $96 999 16.9 18,4 26.3 23.9 239
100,000 and higher 82 3.9 8.2 8.7 K
L'ﬁoglcm"' North Wagt 239 18,3 150 38.3 18.1
North Eatt 17.8 22.1 21.9 19.6 21.1
South Eaat 29.9 33,4 37.0 28.0 34.8
South Wast 29.4 258 26.1 12.1 269
Maan # Lilutime Gnmbunglctwmum 0.0 PX 5.0 8.2 38
Pearson ChieSquere * pe.08 ** pe 01 *** pe.00Y
tincludes Black, Asian, and Other as well 38 Don't Know and Refused.
. tincludes Christian Fundamanialists and Mormens/Latter Day Saints.
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Table 5 shows that, as in other jurisdictions, infrequent gamblers and non-gamblers in North Dakota
are significantly older, more likely o be widowed, and more likely to be retired or keeping house
than more frequent gamblers. Whie infrequent and non-gamblers are more likely than past year or
weekly gamblers to have attended college, these respondents are lass likely to have househoid
Incomes over $25,000. Weekly gamblers in North Dakota are significantly more likely than less
frequent gamblers to be male, between the ages of 30 and 54, Native American, divorced or
separated and working full time, Weekly gamblers are less likely than other respondents {0 have
attended college. Finally, the table shows that the average number of gambling activities ever tried
Increases significantly with the frequency of a respondent's current gambiling.

There Is one Interesting difference In gambling involvement in North Dakota by region. While
respondents from the northwest (NW) region of the State are mnst likely to gamble weekly, this
region of the state also has the highest rate of non-gamblers in the state. In discussions with
several North Dakota residents, # was suggested that the high rate of weekly gambling in the
northwest of the State may be due to the large number of ofl workers and military personnel residing
in this reglon. Given the distribution of gambling outfets in this region of the State, # is possible that
some of the gambling reporied by these respondents is taking place in Montana or Canada where
they may also be doing much of thelr shopping, Evidence from other jurisdictions suggests that the
bkmodal distribution of gambling Involvement In the northwest reglon of North Dakota may also be .
related to the sparse population and severe economic conditions In that part of the state. :

Gambling Preferences

For several types of gambling, respondents who acknowledged participation In the past year and
who completed the fuil interview were asked about their preferences for particular games.'

These types of gambling included live bingo, pulitabs, lottery, gaming machines, blackjack, poker
and other card games, and games of skill.

Gaming Machines: Respondents w:'0 acknowledged playing gaming machines once a month or
more in the past year (N=89) were asked where they usually wemt to play these machines.
Three-fifths of these respondents (61%) Indicated that they usually played gaming machines in
North Dakota while 30% indicated that they usually played gaming machines in Minnesota or
South Dakota. The few remaining respondents indicated that they usually played gaming
machines somewhere else outside North Dakota, including Mississippl and Nevada.

Respondents who played gaining machines once a month or more often were also asked about

the type of establishment whers they usually played gaming machines, Three-quarters (72%) of
these respondents indicatad that they usually played gaming machines at a tribal casino either in
North Dakota or out-of-state. The remaining respondents were eqgually likely to Indicate that they
usually played gaming machines at bars or taverns, at mini-casinos like those in Montana or at a

commercial casino,

Pulltabs: Respondents who acknowledged playing pulltabs bingo once a month cr more in the
past year (N=12£) were asked where they usually played pulltabs. The majority of these
raspondents (86%) indicated that they usually played pulitabs at a bar or tavarm. The remaining
respondents were equally likely to Indicate that they usually played pulitabs at a bingo parior, a
hotel lounge or some other focatlon, including fraternal organizations and sociai clubs.

Lottery Gamest Respondents who acknowledged purchasing lottery tickets once a month ur
more In the past year (N=118) wers asked where they usually made such purchases and what
kinds of tickets they usually bought. The majority of these respondents (88%) indicated that they

"WT_LONG was used fof lnulrtn of gambiing preferances because questions about the specifics of gambling
participation were only asked of respondents who sampleted the full interview.
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usually purchased lottery tickets in South Dakota or Minnesota and the remaining respondents
. indicated that they usually purchased lottery tickets in other U.S. states.

Three-quarters of these respondents (76%) purchased tickeis for muiti-state or out-of-state large
jackpot, or Lotto-style, games while 16% of these respondents preferred instant or scratch-off
tickets and 8% preferrec daily lottery games,

Live Bingot Respondents who acknowledged playing live bingo once a month or more in the
past year (N=93) were asked where they usually played live bingo. Just over half of these

respondents (55%) indicated that they usuaily played live bingo in a bar or tavern while 31%
indicated that they usuaily played in a bingo paror or commercial bingo establishment. The

remaining respondents (14%) indicated that they usually played live bingo in other
astablishments, including schools and soclal clubs.

Blackjacks Respondents who acknowledged playing blackjack once a month or more in the past
year (N=87) were asked where they usually played blackjack. The majority of these respondents
(79%) indicated that they usually played blackjack in a bar or tavern while 12% Indicated that they
usually played blackjack at a lribal casino. The remaining respondents were most tikely to
indicate that they usually played blackjack in a hotel iounge. .

Poken Respondents who acknowledged playing poker once a month or more in the past year
(N=15) were asked where they usually played poker. Just over haif of this small group of requiar
poker players (56%) indicated that they usually piayed poker in private games at someone’s
homea. Other places where respondents played poker included at bars or tavems, at fraternal

organizations or at tribal casinos,

Other Card Games: The majorily of respondents who acknowledged playing cards games other

than blackjack or poker once a month or more in the past year (N=30) indicated that they usually

played such games in a private home. Small numbers of respondents indicated that they usually
played card games other than blackjack or poker at a bar or tavern or at soclat clubs and

community centers.

Games of Skills Respondents who acknowledged playing games of skill once a month or more
in the past year (N=45) were asked where they usually played such games. Just over half of
these respondents (§5%) Indicated that they usually wagered on gamas of skill at a bar or tavern
and 39% of these respondents usually wagered on gamas of skill somewhere eise, including the
goif course, pool halls and bowling alleys. Only three of these raspondents usually wagered on

games of skill at a tribal casino.
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PROBLEM GAMBLING IN NORTH DAKOTA

As noted in the section Defining Our Terms on Page 2, Individuals are classified as problem

or probable pathslogical gamblers in prevalence surveys on the basis of their responses
to tems Included in one cr more problem gambling screens. Research on the performance of the
most widely-used problem gambling screen—the South Oaks Gambling Screen (SOGS)—has
shown that the [fetime screen is very good at detecting pathological gambling among those who
currently experience the disorder (see Appendix A for a discussion of the performance of the
SOGS). However, as expected, the screen identifiles at-risk individuals at the expense of
generating a substantial number of false positives. The current SOGS produces fewer false

. posilives than the lifetime measure but more false negatives and thus provides a weaker screen for

identifying pathological gamblers in the clinical sense. However, the greater efficliency of the
current SOGS makes it a more useful tool for detecting rates of change in the prevalence of
problem and pathological gambling over time.

.Provalence Rates

Prevalence rates are based on the proportion of respondents who score on increasing numbers
of tems that make up the lifetime and current (or past year) scale of the South Oaks Gambling
Screen, Table 8 presents information about the proportion of the total sample (N=5002) who .
score on an Increasing number of items on the lifetime and current SOGS.? For both the lifetime
and current (past year) SOGS, individuals scoring 10 points or higher have been grouped
together because of the small proportion of respondents In each of these groups. Table 8 also
summarizes the prevalence of lifetime and current problem and probable pathological gambling
based on established criteria for discriminating between respondents without gambiing-relaied
difficulties and those with moderate to severe problems (Abbott & Volberg, 1998; Lesieur &

Blume, 1987).

Table 6: Scores on Lifetime and Past Year SOGS Items
Number of tems Lifetime Past Year |

Non-Gambiers (l/fetime)} 19.2 19.2
0 54.4 87.1

16.2 9.2
2 8.4 2.4
Non Problem Gamblers 71.0 78,7
1.7 0.5
0.3 0.2
2.0 0.7
0.3 0.2
0.3 0.3
0.2 0.1
0.2 0.1
0.2 0.1
0.7 0.6

robsble Pathological 1.8 14

Combined Problem/ProbP ath 3.8 2.1

[

3:. nom‘.l .tb%vt.h In fml.l ttocllon o& Woerggm and imputation, prevalence estimates were first caiculated Jor respondents
who completed the full Interview (Ns1808) and then sdiusted 10 Iha talsl sample (N250072) in erder | slence
rtes for the adult population of Notth Dakels. P | t ) 0 provide prev
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According to the most recent population estimates available from the U.S. Bureau of the Census
(2000), the population of North Dakota aged 18 and over in 1999 was 475,633.2 Based on these
figures, we estimate that between 6,700 (1.4%) and 12,400 (2.6%) North Dakota residents aged 18
and over can be classified as lifetime problem gamblers. In addition, we estimate that between
5,700 (1.2%) and 11,400 (2.4%) North Dakota residents aged 18 and over can be classified as
Iifetime probable pathological gamblers.

Based on current prevalence rates and confidence intervals as well as censu’ information, we
estimate thal between 1,400 (0.3%) and 5,200 (1.1%) North Dukota reside’;ts aged 18 and over
can be classified as current problem gamblers. In addition, we estimate that between 4,300 (0.9%)
and 9,000 (1.9%) North Dakota residents aged 18 and over can be cltassified as current probable

pathologlcal gamblers,
Prevaience Among Demographic Groups

As In other Jurisdictions, lifelime and current prevalence rates are significantly different among
sub-groups in the population in North Dakota. Because the confidence intervals around
prevalence estimates for many of these sub-groups are large, most of the comparisons between
groups must be considered with exdreme caution, In presenting these data, we have suppressed
all estimates where the confidence Interval for any cell exceeds the prevalence astimate. -

Table 7 presents information about the siza of #ach group in the screened sampie as well as the
confidence interval for both lifetime and current prevalence rates. As in Table 6, the prevalence
estimates in Table 7 were first calculated for the sample of respondents who completed the full
interview and then adjusted to the total sample. A similar procedure was used to adjust the
confidence intervals for these prevalence estimates. Analyses of prevalence rates among
several demographic groups have been suppressed because confidence intervals exceed
prevalence estimates among these small groups of respondents, Al resuits where the
confidence Interval exceeds 50% of the prevalence estimate have baen flagged with an asterisk.

Table 7: Differences In Prevalence by Demographic Group

Group Lifetime Conl. Past Year Conf.
Size Prevalence | Interval | Prevalence | Interval
(Full Sample) (3+) (3+)
Gender Male 2540 52 £1.8 2.9 t12
Female 2463 2.3 $1.1 *1.4 $0.8
[ Age 18 =24 718 ‘48 £2.9 4.4 £2.8
25 ~ 34 854 55 $2.8 18 $18
3§ - 54 1889 3.8 $1.68 *2.3 213
55 + 1844 ‘2.2 1.4 *1.0 £0 9
[ Ethnicity | Whe 4497 33 $.1.0 1.8 30.7
Native American 200 *17.8 $10.1 *18.1 19.8
"Region | NonhWaest 904 5 128 28 220
North Esst 1057 4.1 22 2.8 IR
South Easf 1748 32 (18 18 a1.2
S¢uth Wast 1208 *3.4 218 1.8 212

"Confidence INerval equale of exceeds SU% of the revaience estimete.

} . Buresu of the Cansus at the end of August. The 1698 population
Population estimates sre updated by the U.8. Burs Eresont survey and |0 weight fhe dets. Tha | 038 sstmates

lish the sampling frame for the ,
i wore povied Aher satt g were Used o estimiate the nunbers of probiem and pathologios

which wets posted after deta solleution was undemay,
gambiers hprf;h Dakols. Alinough Gensus 2000 information on the total populstion of Nert Dakate has been posied,

these data sre not vsken down by age group.
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Table 7 shows that there are substantial differences in the prevalence of lifetime and currert
problem gambling by gender, age and ethnicily. For example, both (ifetime and current
prevalence rates are about two times higher among men in North Dakota than among women.
While the lifetime prevalence of problem gambling is highest among respondents aged 25 to 34,
current problem gambling rates are highest among respondents aged 18 to 24. Although the
confidence Intervals around the lifetime and current prevalence rates for Native Americans in
North Dakota are relatively large, these rates are nevertheless significantly higher than the
problem gambling prevalence rates among whites in North Dakota.

Prevalence by Type of Gambling

Another approach to understanding the relationship between gambling involvement and
gambling-relater? problems is to examine the prevaience of gambling problems among individuals
who participate n specific types of gambling. Table 8 shows the current prevalence of problem
and probable pathological gambling for the total sample of respondents who have gambled, for
respondents who have gambled In the past year and for respondents who have participated in
different types of gambling in the past year, Telepiione or computer wagering and other gambling

. activities were not included In this tabie because the number of past year players was 100 small to
yleld meaningful results. Analyses of prevalence rates among past year players of games of skill -
and poker have been suppressed because the confidence interval exceeds the prevalenca
estimate among these small groups of respondents. All results where the confidence Interval
exceeds 50% of the prevalence estimate have been flagged with an asterisk.

Table 8: Prevalence by Type of Gambling

Group Past Year Cont,
Past Year Activities Size Prevalence | Interval
(3+)
_ %
|_Total Gamblers 1609 2.8 $0.9
Past Year Gamblers 1387 2.6 1.0
Waeekly Gamblers 85 *12.9 t8.4
Charitable 977 2.4 £1.1
| Gaming machines 723 3.0 $1.5
Pulitabs 571 *3.6 $1.8
Lottery games 551 *3.2 21,7
Live bingo 378 36 £2.2
Blackjack 332 5.1 228
Sports 300 ‘3.8 2.6
Card gamaes other than blackjack or poker 181 6.2 4.1
Casino table gamaes (Ine. roulette keno) 79 *11.7 $8.4
[Pari-mutuel (ine. harse,_dog, mule) 59 "10.9 £12.1

*Confidence intarval equals or excaeds 50% of the prevalence estimate,

Table 8 shows thal the current prevalenca of problem gambling among past year participants in
chartable games s nearly entical to the prevalence of problem gambling among the sntire group
of gamblers, The prevalence of problam gambling Is nearly five limes higher among weekly
gamblers than among less frequont gamblers. The current prevaience of problem gambing &nong
post year players of blackjack is two times higher than among the \otal sampie of gamblers.
-Current pravalence rales among past year players of card games other than blackjack or poker are
mora than tws timas higher than among the tolal sample of gamblars, Tha current prevalence rate
among past year piayers of non.card casino table garmes Is four times higher than among all
gamblers and (he current prevalence rate among past year horse raca bettors is saven times higher
than among other gamblers. Whila the smail size uf some Qroups of past year players suggests
eauinn in interpreling these numbers, this analysis points to the imponanca of targedng pyublic
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education and prevention efforis in venues where card and casino table games are played and
possibly in off-track betting faciies,

Comparing North Dakota with Other States

The jurisdictions where problem gambling surveys have been done in the United States differ
substantially in the types of gambiing available, in levels of gambiing participation and in the
demographic characteristics of the general population. Figure 1 shows prevalence rates of lifetime
problem and probable pathological gambling in all of the United States jurisdictions where surveys
basod on the South Oaks Gambling Screen have been compleled since 1862 and where
prevalence rates have been calculated In a comparable manner. In states where replication
surveys have been completed, the most recent prevalence rates are shown.

Figure 1: Lifetime Prevalence Rates In the United States (SOGS)

l CLifelime Problem MLilstime Pathologlcal j
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Figure 1 shows that the combined lifetime prevalence rate of probiern and probable pathological
gambling in North Dakota is lower than lifetime rates in most olher states. The two states whose
lifetime prevalence rates bracket that of North Dakota, including South Dakota and Georgla, were
both surveyed before 1995, It is worth noting that alihough the combined lifetime prevalence rate
in North Dakota is lower than the combined rates in most other states, the lifetime prevalence of
probable pathological gambling in North Dakota (the black part of the bar) is equivalent o several
other states with higher overall prevalence rates, including Colorado, Michigan and Oregon as

well as lowa and Texac.

Figure 2 on the following page shows prevalence rates of current prablern and probable
pathological gambiing in all of the United States jurisdictions where surveys hased on the South

Oaks Gambling Screen have been compieled since 1992 and whers memgaes Mave been
j e heen

caiculated in a comparadle manney. Again, m siales whese rexlicainn sunveys
, the mOSt recent prevalence rates are shown. Figure 2 shows that e combined curren
completed, the P nﬁn‘b n North Daiota s iowet than

prevalence rate of problem and probable patholegioal ya
current prevalencoe rates in most other states with the exception of South Dakota. Even more

ie the clearty much higher current prevalence rate of probavie patnolagical gamiding in
:smn%akoz (ﬁsmacﬂ mngftm bar) than in many other states wih higher prevalence rates.
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Figure 2: Current Prevalence Rates in the United States (SOGS)
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A recent meta-analysls of problem gambling prevalence surveys in North America presented
prevalence rates for several different population groups based on the South Oaks Gambling

Screen (Shaffer, Hall & Vander Biit 1997, 19989). Table 9 compares prevalence rates from the
North Dakota survey with the North American prevalence rales in the meta-analysis.

Table 9: Comparing North Dakota Nationally

Washington North
State Americat
1998
Lifetime Problem 2.0 3.4
Lifetime Probable Pathological 1.8 1.7
Current Problem - Q.7 2.2
Current Probable Pathological 1.4 1.1

t From Shaffer, Haill & Vander Bilt (1997: 38). Includes North Dakota 1992,

Table 9 shows that the lifelime and current prevalence rates of problem qambling in North Dakota
In 2000 are lower than problem gambling rates averaged over approximaltely 30 studies in Nortn
America between 1986 and 1986. The lifetime and current prevalence rates of probable
pathological gambling in North Dakota In 2000 are equal o or higher than the lifetime and current
prevalence rates averaged over North America.
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COMPARING NON-PROBLEM AND PROBLEM GAMBLERS

In considering the refinement of policles and programs for probiem gamblers, & is Important to direct
these efforis in an effective and efficient way. The most effective efforts at prevention, outreach and
treatment are targeted at individuals who are at greatest risk of experiencing gambling-related
difficulties. Since the purpose of this section is to examine individuals at risk, our focus will be on
differences between individuals who gamble, with and without problems, rather than on the entire

North Dakota sample.

In addition to tooking only at respondents who gamble, our analysie In this section I [Imited to
differences between non-problem gambiers and |ifatime problem and probable pathological
gamblers. Both the lifetime and cuirent South Qaks Gambiing Screen measures are important
tools but they have rather different uses (see Appendix A for an explanation of some of the
methodologicat issues related to the SOGS), For reasons related to different rates of classification
grrors by the Iifetime and current SOGS, the lifetime measure s better than the current measure al
detecting pathological gambling among those who currently experience the disorder.

Since the lifetime South Oaks Cambling Screen Is the more accurate method for identifying at-risk
individuals in the general population, consideration of respondents who score as [ifetime problem
and pathological gamblers Is most appropriale when evalualing the characteristics of individuals
most in need of help with thek gambling-related difficultles, Further, respondents who score as
lifetime problem gamblers and those who score as Iifelime probable pathological gamblers are
ireated as a single group and are referred to as problem qamblers In this section. This approach is
based on discriminant analysis that has established a strong and significant separation between
non-problem gamblers and those who score as problem and probable pathological garnblers

(Abbott & Voiberg, 2000; Volberg & Abbott, 1994).

Demographics

Table 10 on the following page shows that, as In other jurisalctions, problem gamblers In North
Dakota =re demographically distinct from non-problem gamblers in the sample. Problem gamblers
in North Dakota are significantly more likely than non-problem gamblers to be male, to be Native
Amaerican, to be widowed, separated or divorced, and to be disabled or unemployed. Problem
gamblers In North Dakota are significantly less likely than non-problem gamblers to have graduated
from high school but are also significantly less iikely to have annual househeld incomes under

$25,000.

2

Gambling and Problem Gambiing in North Cakots




Table 10: Demographics of Non-Problem and Problem Gambiers

Non-Probism Gambiws | Problem Gambiers | Sk
(1634) (78)
% %
Gendet Male 50. 693 001
— “Famale 49. 30.7
Age 18«24 14.6 173 28
8-28 9.1 §3
KLY V.4 16.0
35 - 64 30.4 3_5_;
55 - 84 12 12.
85 14.9 8.7
Elhnicty White 90 9 80.0 000
Nallve American 3N 17.3
o Hispanig 14 0.0
Other* 48 2.7
Mardal Stalus | Married 62.3 44.3 000
Widowed 8.2 12.9
Divorgced/Separated 98 22.9
Never Married 1.7 20.0
Education Elementary / Some HS 54 14.3 018
HS Grad 29.0 22.9
Some College 36.6 40.0
BA Degree 20.3 12.9
Graduste Sludy 8.7 10.0
Employment Working Full Time 60 8 62.2 002
Working Part Time 89 8.1
Keeping House 89 4.1
Going to School 7.1 8.1
Retired 148 8.1
Disabled / Unamployed 2.7 95
in¢ome Up to $10,000 57 1119 001
$10,000 ~ $19,099 9.9 111
$20,000 ~ $24.899 10.1 27.8
$25,000 -- $34,998 16.8 14.8
$35,000 - $49,999 242 18.7
$50.000 ~ 799,999 26.8 18.5
$100,000 and higher 687 0.0
Region North West 16.3 24.0 291
North East 22.3 24.0
South East 361 29.3
South West 25.2 22.7
Religion Protestant 44 8 39.2 .038
Catholie 32.5 27.0
Fundamentalist** 78 8.8
Other 10.9 23.0
None 4.5 4.1

‘Includes Black, Asian, and Other as well as Don't Know and Refused,

**Includes Christian Fundamentalists and Mormons/Latter Day Saints.
Pearson Chi-Square * p<.05 ** p<.01 *** p<.001

While information about the demographic characteristics of problem gamblers is useful in designing

prevention and treatment reandcac, & is aiso helpful to understand differences in the gambiing
behaviar of non-problem and problem gamblers. Information about the behavioral correlates of
problem gambling can help treatment professionals effeclively identify at-risk individuais, provide
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appropriate lreatment measures and establish accessible programs. This informatlon is also useful
to policymakers and gaming regulalors in developing measures to mitigate the negative impacts of

gambling legalization,

Gambling Participation

Behavioral correlates of problem gambling include reguiar gambling and involvement with
cootinyoys forms of gambling (Dickerson, 1963a; Ladouceur, Gaboury, Dumont & Rochette, 1988,
Walker, 1662). Gontinygus forms of gambling are characterized by rapid cycles of play as well as
the opporiunity for players (o immediately reinvest their winnings. Most of the legal forms of
gambling in North Dakota are continuous, including pulitabs, live bingo, gaming machines, card
games Including blackjack and poker, other ¢casino table games such as ¢raps and roulette, and
par-mutuel wagering on horse and dog races.

Lifetimer Problem gamblers in North Dakota are significantly more likely than non-probiem
gamblers {0 have ever tried most of the differant types of gambling included In the survey. These
include live bingo, pulitabs, blackjack, poker, other casino table games such as craps or roulette,
card games other than poker or blackjack, sports betling, pari-mutuet wagering on horse races, and
betting on the Intemet, Non-problem and problem gamblers are equally likely 10 have ever-
pariicipated in smali-stakes chartable gambling and lottery games (all of which are out-of-state).
Non-problem and problem gamblers are just as likely to have ever wagered on gaming machines
and games of skill,

Past Yeann Table 11 shows differences in past year involvement In different types of wagering by
non-problem and problem gamblers In North Dakota. Only those types of gambling for which past
year participation among problem gamblers is 10% (N=7) or higher are shown,

Table 11; Past Year Activities of Non-Prublem and Problem Gambler{

Non-Problem Problem
Past Year Activities Gamblers Gamblers | Sig.
(1634) (75)
% %

Charitable 80.5 65.3 NS
Gaming machines 44.7 58.7 012
Pulitabs 346 54.7 .000
Lottery games ) 33.8 44,0 .048
Blackjack 198 39.5 .000
Live bingo 23.0 32.0 052
Sports 18.4 22.7 NS
Card games other than blackjack or 10.8 20.0 .016
poxer

Casino table games (inc. roulette, keno) 4.2 20.0 .000
Parl-mutuel (Inc. horse, dog, mule) 2.9 17.3 .000
Poker 4.4 16.0 000
Games of skill 8.0 10.7 NS
Average # of past year activities 2.7 4.1 000

Chi-square = Fishur's Exact Test
Mean s ANOVA

Table 11 shows that problem gamblers in North Dakota are sigaificantly more likety thun nan-
problem gamblers to have wagered in the past year on gaming machines, puiltabs, blackjack,
poker, card games other than blackjack or poker, casino table gaines such as eraps or roulelts,
and on parkmutuel events. Al of thase sotivties.are coi' 1ous types of gambling that are tegaliy

available in North Dakota. :
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Monthlys Table 12 shows differences In monthly Involvement in different types of wagering by
non-problem and problemn gamtiers in North Dakota. As with past year participation, only those
types of gambiing for which past year participation among problem gambiers is 10% (N=7) or
higher are shown,

Table 12: Monthly Gambling of Non-Problem and Problem Gamblers

Non-firoblem | Problem
Monthly Activities Gamblers Gamblers | Sig.
(1834) (78)
% %
Blackjack 82 21.3 .000
Pulltabs 7.1 20.0 000
Gaming machines 49 17.3 000
Chantable 7.6 4.7 031
Live bingo §8 12.0 026
Spoits 2.9 12.0 .01 |
A sernge # of Monthly Activities 0.4 14 000

Chisquare = Fisher's Exact Tes!
Maan s ANOVA

Table 12 shows that problem gamblers In North Daknta are significantly more likely than non-
problem gambilers to wager on a monthily or more froquent basis on blackjack, puiltabs, gaming
machines and sports, While the differences between non-problem and problem gamblers in
monthly participation in small-stakes charitable gambling and live bingo achieve statistical
significance, the size of these groups suggests caution in interpreting these resuits,

Weekl'a In contrast to many other Jurisclictions and to the baseline survey in North Dakota (see
Comparing the 1992 and 2000 Swveys on Page 28), problem gamblers in North Dakota in 2000
participate in very few types of gambling on a weekly basis, While problem gamblers i North
Dakota are significantly more likely than non-protilem gamblers to play pulltabs, blackjack, poker
and bet on sports on a weekly or more frequent basis, the number of Individuals invulved is
exremely small and the analysis subject to large confldence intervalis.

Other Significant Differences

In additlon to thelr demographic characteristics and gambling Involvement, there are other
significant differences between non-problem and problem gamblers in North Dakota. These include
differences In respondents' perceptions of their gambling careers and involvement, differences in
their reasons for gambling, and differences in the impacts of their gambling on physical and mental

health as well as on famdy, finances and community.

Table 13 shows that, in contrast to many other junisdictions, there is no significant difference in the
age at which non-problem and problem gamblers started gambling in North Dakota, This table
shows that problem gamblers are significantly more likely than non-problem gamblers in North
Dakota to have felt nervous about thelr gambling and to believe that one or both parents has had a
gambling problem. Table 13 also shows that there are significant differences betwesen non-problem
and probiem gamblers in North Dakota in lerms of the resources that they devote to gambiing.
Problem gamblers are significantly more likely than non-problem gamblers {0 acknowiedge having
lost substantial amounts of money In a single day and in a single year. I is inleresting to note that
15% of the problem gamblers in North Daknta deny having ever 1ost money over an entire year of

gambling.
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Table 13: Differences In Gambling Careers and Participation

Non-Probiem roblem
Gamblers Gamblers Sig.
(1834) (78)
% %
Mean Age Started Gambling 25.0 233 NS
ver Felt Nervous About Your Gambling 9.6 486 000
[ Parent Ever Have Gambiing Problem 4.0 18.7 000
Usually Gamble Wih
Alone 12.2 167
Spouse/Partner 30.8 8.7 002
Qiher Family 14.3 ' 18.1
“Eriends / Co.workers / Olher 42.0 5.8
Largest Amount Lost in One Day
Less than $100 82.3 37.7 .000
$100 ~ $999 16.7 88,1
$1,000 or more 0.9 7.2
Largest Amount Lost in One Year N
Never lost money 7.1 14.9
L.ess than $1,000 89.0 82.7 000
$1,000 or more 3.9 22.4

Chi-square » Pearson,

Table 14 shows differences in the reasons that non-problem and problem gamblers in North Dakota
endorse for gambling, Problem gamblers in North Dakota are significantly more likely than non-
problem gamblers to say that exctement and challenge, winning money and entertainment are very
important reasons for gambling. Problem gamblers are also significantly more likely than non.
problem gamblers to say that sociallzing with friends and family and being around other people are
important or very important reasons for gambling. Finally problem gamblers are significantly more
likely than non-problem gamblers to say that distraction from everyday problems is an important or
very important reason to gamble.

Table 14: Differences In Reasons for Gamblin

Non-Problem Problem
Gamblers Gamblers Sig.
(1534) {75)
% %

Socializing w/friends or family * 4.7 59.5 013

[ To be around other people * 30.8 60.8 000

Excitement or challenge * 7.4 25.3 000

To win money ¢ 19.4 50.0 000

For entertainment or fun .* 31.5 53.3 001
Distraction from everyday problems * 8.4 31.1 Q010 )

‘Proportion endorsing reason as “imporiant® or "Very important.’
*Proportion sndorsing reason as *Very Importam,”
Chl-square = Pearson,

Table 15 presents differences between non-problem and problem gambiers on several health-
related dimensions. Tabie 15 shows thal prablem gamblers are significanily more likely than non-
problem gamblers in North Dakota to identify their physical hea/th status as poor or tak, rathes
than as good or excellent. Problem gambiers are also significantly moré )ikely than non-prodlm
gamblers in North Dakota to acknowledge thal iney are presently very traubled by thew
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*emotions, nerves or mental health’ and to acknowledge that they have experienced symptoms of
8 manic episode or major depression at some time in their lives,

Table 18: Differences In Physical and Mental Health

Non-Problem Problem
Gamblers Gamblers Sig.
(1834) (78)
% %
Health Status
Physical heaith status fair or poor 14.1 28.4 001
Very troubled by emotions. nerves, MH 1.1 8.1 000
"Manic eplsode (ever] 8.1 14.7 007 |
Depression (ever) 28.7 46.3 000
"Alcohol | Drug Use
Daily fobacco use 24.3 4872 0038
Waeekly alcohol use 30.2 50.7 000
Monthly marijuana use 22 13.7 000
Monthly cocaine use 0.7 8.8 001
- | illicit drug use {ever) 0.7 8.8 001.
Problems due to alcohol in past year 98 40.0 000
Problems due to drugs in past year 04 8.0 000
Help-Seeking
Help sought for MH problem in past year 9.2 227 001
Help sought for aicohol or drugs {ever) 3. 17.8 000
Help sought for gambling (ever) 0.3 18.7 000

Chi-square = Pearson,

Table 15 also shows that problem gamblers are significantly more likely than non-problem
gamblers in North Dakota to use tobacco on a daily basis, to consume alcohol once a week or
more often, to use marijuana and cocaine at least once a month, and to have ever used other
itticit drugs. Problem gamblers are also significantly more iikely than non-problem gamblers in
North Dakota to have experienced a variety of problems In the past year related to their
consumplion of alcohol and drugs. These difficulties include drinking or using drugs more often
or in larger amounts than Intended, spending Increasing amounts of time obtaining alcohol or
drugs or getting over their effects, making Ineffective efforts to stop drinking or using, missing
imporant personai and social obligations and experiencing emotional and heaith problems due to

alcohol or drug consumption.

Finally, Table 15 shows that problem gambiers are significantly more likely than non-problem
gambiers in North Dakota to have ever sought help for an alcohol or drug problem as well as for a
gambling problem. - Problem gamblers are also significantiy more likely than non-problem
gamblers in North Dakota to have sought help from a clinic or counselor for a mental health
problem. Together, these data suggest that a substantial number of problem gamblers in North
Dakota have experlenced mental heaith or substance abuse problems and have accessed the

health care sysiem in a variety of ways.

Table 16 on the following page shows differt::ices In the impacts of gambling on family, finances
and the criminal justice system among non-problem and probiem gambles in North Dakota.
Problem gamblers are significantly more likely than non-problem gamblers to have argued with
someone in the past year about their own gambling and, interestiigly, to say that they have been
troubled In the past year by the gambling of someone with whom they live. While the small
number of respondaents who acknowledge such situations makes it difficult 1o test statisticaily,
problem gamblers are most likely to identify this person as a spouse; non-probiem gamblers are
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more likely to identify this person as a parent, child or some other person. Furthermors, of the 12
individuals who acknowledged that one or more of these arguments about gambling became
physical, 1 scored as a problem gambler and 10 scored as probabie pathological gamblens,
These data point to the need for research on the relativaly unexplored relationship betwaen
problem gambling and domestic violence.*

Table 18: Differences In Family, Financ/al and Criminal Justice Impacts

Non<Froblem Problem
Gamblers Gamblers Sig.
(1634) (78)
% %
L"Famlly impacts
_é\_r_guod about own gambling in past year 0.4 16.2 000
roubled by gambiing of s'one R lives with 2.9 147 009
Financial Impacts
Ever filed for bankruptey 4.1 18.7 000
(61) _(14) .
Bankruptey due to gambiing 8.2 71.4 000
Fiied for bankruptey in past year 18.0 73.3 000
Criminal Justice Impacts _
Ever arrested or detained 7.7 24.0 .000
(115) (18)
[ Arrested due to gambling 1.8 $6.6 000
Ever incarcerated 50.4 72.2 NS
Incarcerated due to gambling 35(57) 615 (13) 000

Chi-square = Pearson.

Problem gamblers are significantly more likely than nun-problem gamblers In North Dakota to
acknowledge that they have filed for bankrupicy at some lime in their lives. Again, aithough the
numbers are t0o small lo provide statistically robust Information, it is worth noling that gJ} of the 14
bankruptcy filings among problem gamblers were for liquidation or consolidation of personal debt.
In contrast, one-fifth of the 81 bankruptcy filings among non-problem gamblers were for business
debt. Itis also Interesting that nearly three-quarters of the problem gamblers who ever declared
bankruptcy had aone so In the past vear compared to only one-fifth of the non-problem gamblers.

Finally, Table 18 shows differences between non-protlein and problem gamblers in North Dakota
In thelr Impacts on the criminal justice system, Problem gamblers are significantly more likely
than non-problem gamblers In North Dakota to have ever been arrested or Incarcerated. It s
worth noting that 10 of the 18 problem gamblers who acknowledged having been arrested feit
that gambling had been a significant factor In their arrest. Although the numbers are again too
small to provide statistically robust information, it Is interesting that nearly three-quarters of the
problem gamblers who had ever been arrested had been incarcerated, compared to half of the

non-problem gamblers,

! Although very littie research has been done on the relationship between problem gambling and domaestic violence, a
tecent survey of problem gamblers in seif-help and professianal reatment programs in Montana found that one-thind of
*extreme’ problem gamblers (those with scores of 7+ on the Fisher Screen) reported gambing-/#isted domesti vidence

(Poizin ot al, 1998),
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COMPARING THE 1682 AND 2000 SURVEYS

A critical purpose of replication studies is to determine whether gambling participation and problem
gambling prevaience rates have changed over time in a glven jurisdiction, Since 1993, a growing
number of surveys that replicate basellne studies of gambling and problem gambling have been
carried out In the United States. However, 1 is difficuit to evaluate changes across these
jurisdictions because of varlations In the Intervals between studies, the sample sizes, the

--demographic characteristics of the popuiation and the availablity of legal gambling in these

Jurisdictions.

In this section, we examine changes in gambling involvement and gambling-related problems in

“North Dakota {o determine whether enough statistical evidence exists to conclude that gambling

Involvement and gambling-related problems have changed siynificantly in North Dakota between
1992 and 2000. In examining the evidence, we employ a general procedure called hypothesis

testing.

" Thae tables in this section present several comparisoris of the data from the two gambling surveys in
North Dakota. These include comparisons of the samples, of gambling involvement, of problem
.gambling prevalence ratas and of lifetime problem gamblers. In presenting these data, we have

adopted the convention of presenting the descriptive data for each sample, then the direction of any:
stalistically significant change with the alphg set relatively high at a 80% confidence Interval (rather
than the more conventional 95% confidence interval) and then the specific resulls of a one-tail test

of significance.

Comparing the Surveys in North Dakota

The baseline survey in North Dakota was carried out In November and December, 1992 by
Gemini Research and Precislon Marketing, Inc. (Volberg & Silver, 1993), In this section, we
address several important differences in how the two surveys were carried out, These include
differences in the questionnalre, In the sampling frame and design, and in the compietion rate for
the two surveys. To summarize, the 2000 problem gambling survey in North Dakota included a
larger sample of respondents, achieved a better response rate, and provided a great deal more
information on the impacts of problem gambling in North Dakota than the baseline survey in

1992,
Comparing the Questionnaires

In the Methods section, we noted that the questionnaire for the 2000 survey consisted of a brief
screening Interview for gambling Involvement and demographics, administered {o 5,002 North
Dakota adults, and a fuli interview, including two problem gambling screens as well as sectlons on
alcohol and drug use, psychiatric disorders, soclal impacts of gambling, and help-seeking,
administered to 1,602 infrequent, past year and weekly gamblers. In contrast, the 1992 survey in

‘North Dakota Included only three major sections— gambling involvement, the lifetime and current

South Oaks Gambling Screen and demographic questions—administered to 1,517 residents of
North Dakota aged 18 and over.

Particular care was taken in designing the 2000 questionnaire to ensure that respondents’ gambiing
participation could be compared with the earler survey. However, there were several changes
made lo the types of gambling included in the 1992 and 2000 surveys. Table 17 on the following
page shows differences between the 19982 and 2000 surveys in the section of the questionnaie

about gambiing invoivement.

In 1992, several types of gambling, including lottery games, gaming machines and sports betting,
were each assessed with two sets of questions. in 2000, these types of gambling were assessed
with a single set of questions. Additional detall on geographic location and type of venue was
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obtained from monthly lottery and gaming machine players. in addiion, questions about
speculative stock or commodity inwe stments were dropped in the 2000 survey and questions about
gambling on games of skil for money and tslephone or computer wagering on the Intemet wers

added.

1902

Table 17: Comparing Types of Gambling In 1992 and 2000
12000

Raflies, casino nights and other small siakes games
spongored by s¢hools, clubs or othef organizalions

Rafies. casino nights and other shisl stakes games
wponscred by schools, ¢clubs of ather organizations

Ive bingo

Live bingo
Puiflabs

Jitabe

instant lofiery games

Othet loltery qames

Lottery games including instant or scratch tickets, daily
numbers games of large-jackpol games

Video lottery such as bingo, pokar or blackjack

Siot machines and other gaming machines not
including video lottery

Stot machines, pokei machines and othes gaming machines
that pay qut tickels of cash

Black|ack

Blackisck

Poker

Poket

Any oard of dice games at out-of-slate casinos

Dice or other games played at a casino, including craps,
rouletie or keno

Card games olher than poker played with fnends or
| relalives for maoney

Card games other than blackjack or poker played with friends
or relalives fur money v

Outcoma of sports of other events with friends of
coworkers

Sports with a bookie

Qutcome of sports of othet ovents with friends or coworkers,
in formal sports pools or with a bookmaker

Any type of horse, dog or mule races

Any type of horse, dog or mule races

Games of skill for money, such as daris, pool, bowling, or golif

Placed wagers via compuier an he Intemnet and World Wide
Web

Speculative invesiments including the stockmarket and
commodilies

Any other gaming activities

Any other gaming activities

Two changes were made to the demoqgraphic section of the questionnaire for the 2000 survey. One
change was to use slightiy ditferent categories for incoma. The other change had to do with the
way In which ethniclty was determined. In the mid-1990s, the federal government instituted
changes in the way in which data on race and ethnicity are collected. Prior to this change, a
single question was used o determine whether an individual was While, Black, Hispanic,
American Indian or Aslan. Survey researchers now use two questions, one to determine whether
an Individual is Hispanic or non-Hispanic and a second to determine whether the individual is
White, Black, American Indlan or Asian. In the 1992 North Dakota survey, only one question was
used to assess respondents’ ethnicity. In 2000, two questions were used, one to assess
*Hispanicity” and the other to assess “racial background.” This change was made to conform with

the revised federal standards.

Comparing the Samples

In 1992, based on Iinformation from the 1990 census, we estimated that the population aged 18 and
over in North Dakota was 463,048, The most recent estimate from the Bureau of the Census
shows an Increase in the adult pupulation of approximately 10,000 individuals in North Dakata. (n
comparing the results of the two surveys in North Dakota, it Is first helpful to consider differences in
data collection and response rates. In 1992, data collection was carried out by Precision
Marketing, Inc., a Fargo-based private survey research organization. Although the response rate
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for the 1992 survoy was an acceplable 88%, H s unciear which method was used to caiculate this
rasponse rate. In 2000, data collection was carried out by the Soclal Science Research Instiute,
a branch of the University of North Dakota based In Grand Forks. Depanding on which of the two
standard methods Is used, the response rate for the 2000 survey was 71% or 77%.

Table 18 compares the demographic characteristics of the 1992 sample and the weighted 2000
samples. In 1992, we noted differencas grealer than §% between the population and the
achleved sample for gender and age. There was no attempt (o weight the 1882 North Dakota
sample; Instead readers were cautioned that the prevalence estimates presented in the repont
were llkely to be conservative because of the under-representation of young males (Volberg &
Sliver, 1893). In 2000, whlle there were some differences between the achieved sample and the
population, none of these were larger than 3% and all of these differances were adjusted through
the use of post-stratification welghts (see Welighting and Imputation on Page 9 as well as

Appendix B).

Table 18: Comparing Samples in 1992 and 2000

1962 2000 Direction p-vaiue
(1617) (5002) (ps.10) (1-tail)
% %
Gender Male 40.9 50.8 + 000 .
Female 59 1 482 . 000
[ Age 18 - 24 6.6 14.3 + .00Q
26 - 29 8.3 8.7 325
30 - 34 11.3 8.4 - 000
38 ~ 54 38.0 37.8 429
§5 - 84 12.1 11.5 289
85 + 23.7 19.3 000
Ethnicity White 96.6 90.1 - 000
Native American 2.2 4.0 + 001
_ Hispanic 0.1 2.1 + .000
Qther* 1.1 3.9 + 000

*Includes Black, Asian and Other as well as Don't Know and Refused.

Table 18 shows thal, as expected, the weighted 2000 sample includes significantly more males
and young adults than the 1892 sample. The welkjhted 2000 sample also Includes significantly
more Native Americans and persons from non-Caucasian groups. While not presented in the
table, there are several additional differences in the demographic characteristics of the 1992
sample and weighted 2000 sample. The weighted 2000 sample Includes significantly more
raspondents who are divorced, separated or never married compared to the 1992 sanmple, The
weighted 2000 sample also Includes significantly more respondents attending school compared
to the 1992 sample. These differences are predictable given the greater proportion of young
aduits In iive 2000 sample, There ar» alsn significantly more respondents with college degrees
and significantly more respondents with annual household incomes over $35,000 in the waighted
2000 sample compared to the 1992 sample. These differences are at least partly explained by
improvements in economic conditions nationally between 1992 and 2000.
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Changes in Gambling Participation

There have been suhstantial changes In gambling participation in North Dakota between 1992
and 2000, Table 19 provides an overview of these changes and clearly shows a significant
Increase In the proportion of respondents who have not gambled In the past year or do not gambied
on a weekly basis. There Is a concomitant and significant decrease In the proportion of
respondents who acknoviedge gambling on one or more activities once a week or more often.

Table 19: Changes In Gambling Involvement, 1992 and 2000

1962 2000 Direction p-value
(1817) (8002) (p$.10) (1-tail)
% %
Non-Gamblers 18.8 19.2
Infrequent Gemblers 9.4 11.0 + 033
Past Year Gamblers 59.8 86.5 + 000
Weekly Gamblers 12.3 4.3 . 000

*Ooes not include participation In speculative investments for the 1992 sample.

This pattern of substantial declines in gambling panticipation has been noted in several other
jurisdictions, In New Zealand, for example, the proportion of the population participating weekly In
continyous forms of gambling (eli from 18% to 10% between 1961 and 1999 although there was no
change in the proportion of the population that gambled weekly on non-continuous forrns of
gambling (Abbott & Volberg, 2000). In Washington Slate, weekly gambling participation fell from
27% 10 20% between 1892 and 1998 (Volberg & Moore, 1999a). In Louisiana, weekly gambling
participation declined from 37% to 20% between 1995 and 1998 (Volberg & Moore, 1889b),

There are several possible explanations for the substantlal drop in weekly gambling participation in
North Dakota between 1892 and 2000, Since different individuals were interviewed in the two
surveys and given the differences in the demographic characteristics of the achieved samples, part
of the difference Is likely due to sampling errors Inherent in all survey research. R is also possible
that respondents may have been differentlally affected in 1992 and 2000 by the soclal stigma or
desirabilty associated with different gambling aclivities (Sudman, Bradburn & Schwarz 1996),

Another likely explanation is that the market for legal gambling in North Dakota, as in the United
States more generally and even internationally, has matured and that the public appetite for many
types of commerclal gambling Is satisfied (Christiansen, 1999), The baseline survey In North
Dakota was carried out in 1892, some years after live bingo, pulltabs, blackjack and poker and pari-
mutuel wagering were legalized for charitable purposes but prior to the beginning of tribal casino
operations In North Dakota. I is likely that some of the decline in gambling involvement in North
Dakota between 1992 and 2000 reflecls early experimentation with new types of gambling followed
by declining Interest and participation. Since many North Dakota residents likely participated in
these activities only a few times, responses in the 2000 survey may also reflect a common type of
response bias known as “recall decay,” or a decline in the ability to recall an infrequent event as

recedes in time (Johnson, Gerstein & Rasinski, 1998).

Table 20 on the following page provides a more detailed picture of how gambiing invoivement has
changed in North Dakota between 1992 and 2000. Table 20 shows changes In lifetime participation
for alf of the types of gambling included In the two surveys, Table 20 shows that lifetime
participation has Increased significantly for two activities bul has decreased significantly for six
activities, Actlvitles that have seen an Increase in lifetime participation include lottery games and
gaming machines. Activities that have seen a decrease in lifelime participation include small-
stakes charitable gambling, live bingo, poker, card games other than blackjack or poker, and
betting on sports and pari-mutuel avents. There Is no comparison possibie for betting on games
of skill or for telephone and compuler wagering since these activities were not included in the

baseline survey in 1992,

k]
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Table 20: Changes in Lifetime Gambling Participation, 1992 and 2000

1993 | 4000 | Directon | p-vaiue
(1817) | (8002) | (ps.10) | (1-tai)
% %

Charttable 70.9 66.6 . 601 |
Live bingo 43.0 39.4 p 008 |
Fulltabs 4a7.3 460 198
Lottery games 31.4 39.9 + 000
Gaming machines 42.1 §5.8 + 000
Blackjack 30.0 30.2 431
Poker 18.0 1.8 e 600
Casino table games (Inc. roulette, keno) 9.0 %4 327 |
Card games other than blackjack or poker | 23.1 20.1 . .008
Spons 29.0 28.0 . 011
Par-mutuel (inc. horse, dog, mule) 10.9 16.9 . 004
Other 1.6 1.8 321

Table 21 shows changaes in past year participation for all of the types of gambling included In the
two surveys, There have been significant Increases In past year particlpation in lottery games,
gaming machines and casino table games, Including roulette and keno. There have been
declines in past y.ar vanticipation In small-stakes charitable gambling and pulltabs as well as
sports betting aithough only the first of these meets the 5% hypothesis lest,

Table 21: Changvs In Past Year Gambling Participation, 1992 and 2000

1992 2000 | Direction | p-vaive
(1617) | (5002) | (ps.10) | (1-tail)
% %

Charitable §2.3 47.5 - .000
Live bingo 22.7 21.6 187
Pulitabs 325 30.5 - .086
Lottery games 23.7 28.5 + .000
Gaming machines . 25.8 J8.8 + .000
Blackjack 16.5 17.8 123
Poker 6.1 5.8 338
Casino lable games (inc. roulette, keno) 2.2 558 + .000
Card games other than blackjack or poker 11.8 11.8 485
Sports 18.8 17.3 . .087
Pari-mutuet (inc. horse, dog, mule) 4.5 3.9 147
Other 0.9 1.4 .082

it Is interesting that the proportion of the North Dakota adult populaticn that has wagered in the
past year on live bingo, blackjack, poker and other card games, and on park-mutuel events did not
change between 1992 and 2000. This suggests thal there are small but loyal groups of players
who engage in these activities on a regular basis.

With the exception of games of skill and telephone and computer wagering which were not
assessed in 1982, there have been significant declines in weekly gambling across the board for
every type of gambling included in the 1982 and 2000 surveys, With the exception of charitable
gambling and blackjack, all of these declines meet the 1% hypothesls test. However, the base
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rates for all of these activities in both 1892 and 2000 are extremely low and these results should
be interpreted with caution.

Changes in Problem Gambling Prevalence

Table 22 shows that the combined lifetime and current prevalence rates of problem and probable
pathological. gambling in North Dakota remained stable between 1992 and 2000. While there
were declines in the lifetime and current prevalence of problem gambling, there were significant
increases in the lifetime and current prevalence of probabile pathological gambling. One possible
explanation for the decline in problem gambling rates emerges from recent longdudinal research
conducted in New Zealand. The New Zealand data suggest that Individuals with less severe
gambling-related difficulties may “transition,” or move into and out of problem gambling status,
quite rapidly. In contrast, individuals whose gambling difficulties are severe are less likely to
overcome their problems with the passage of time (Abboft, Willlams & Volberg, 1999),

Table 22: Changes in Problem Gambling Prevalence, 1992 and 2000

1992 2000
Prevaience Prevalence Direction p-value
(1517) (5002) (ps.10) (1-talt)
% %

Lifetime Problem 2.5 2.0 . .098
Lifetime Probable Pathological 1.0 1.8 + 014
Lifetime Combined 3.5 3.8 318
Current Problem 13 0.7 . 019
Currant Probable Pathologi¢al 0.7 1.4 + 019
Current Combined 2.0 2.1 385

The increase In current probable pathologicat gambling in North Dakota is of particular concern
for two reasons. First, this change suggests that problem gamblers in North Dakota are
experiencing more severe difficuities related to their gambling. Second, individuals at the more
severe end or the problem gambiing “continuum” are less |ikely to be able to transition out of thelr
difficulties on their own and are more likely o require professional treatment to overcome their

gambling problems,

For reasons explained above and in Appendix A, it Is important to focus on changes in cyrrent
prevalence when considering the number of individuals in the population who are affected by
gambling-related difficulties. Table 23 on the folloawing page presents information on changes in
the current prevalence of problem and probable pathological gambling by gender, age and
ethnicity. Table 23 shows that the prevalence of current problem and probable pathological
gambling has increased among men and among Individuals aged 35 to 54, The prevalence of
current problem gambiling has decreased among women. None of these changes meets either
the 1% or 5% hypothesis test for statistically significant change.
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Table 23: Changes In Current Prevalence by Demographic Grou

1892 2000
Prevalence Prevaience Direction p-value
(1517) (5002) (p< 10} (1-tail)
% %
Gander Male 1.8 2.9 + 064
Female 2.1 1.4 . 068
Age 18 ~ 24 7.1 4.4 121
25-34 2.4 1.8 258
35 - 54 1.4 2.3 + .097
55 + 1.3 1.0 263
Ethnicity | White 18 16 332
Native American 11.8 16.1 320

Changes in Problem Gamblers

As noted several times in this repont, research on the performance of the South Oaks Gambling’
Screen has shown that the lifetime screen is most useful when conskdering the characteristics of
indlviduals in the population who are currently experiencing severe difficulties related to their
gambling while the current screen is a more useful tool for detecting changes in the prevalence of

problem gambling over time.

Table 24 shows changes in the demographic characteristics of individuals with lifelime gambling
problems In North Dakota between 1992 and 2000, Probiem gamblers in North Dakota in 2000
are significantly more likely than problem gamblers in 1992 to be male, Native American and
widowed. Problem gamblers in 2000 are significantly less likely lo be female, White or married
than problem gamblers in 1992, All of these changes meel the 5% hypothesis test for statistically

significant change.

Table 24: Changes [n Problem Gamblers, 1992 and 2000

1992 2000
Total Total Diraction | p-value
(53) (75) (p8.10) | (1-tal)
% %

Gender Male 54.7 69.3 + 046
Femaie 45.3 30.7 . 048
| Age 18 - 24 157 173 404
25 - 34 27.5 .3 385
- 36 - 54 33.3 38.7 271
55 + 23.5 18.7 .254
_Ethnlcty Whtte 93,5 80.0 . 10268
Natlve American 75 17 3 + 054
Other 0.0 2.7 115
Mardal Status Married 642 44,3 . .014
Widowed 0.0 12.9 + .003
Olvorced/Separated 18.9 228 296
Never Married 17.0 20.0 338

34
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The change in the proportion of male and female problem gambiers in North Dakota between
1992 and 2000 is panticularly Interesting. While a similar change was identified receritly in
Washington State (Volberg & Moore, 1999a), other replication studies have generally identified a
growth in the proportion of problem gamblers who are women (Polzin et al, 1998, Volberg &
Moore 1999b). We can speculate that changes in the gender and ethnicity of problem gamblers
in different jurisdictions are related to changes in the types of gambling that are available and
popular. Without further research, however, this remains an untested hypothesis.
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COMPARING THE SOGS AND THE NODS IN NORTH DAKOTA

In the North Dakota replication survey, a new problem gambling screen based on the most recent
criteria for pathological gambling was used in addition to the South Oaks Gambling Screen (SOGS-
R). The SOGS-R was used in order to obtain prevalence data comparable to the baseline survey
in North Dakota in 1992. The SOGS-R was also used in order to permit comparisons of the North
Dakota study with surveys in numerous other jurisdictions intemationally. The NORC DSM-IV
Screen for Problem Gambling (NODS) was included in the replication survey in North Dakota in
order to assess pathological gambling using the most current psychiatric criteria. The NODS was
also used to permit comparisons of the North Dakota study with the recent U.S. national survey of
gambling behavior and impacts (Gerstein et al., 1999). While the analysis presented here does
not answer questions about the vaiidity and reliabilty of the NOODS in relation to clinical
assessments, we now have an important opportunity to understand how two different methods to
identify problem and pathological gamblers in the general population operate in relation to one

another.

The NORC DSM-IV Screen for Problem Gambling (NODS)

The NODS is based on the most recent diagnostic criteria for pathological gambling (American
Psychiatric Association, 1894), The NODS is composed of 17 items, compared (o the 20 tems
that make up the South Qaks Gambling Screen. The maximum score on the NODS is 10
compared o 20 for the South Oaks Gambling Screen, Although there are fewer items in he
NODS, and the maximum score is lower, the NODS Is aclually more restrictive in assessing
problematic behaviors than the SOGS. A discussion of the development of the NODS is

presented in Appendix A of this report,

Table 25 presents information about the proportion of the total North Dakota sample (N=5,002)
who score on an increasing number of items on the lifetime and past year NODS.

Table 25: Scores on Lifetime and Past Year NODS ltems

Number of items Lifetime | Past Year
Non-Gamblers 19.2 19.2
|_Non Problem 741 76.7
1 - 39 2.2
2 1.3 0.7
At Risk 5.2 29
K] 0.4 02
K 03 0.3
Problem 0.7 0.5
5 0.1 00
| 6 0.1 0.4
7 00 01
8 02 0.2
9 0.1 0.1
10 0.4 03
Pathological 0.8 0.7
Combined Problem/Path 1.8 1.2

Y In the same way lhat SOGS-based pravalence rates ware calculated {see discussion of Problem Gambiing in North
Dakota on Page 18), NODS-based pravalence rates were first calculated for raspandents who cormpletad the full interview

(Ns1808) and then sdjusted to the total sample (N=8§002) in arder lo provide NODS pravalence rates for the adut
population of North Dakota,
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One important difference between the NODS data from North Dakota and the U.S. national
survey involved the use of an additional selection criterion in the national survey. Inthe U.S.
national survey, the NODS was only administered to respondents who indicaled (in a8 separate
section of questions) that they had lost $100 or more in a single day or over the course of a single
year (Gerstein et al, 1899). There is a small but interesting group of respondents in the North
Dakola survey who scored extremely high (8+) on the lifetime and/or past year NODS but who
¢claimed never to have lost $100 or more in one day or year. Further research is planned to
examine the demographic characteristics, gambling involvement and gambling careers of these

individuals.

Table 26 compares NODS-based prevalence rates of at-risk, problem and pathological gambling
in North Dakota with those from the U.S. national survey (Gerstein et al, 1989). To permi this
comparison, the North Dakota prevaience rates have been adjusted to reflect the use of the same

filter for gambiing expenditures used In the national survey.

Table 26: Comparing NODS Rates for North Dakota and United States

North Dakota United States
Lifetime Past Year Lifetime Past Year
Al Risk (1 - 2) .7 2.3 7.7 2.9
Problem (3 - 4) 0.5 0.4 1.5 0.7
Pathological (5+) 0.4 0.3 1.2 0.8

Statistical Properties of the NODS

Information about the psychometric propenries of the NODS among the North Dakola
respondents who have ever gambled Is important in assessing the relationship between the two
different methods used to identify problem and pathological gamblers used in the survey. These
analyses were carried out using only the sample of respondents who had ever gambled
(N=1,609) because lhe problem gambling screens were only administered to these respondents.

The accuracy of any instrument is measured by looking at the reliability and validity of the
instrument (Litwin 1995). The geliability of an instrument refers to the ability to reproduce the

rasults of the appiication of the test, The:yalidity of an instrument refers to the abiity of the
instrument to measure what it is intended 1o measure. In examining the psychometric properties

of the NODS, we assess its rellability by examining the internal consistency of the screen and
then analyze the Individual tems to determine the ability of the screen to discriminate effectively
between non-problem and probiem gamblers. We then examine several forms of validity for the

NODS.
Reliabitity

The most widely accepted test of rellability is a8 measure if the internal consistency of an
instrument. The rellabliity of both the Iifetime and past year NODS (N=17 each) in the North
Dakota sample of gamblers is excallent with Cronbach's alpha at .92 and .94 respectively. These
alphas are substantially higher than the .70 thal Is generally accepled as representing good
teliabilty. The refiabiity of the more limied set of Hems that are scored for the NODS (N=10
gach) Is anly stightly lower than the fuil scale, with Cronbach's alpha at .88 for the lifetime screen

and .92 for the past year screen,
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Reliablity of the lifetime and past year SOGS items (N=20 each) in the North Dakata sample of
gamblers is aiso high, at .86 and .91 respectively. These figures are quite similar to the reliability

estimates for the scored fems of the NODS noted above.

In addition to testing the internal consistency of the NODS, we carried out a factor analysis of the
Iifetime screen to assess how the individual tems cluster together, Factor analysis shows that
83% of the varlance for the lifetime NODS was accounted for by one factor (eigenvalue = 5.32)
among North Dakota respondents who gambied. Only one other factor with an elgenvalue over
1.0 was identifled, accounting for an additional 10% of the total variance among North Dakota
respondents who gambled. Table 27 presents information about how each of the scored NODS

items loads on these two factors.

Table 27: Lifetime NODS Rotated Component Matrix
Factor 1 Loading | Factor 2 Loading
NOODS Scored items {Eigenvalue 5.32) (Eigenvalye 1.02)

| Preoccupation 21 .74

Tolerance 26 7
Withdrawal 70 .40
Loss of Control 37 .40
Escape .54 .35
Chasing 4 74
Lying 12 41
| legal Acts 72 25
Risked Significant Relationship 81 14
Bailout .84 A3

ltem Analysis

Endorsement of the lifetime NODS tems among North Dakota gamblers ranged frorn a high of
3.6% (Chasing) to a low of 0.6% (Loss of Control). It Is instructive to compare positive responses
to specific items by problem gamblers and non-problem gamblers to see how well the different
items discriminate between these groups. For this analysis, we used the lifetime SOGS
classification of non-problem and problem gamblers to prevent confusion between the method of
classifying respondents and the items by ‘which they were classified. While this analysis was
completed for both the lifetime and current screens, only the lifetime results are presented hese.

Table 28: Comparing SOGS Non-Problem and Problem Gamblers
Non-Problem Problem
NODS Scored Items Gamblers Gamblers p-valyse*
(1534) (75)

% %

Praoccupation | 26.0
Tolerance . 28.0
Withdrawal . 200
| Loss of Control ‘ 18.7
Escape . 32.0
Chasing . 36.0
Lylng 0. 24.0
iegal Acts — . 16.0
Risked Significant Re'tionship . 25.3
Bailout ) 21.3

Mean NODS Scots___ ; 2.49
* Fishet Exact Tes! chi-square
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Table 28 shows that all of the NODS items discriminate effectively between SOG S-defined
problem and non-problem gamblers in North Dakota. The most effective discriminator among the
NODS items Is Chasing with 38% of the SOGS lifetime problem gambiers scoring a positive
response in contrast to only 2% of the non-problem gamblers. The next best discriminator is
gambling to Escape, with 32% of the SOGS lifetime problem gamblers scoring a positive
response compared to 1.3% of the non-problem gamblers. Table 28 aiso shows that thers is a
significant difference in mean scores on the lifetime NODS items for non-problem and problem
gamblers, supporting the notion that the lifetime NODS measures something similar to the lifetime

SOGS.
Validity

There are several different types of validity that can be measured to assess the performance of
an instrument, These Include content, criterion, congruent and construct validity. Content validity
is a subjective measure of how appropriate the items seem to a set of reviewers who have some
knowledge of the subject matter. Since the NODS is so closely based on the DSM-IV criteria,
and since these criteria have been shown to have good content validity, it is likely that the NODS
also has good content validity (Lesleur & Rosenthal, 1991), ‘

Criterion Validity

Criterion validity requires that the instrument be judged against some other method that is
acknowledged as a standard for assessing the same phenomenon. As a first step, we calculated
the correlation coefficient between the lifetime NODS and the lifetime South Oaks Gambling
Screen. The result of this analysis was statistically significant at the .01 level (Pearson

correlation coefficient=,77).

To better understand how the SOGS and the NODS operate in relation to one another, it is useful
to examine how respondents scored on each of these instruments In more detal. Table 29
shows the number of respondents who scored at different levels on the lifetime SOGS and the

lifetime MODS.

Table 29: Comparing Scores on the SOGS and the NODS
. | NODS
S0GS 0 1-2 §+ [ Total

_

1080 23 1083
-2 J88 60 i 449
-4 26 11 39
+ 5 9 14 38

Total 1477 | 103 15 1607

Table 29 shows that the lifatime NODS operates quile well in relation to the lifetime SOGS in
North Dakota. Respondents who score low on the NODS also tend to score low on tha SOGS
and 89% of the respondents who score three or more on the NODS also score three or more on
the SOGS. In contrast, only 32% of respondents who score three or more on the lifetime SOGS

also score at this level or above on the lifetime NODS.
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Congruent Validity

Since several of the tems on the SOGS and NODS are similar, 1 Is possible to check whether
respondents answered similar questions differently. Table 30 shows how respondents who
gambled answered several similar questions from the lifetime SOGS and the lifetime NODS.

Table 30: Comparing Scores on Similar SOGS and NODS Htems

Positive

SOGS or NODS item Score
{(1609)
%

CHASING Go back another day lo win manay you lost (chasing) (SOGS) 05
Often teturn another day 1o gel even (chasing) {NODS) is

LYING Claimed 1o win when in fact lost (SOGS)
Lied three or more times to family/others about gambling (NODS)

TOLERANCE | Spend more time or money gambling than intended {(SOGS)
Need 10 gamble with increasing amounts (o gef same excriement (NODS)

LOSS OF Would like to stop gambling but couldn't (SOGS)
CONTROL Made 3+ attempts to stop, cul down af control gambling (NODS)

Table 30 shows that, for the most part, respondents are less likely {o give an answer litat scores
as a positive response on the lifetime NODS questions than on the lifetime SOGS iterns. This is
particularly the case for the dems assessing Telerance. Respondents are more likely to give a
positive answer to the NODS question assessing Chasing than to the SOGS item assessing the
same behavior, This analysls suggests that further research is needed on the cognitive

properties of all of the problem gambling screens presently in use.

Comparing SOGS and NODS Problem Gamblers

The lifetime prevalence of problerm gambling in North Dakota, measured by the NODS, is lower
{han the lifetime prevalence of problem gambling identified with the South Oaks Gambling
Screen. While only 0.7% of the total sample of gamblers (N=1,609) scored 3 or 4 poinis on the
lifetime NODS, 2.4% of the tolal sample scored 3 or 4 poinis on the lifetime SOGS. While 0.9%
of the total sample scored § or more points on the lifetime NODS, 2.2% of the lotal sample scored

5 or more points on the lifetime SOGS.

Table 31 on the following page compares the demographic characteristics of fifetime problem
gamblers as defined by the NODS with lifetime problem gamblers as defined by the SOGS.
Since both the SOGS and the NODS groups are relatively small, and since most of the NODS
problem group are part of the SOGS problem group as well, no effort has been made o test the
differances for statisiical significance. Table 31 shows that problem gamblers identified using the
lifetime NODS are more likely than problem gamblers identified using the lifetime SOGS to be
under the age of 30 and Native American and !2ss likely 10 be married. The small siz@ of the
group of NODS problem gamblers precludes funher analysis of differences between NODS. and

SOGS-identified problem gamblers.
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Table 31: Comparing Demographics of SOGS and NODS Problem Gamblers

SOGS NODS
Problem Problem
Gambiers Gamblers
(75) (27)
% %
Gender Male 68.3 724
Female 30.7 276
| Age 18 - 29 287 44 8
30 - 54 54.7 37.9
55+ 18.7 17.2
Ethnicity White 80.0 64.3
Native Amaerican 17.3 357
Hispani¢ —_ —
Other T 2.7 —_
Marital Status | Married 44.3 29.2
Widowed 12.9 20.8
Divorced/Separated 22.9 29.2
Naver Married 20.0 20.8
Education Elementary / Some HS 14.3 14.8
HS Grad 22.9 29.6
Somae College 40.0 33.3
BA Degree 12.9 22.2
Graduate Study 10.0 —
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SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION

The main purpose of this study was to examine changes in the prevalence of gambling-related
problems in the adult population In North Dakota between 1992 and 2000. An additional purpose
of this study was to compare prevalence rates of problem gambling in North Dakota with
prevalence rates from other jurisdictions. A third, and final, purpose of this study was to identify
the types of gambling causing the greatest difficulties for the ciizens of North Dakota. Tha
results of this study will be useful in documenting the impacts of legal gambling on the citizens of
North Dakota and in refining the services available to individuals in North Dakota with gambling-

related difficuities.

Summary

The types of gambling that North Dakotans are most likely to have trled are charitable games,
gaming machines, pulltabs, lottery games and live bingo. The favorite types of gambling, among
those who have ever gambled, are gambling machines, charitable gambling, blackjack and live
bingo. Non-gamblers in North Dakota are more likely than gamblers to be over the age of 65,
widowed, and retired. Non-gamblers in North Dakota are also more likely to have annual
household incomes under $25,000. Regular, weekly gamblers in North Dakota are more likely
than less frequent gamblers to be male, aged 35 to 54, Native American, and to reside in the
northwest (NW) region of the State. Weekly gamblers in North Dakota are also more likely to be
divorced or separaled, to be either working fulltime or {o be disabled or unemployed, and to have

annual household incomes between $20,000 and $25,000.

The combined lifetime prevalence of problem and pathological gambling in North Dakota is 3.8%
and the combined past year prevalence is 2.1%. Past year prevalence rales are highest among
adulls aged 18 10 24 and among Nalive Americans. Past year prevalence rates are highest
among individuals who gamble weekly or more oflen and among past year horse race betiors,
among past year players of casino table games such as roulette or keno, and among blackjack

and other card game piayers,

Further analysls shows that lifetime problem gambiers in North Dakota (those most likely to be in
need of services) are significantly more likely than non-problem gamblers to be male, aged 30 to
34, Native American, widowed, divorced or separated, to have less than a high school education,
lo be disabled or unemployed, and to have annual household incomes between $20,000 and
$25,000. Problem gambiers in North Dakota are significantly more likely than non-problem
gamblers to have gambled on blackjack, pulltabs and gaming machines on a monthly basis,

Problem gambilers in North Oakota are significantly more Iikely than non-problem gamblers o
have been troubled in the past year by the gambling of sorneone they live with, to have engaged
in physical arguments about thelr own or another's gambling, 1o have filed for bankruplcy in the
pasl year, and to have been arrested. Prublem gamblers in North Dakola are significantly more
likely than non-problem gamblers to smoke daily, to drink alcohol reqularly, and to have used
marijuana or cocaine. Problem gamblers in North Dakota are significantly mora likely than non-
problem gamblers to report expariencing problems due to their use of alcohol and drugs and to
have sought help for an emotionai or substance abuse problem. Finally, problem gambiers in
North Dakota are significantly morae llkely than non-problem gambiers to have ever experienced

an egisode of mania or depression.

In spite of the inciusion of More yeung males (tradmonallg the heaviest gambiers in the general
population) In the survey sample, gambling participalion has uruppeu elanificantly In Nocth Dakota
betwesn 1892 and 2000. The proportion of the adult population in North Dakots that gambles
once d waok or more often declinad from 12% lo 4%. While gamblhg‘panlclpauon In general has
aaclined, lifetime participation rates have increasad for gaming machines and lottery products.
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Simitarly, past year participation rates have increased for gaming machines, lottery products and
casino table games such as roulette and keno,

The combined prevalence of problem and pathological gambling did not change significantly in
North Dakota between 1992 and 2000. However, the prevalence of both Iifetime and past year
pathological gambling (the mast severe category) has increased significantly. This suggests that
problem gamblers in North Daxota are experiencing more severe problems and may be in greater
need of senvices. Problem gambiers in North Dakota in 2000 are significantly more likely than
those in 1992 to be male, to be Native American and to b & widowed. Problem gamblers in North
Dakota in 2000 are significantly less likely than those In 1992 to be married.

Directions for the Future

The impacts of gambling-related problems can be high, not only for individuals but for families and
communities. Pathological gamblers experience physical and psychological stress and exhibit
substantial rates of depression, alcohol and drug dependence and sulcidal ideation. The families of
pathological gamblers experience physical and psychological abuse as well as harassment and
threats from bill collectors and creditors. Other significant impacts include costs o employers,
credtors, insurance companies, social service agencies and the civil and criminal justice systems

(Lesleur, 1998),
How Many To Plan For?

One important purpose of a prevalence survey is to identify the number of individuals in a
jurisdiction who may need treatment services for gambling-related difficuities at a given paint in
time. Experience in many jurisdictions suggests that not all of the individuals in need of treatment
for a physical or psychological problem will seek out such treatment. From a policy perspective, the

question Is: How many individuals should we plan o provide for?

Recently, resea «h indicating that approximately 3% of individuals with severe alcohol-related
difficulties actuaily seek treatment in any one year (Smith, 1993) was successfully replicated in
predicting the number of problem gamblers who would seek treatment In two Austrailan states
(Dickerson, 1997). This approach was further tested in Oregon, one of only a few Jurisdictions
where treatment services for problem gamblers are widely available. The results of the prevalence
survey in Oregon suggested that between 600 and 1400 individuats would seek {realment per year.
In fact, the problem gambilng treatment programs in Oregon have an average annual enrollment of
610 problem gamblers and famiy members per year (Volberg, 1987),

In calculating the number of problem and pathological gamblers who might seek treatment in
North Dakota, we focus on the group of individuals who scoreg as current probable pathological
pgamblers (e.g. the 4,300 to 9,000 Individuals represented by the confldence intecval around the
point estimate for current probable pathological gambling in North Dakota). Based oa this
approach, we astimate that North Dakota should plan to provide problem gambling treatment

services to between 130 and 270 individuals per yesr,

Recormmandations

Given the Increase in the prevalence of probable pathological gambiing and the dearth of eNective
services for problem gambiers, there ara sevaral steps that state legisiators and other concerned

pariies may wish to consider impiementing in Noctht Dakota. & making such dacisions,
consideration could ba ghven te dovwslophy the fallowing Services and actives:

working with insurance companies to otasm canerage for traamant cervices for indfvict

[
with gambling-relaiad Jifcuitee;
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refinement of public education and prevention services targeted toward particular at-risk
groups (e.9. youth, Native Americans) as well as venues where problem gamblers are most
fikely to be found. These include tribal casinas and bars, taverns, restaurants and lounges

where charitable gambling, such as pulltabs and blackjack, takes place;

support of industry policies and programs to minimize gambling-related difficulties among
patrons,

development of specific government-industry Initiatives {0 address problem gambling
issues in North Dakola,

expanding trafning opportunities to educate more mental health, alcohol and substance
abuse treatment professionals in how to screen for gambling problems and pathology as well
as when and where to refer such individuals for appropriate treatment;

establishment of a gambling counselor certification program to ensure that individuals
seeking help for gambling-related difficulties recelve appropriate and effective services;

an Increase In funding to support education, prevention and treatment of problem gambling
through the Department of Human Senvices;

evaluation of existing services as well as those established in the future; and

continued monitoring of gambling and problem gambling prevalence to assess the impacts of
legal gambling on the residents of North Dakola.

¢ 1n Washington State, lor -cnmpu, ar ndustry working group, representing all of the difterent Yypes of
i the state, medts 0N & quarterty basls .0 sddress preblem gambling (ssues.

goambing avedatie
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APPENDIX A

Methods to Assess Problem Gambling in the General Population
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When gambling is legaiized, the operation and oversight of these activities become part of the
routine processes of governmenl. Gambling commissions are established, revenues are
distributed, and constituencies of customers, workars and organizations develop. Governments
become dependent on revenues from legal gambling to fund essential services. Many non-
gambling occupations and businesses also become dependent on revenues from legal gambling
to continue to operate proftably, including convenlence stores, retail operators, restaurants,
hotels, social clubs and charitabie organizations. Ancillary services, including legal, accounting,
architectural, public relations and advertising, security and financial organizations, expand their
activities to provide for the needs of gambling operations (Volberg, 1998).

A critical element in the growing legitimacy of gambling has been the “medicalization” of gambling
problems and the professionalization of gambling treatment (Abt & McGurrin, 1991; Rosecrance,
1985), in other words, the acceptance of gambling problems as suitable subjects for disciplines
such as psychiatry, clinical psychology, and epidemiology. A constituency of well-educated
treatment professionals has emerged whose livelihoods come from providing services 1o
governments and gaming operators. Organizations that provide services to these helping
professions—hospitals, clinics, government heaith agencies, universities and colleges, the
insurance industry—have growing interests in the development of legal gambling. These
organizations are investing increasing though still relatively modest resources in training and
centifying treatment professionals, in educating students, and in covering treatment for

pathological gambling.

The Social Construction of Psychiatiic Measures

The tools used {0 generate numbers are always a reflection of the work that researchers and
others are doing 1o identify and describe the phenomena in which they are interested (Becker,
1960; Dean, 1979; Gerson, 1983). Historically, standardized measures and indices have often
emerged in situations where there ts, simultaneously, intense distrust and a perceived need for
public action (Porter, 1995), Examples include the emergence of measures of “public utility” in
France in the mid-1800s and the development of cost-benefit analysis in the United States in the

mid-1900s.

There have been three “generations” of psychiatric research since the turn of the century. The
third, and latest, generation of studies began around 1980 and coincided, as did the first two
generations, with dramatic changes in psychlatric nomenclature {Dohrenwend, 1998). The
publication of the third edilion of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual (DSM-III) (American
Psychiatric Assoclation, 1980}, with its systemalic approach to psychiatric diagnoses, led directly
to the development of semi-structured interviews and rating examinations for use by clinicians.
These lools were quickly adopled for epidemiological research despite the relative lack of
research on the validity of these case identification procedures with general population samples

(Dohrenwend, 1995).

Measuring Gambling Problems: A Case Study

With the rapid expansion of legai gambling in the 1980s, state governments began to establish
services for individuals with gambling problems. In establishing these services, policy makers and
program planners quickly sought answers to questions about the number of *pathological gambiers*
in the general population who might seek help for their difficulties. These questions required
epldemiological rasaarch to dentify the number (or "cases") of pathological gamblars, ascertain the
demographic characteristics of these individuals, and determine the likelihood that they woukd utilize

treatment senvices If these became available,

Following the inclusion of the dlagnosis of pathological gambling in the DSM.IH for the first time in
1980 (Amarican Psychiatric Association, 1980), a few researchers from a variely of scientific
disciplines, Including psychiatry. csychology, and sociology, began to investigate gambling.
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related difficulties using various methods from psychiatric epidemiology. At this time, few tools
existed to measure gambling-related difficulties. The only tool that had been rigorously
developed and lested for its performance was the South Caks Gambling Screen (SOGS).

The SOGS, closely based on the new diagnostic criteria for pathologlcal gambiing, was originally
developed to screen for gambling problems in clinical populations (Lesieur & Blume, 1987). The
20 weighted tems on the SOGS include hiding evidence of gambling, spending more time or
money gambling than intended, arguing with family members over gambling and borrowing money
from a varlety of sources to gamble or to pay gambling debts. In developing the SOGS, specific
dems as well as the entire screen were tested for reliabilty and validity with a variety of groups,
including hospial workers, university students, prison inmates and inpatlents in alcohol and
substance abuse treatment programs (Lesieur & Blume, 1987; Lesieur, Blume & Zoppa 1986;

Lesieur & Klein 1985).
Adopting the South Qaks Gambling Screen in Population Research

Like other tools in psychiatric research, the SOGS was quickly adopted in clinical setlings as well
as in epidemiolngical research. The SOGS was first used in a prevalence survey in New York
State (Volberg & Steadman, 1988). By 1998, the SOGS had been used in population-based
research in more than 45 jurisdictions in the Uniled Stales, Canada, Asia and Europe (Abbolt &
Voiberg, 2000; Bondoifi, Osiek & Ferrero, 2000; Gerstein et al, 1999; Productivity Commission,
1999, Rdnnberg et al, 1999; Shaffer, Hall & Vander Bilt, 1999; Sproston, Erens & Orford, 2000).
This widespread use of the SOGS came at least partly from the great advantage of comparability
within and across jurisdictions that came with use of a standard tool (Walker & Dickerson, 1996).
Although there were increasingly well-focused grounds for concern about the performance of the
SOGS in non-clinical environments, this lool remained the de facto standard in the fieid until the
mid-1990s, when the new DSM-1V criteria were published (American Psychiatric Association,

1994, Volberg & Banks, 1990).

Like all toois to detect physical and psychological maladies, screens (0 detect gambling problerns
can be expected o generate some errors in classification. However, misclassification has very
different consequences in different setlings. Misclassification can occur when an individual without
the malady in question is misdiagnosed as having the malady. This type of classification error is

called a false positive. Misclassification can also occur when an individual with the malady is
misdiagnosed as not having the malady. This type of classification error is calied a false neqative

(see table below). While most screens (o detect psychiatric disorders work well in clinical settings
where the prevalence of the discrders under investigation is predictably high, the accuracy of many
psychialric screens declines when they are used among populations where prevalence s much
lower, such as the general population (Dohrenwend, 1995),

Classification Condition
Pathological Non-Pathological
< Pathological True Positive False Positive
Non-Pathological Faise Negative Trus Negative

Cliniclans are concernad with the issue of false positives because the cost of treating someone
who does not need treatment is extreamaly high. Clinicians are aiso concerned with false negatives
because of the enormous impact assoclated with fallure to corraclly dlagnose an individua!l with a
disorder. In population research, whera the primary concern I8 accurately Identifying the number

A2
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of people with and without the disorder, both types of ciassification arror are also imporant, but
for different reasons. |n population research, each type of classification arror has an independent
impact on the overall efficiency of the screen. Indeed, the rate of false negatives may be of
principal concem in population research since even a very low rate of false negatives can have 3
jarge effect on the overall efficiency of a screen (i.e. the total proportion of individuals who are

correctly classified).

Let us take as an example a group of 1,000 indiiduals of whom 5% are classified as pathological
and 95% are classifled as non-pathological. Let us assume that the rate of false positives is 50%
so that 25 of the 50 pathological gamblers are misclassified. Even if the rate of false negatives
were much lower, say 5%, 47 of the 850 non-pathological gamblers would be misclassified. Thus,
even a very low rate of false negatives will generate a group that Is neary twice as large as the

group of false positives (see table below).

Pathological Non-Pathological Total
Pathological 25 25 50
Non-Pathological 47 903 950
Total 72 928 1,000

Validating the South Oaks Gambling Screen

A national study in New Zealand in the early 1990s fumished an opporiunity to examine the
performance of the South Oaks Gambling Screen in the general population (Abbott & Volberg,
1992, 1998). This opporlunity arose from the two-phase research design employed in the New
Zealand study. This design allowed he researchers to identify true patholoqgical gamblers among
particular groups of respondents, In the New Zealand study, true pathological gamblers were
identified in each of four groups included in the survey:. (1) probable pathological gambiers, (2)
problem gambiers, (3) regular continuous gambiers and (4) reqular non-continuous gamblers. No
error rate was determined for respondents in the New Zealand study who did not acknowledge
gambling on a regular basis. Prevalence rates were comrected using the “efficiency approach’
which involved calculating the rate of true pathological gamblers in each group and dividing this
number by the total number of respondents in the sample. The efficlency approach resulted in a
ravised current prevalence estimate in New Zealand that was 0.1% higher than the uncorrected

current prevalence rate.

This revised estimate in New Zealand rested on the conservative assumption that there were no
false negatives among individuals who did not gamble regulardy. While the error rates in ¢ach of the
four groups have an Impact on the overall prevalence rate, the size of the error rate for each group
has a different impact because of the diffarent sizes of these groups In the population. Even if the
number of false negatives in the non-pathological group or among respondents who do nol gamble
regulary were extiramely small, the relatively large size of these groups contributes to a noticeably
higher overall prevalence rate, For example, if the large proportion of the population that gambles
on a less than weekly basis Is assumed to include a very small number of pathologlcal gamblers

(1%), the pravalence astimale increases by 0.7%.

Ad
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The New Zealand researchers concluded that the |ifetime South Oaks Gambling Screen is very
good at detecting pathological gambling among those who cumrently experienca the disorder.
However, as expected, the screen identifies at-risk individuals at the expense of generating a
substantial number of false positives. The current South Oaks Gambling Screen produces fewer
false posttves than the lifetime measure but more false negatives and thus provides a weaker
screen for identifying pathological gambiers in the clinical sense. However, the greater efficiency of
the current South Oaks Gambling Screen makes 4 a more useful tool for detecting rates of change
in the prevalence of problem and pathological gambling over time (Abbott & Volberg, 1996).

Although there are questions about the validity of applying resulls from research in New Zealand to
studies in the United States, the New Zealand research does suggest that estimates of the lifetime

prevalence of problem and probable pathological gambling over-state the actual prevalence of
pathological gambling. However, since the lifetime South Caks Gambling Screen does a good job
of identifying pathological gamblers in the general population, information about the characteristics
of these respondents is valuable in ptanning the implementation and development of services for
pathological gamblers in the community. The New Zealand research further suggests that
estimates of the current prevalence of problem and probable patholegical gambling are qune

accurate.

A recent study in Minnesota supports the New Zealand work on the performance of the SOGS
(Slinchfield, 1997). In the Minnesota research, the SOGS and a nineteen-item version of the
DSM-1V criteria (the DIGS—Diagnostic Interview for Gambling Severity) were administered lo
three samples, including a general population sample, a sample of callers to a gambiing hotline
and a sample of individuals entering treatment for a gambling problem, As in New Zealand,
Stinchfield found that the accuracy of the SOGS was high among individuals who called a
gambling holline or were entering treatment but that the instrument did not perform as well in the
general population. Slinchfield concluded that the SOGS had satisfactory reliability and validity in
all three sampies. However, he argued that the SOGS is best suiled for identifying individuals at
risk while the DIGS is more useful if the goal of a study Is {o estimate the prevalence of

palhological gambling in the general population,
Growing Concerns with the South Oaks Gambling Screen

Beginning in the early 1990s, a varlety of methodological questions were raised about SOGS-based
research in the general population (Culleton, 1989; Dickersan, 1993b; Lesieur, 1994; Volbery,
1994; Walker, 1992). Some of these issues, such as respondent denial and rising refusal rates,
were common to all survey research. Other questions were related 10 the issue of how fo best
sludy gambling-related difficullies. These included reservations about the rellabilty and validity of
the SOGS as well as chailenges to assumptions about the nature of gambling problems that were

built Into the original version of this instrument,

What led o the growing dissatisfaction with the South Oaks Gambling Screen? One important
change was the rapk expanslon of legal gambling itself. This expansion led many people who
had never before gambled to try these activities. As legal gambling expanded into new markets
and as new types of gambling were marketed to new groups, the individuals seeking help for
gambling difficulties became increasingly heterogeneous. Representatives of the gambling
industries also played a role in challenging the supremacy of the South Oaks Gambiing Screen
through their efforts to discredit what they saw as unacceptably high prevalence rates.

Prevalance surveys in the early 19¢0s suggested thal growing numbers of women and middle-

class Individuals were developing gambling problems (Volberg, 1992, 1998; Volberg & Silver,
1903). Saveral of the specific itams Included in the SOGS mada littie sense to thase new groups

or to the treatment professionals working with them. Questions about borrowing from loansharks,
for axample, or cashing in stocks and bonds 1o get money to gamble or pay gambling debts were
more relevant to the middle-aged, miidle-class men most likely to seek help for gambiing
problems in tha 1970s and early 1980s than to the young adults and middle-aged women who

A4
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began to experience gambling problems in the 1990s, Questions about others criticizing one's
gambling and feeling guilty about one's gambling were more likely to receive a positive response
from low-income and minority respondents than others in the population (Volberg & Steadman,
1992). Questions about borrowing from the “household” to get money to gamble would be
interpreted differently by individuals from ethnic groups where “household” may be defined as the

entire exiended family,

There were also multiplying needs for tools in different settings. Starting In the early 1990s,
growing government resources became availabie for services for problem gamblers, In 1985,
only three states funded services for problem gamblers. In 1996, 21 states funded an array of
services for problem gamblers, including education, prevention, and referral; an increase of 600
percent in ten years (Cox et al, 1987). Along with these resources came new demands for
accountability and performance. These demands drew further attention to the deficiencies of the
South Oaks Gambling Screen and increased dissatisfaction with its performance in general

population studies.
Emergence of New Problem Gambling Screens

In 1994, the fourth edition of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual (DSM-1V) adopted a new setl.of
criteria for the diagnosis of pathologlcal gambling, The changes made to the psychiatric criteria
for pathological gambling incorporated empirical research that linked pathological gambling to
other addictive disorders like alcohol and drug dependence (American Psychiatric Association,
1994). In developing the DSM-IV criterla, 222 self-identified pathological gamblers and 104
substance abusers who gambled socially tested the individual tems (Lesleur & Rosenthal, 1991),
Discriminant analysis was used to identify the iterns that best differentiated between pathological
and non-pathological gamblers. While the results from this sample indicated that a cutoff of 4
poinls was appropriate, the American Psychlatric Assoclation esiablished a diagnostic cutoff of §
points. Pathological gambling is now defined as persistent and recurrent maladaptive gambling
bzhavior as indicated by five or more of ten criteria (listed In Tabie 1 on Page 3 of this report),
with the reservation that the behavior is not better accounted for by manic episodes—a
reservation added somewhat as an afterthought, as it was not pant of the underlying research on

which the DSM-|V crierla were based.

Most researchers conducting gambling studies and treatment professionals working with

individuals with gambling problems have expressed satisfaction with the new DSM-IV criterla.
Internationally, numerous researchers and treatment professionais have adopted the DSM-IV
criteria in thelr work and these criteria are now the measure against which the performance of

other instruments must be demonstrated.

There Is a growing community of researchers and treatment professionals active in the gambiing
field and a growing number of looly to measure gambling problems for different purposes. Until
1890, only three screens existed to identify individuals with gambling problems, including the ISR
screen used In the last national study; the CCSM:; and the SOGS (Culleton, 1989; Kallick et al,
1978; Lesleur & Blume, 1987). Since 1690, nine screens for adulls and three screens for
adolescenis have been developed, Including two based on the SOGS and at least four based on
{he DSM-IV criteria. Despite this proliferation, the psychomelric properties of most of these new
{ools remain unexamined. £ven more significantly, few of these new screens have been lested
for thelr differential nerformance in clinical settings, population research, and program evaluation.
Another concern i: 10w to callbrate the performance of these new screens with the results of

more than a dece : of SOGS-based research,
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The 1998 National Survey'

In 1998, the National Gambiing Impact Study Commission contracted with the National Opinion
Research Center o collect data from a nationally reyresemative sample of households about
gambling behavior and gambling-related problems. ¢ This was the first national survey of
gambling behavior conducted since 1875, The questionnaire for the natlona! survey
supplemented demographic and geographic information with economic and family indicators.
Respondents were asked highly detailed questions about thelr gambling behavior and about
adverse consequences related to gambling. Respondents were also asked questions about their
physical and mental health, about alcohoi and substance use and dependence and about ¢criminal

records.

The guidelines of the National Gambling Impact Study Commission specified that the DSM-IV
criteria be used to identify respondents with gambling-related difficulties in the general population.
This meant that the study team could not use the South Oaks Gambling Screen since this is
based on the DSM-Ill criterla. Instead, the study team developed a series of questions designed
to match the OSM-IV criteria for dlagnosing pathological gambling. This series of questions is
referred to as the NODS (the National Opinion Research Center QSM Screen for Gambling

Problems).

Development of the NODS

The NODS is composed of 17 lifetime #erns and 17 past year tems, compared 10 the 20 lifelime
items and 20 past year tems that make up the South Oaks Gambling Screen. The maximum
score on the NODS is 10 compared to 20 for the South Oaks Gambling Screen. Although there
are fewer items in the NODS, and the maximum score Is lower, the NODS is actually more
restriclive in assessing problematic behaviors than the SOWGS or any other screen based on the

DSM-IV criteria.

For example, several of the DSM-IV criterla are difficult to establish with a single question. In
assessing these criteria (Preoccupation, Escape, Risking a Significant Relationship), two or three
questions were used with respondents recelving a single point if they give a posilive response to
any of the questions assessing that criterion. Another complication in constructing the NODS is
that two of the OSM-IV criterla (Withdrawal, Loss of Conlrol) assume that the questioner already
knows that the individual has tried to “stop, cut down, or control® her or his gambling. These
criterla were assessed with the NODS by fiest determining whether the responcant had tried to
control her or his gambling before assessing whether the respondent had felt restless or irritable
during these times (Withdrawal) and, then, assessing whather the respondent had succeeded in

doing so (Loss of Control).

Another decision in developing the NODS was to place definite limits on several of the criteria, in
keeping with the approach taken in alcohol and drug abuse research. For example, in assessing
Preoccupation, the NODS asks if the periods when respondents spent a ot of time thinking about
gambling or about getting money to gamble have lasied 2 weeks or longer. Simllarly, the NODS
asks if respondents have fried, but not succeeded, in controlling their gambling three or more
times (Loss of Control). Respondents are also asked if they have fied to others about their
gambling three or more times (Lying). Only a posiive response to these latter Hems are included

In the final score for the NODS.

' This section Is based on the final report to the National Gambling Impact Study Commission (Gerstein ol al, 1999).

? The Natlonal Opinion Research Center formed a study team that included Gemini Resesrch, Lid,, the Lewin Qroup and
ChristianservCummings Assaoclates, Ine. (n addition 1o the survey of 2408 adults, research Infliatives included a national
survey of 834 youths aged 16 and 17, Intercept interviews with 530 adu patrons of gaming facilitles, s longitudinal dats
base (1080 to 1908) of soclal and economic Indicaiors and estimated gambling revenues in a random national sampie
of 100 communities and case studles in 10 communities regarding the sffects of Iarge-scele casinos opening In close

proximity.

A6

Qambling and Problem Gambting in North Dakota




in the national survey, NORC chose to administer the NODS only to those respondents who
acknowledged ever losing $100 or more in a single day of gambling and/or those who
acknowledged that they had been behind at least $100 across an entire year of gambling at some
point in thelr lives. This decision was made afler pretesting indicated that non-gamblers and
infrequent gamblers grew impatient with repeated questions about gambling problems and after a
review of other problem garnbling surveys showed that persons who had never experienced
significant losses were unlikely to repont problems related to gambiing. Further research is
needed o determine whether the use of these filters in other problem gambling studies is

warranted.

Validity and Reliability of the NODS

In the study of clinical disorders, pathological gambling counts as a chronic rather than as an
acute disorder. Once fully developed, chronic disorders leave a lifelong wuinerabilty. This
vulnerability may be effectively treated and kept in check. However, periods when an individual is
relatively free of symploms do not mean that the person is free of the dlsorder. From the
perspectlve of measuring prevalence, the strongest emphasis belongs on the determination of
whether pathological gambling has developed rather than on whether its symptoms are recent or
current. This is clearly reflected in the DSM-IV criteria, which focus on the accumulation of
discrete symptoms through the present and do not require that specific symptorms be clustered

tightly together in time.

As noted above, research on the performance of the SOGS has shown that the Jifetime screen is
very good at detecting pathological gambling among those who currently experience the disorder.
However, the lifetime SOGS accuralely identifies at-risk individuals at the expense of generating
higher numbers of false positives. Based on the construction of the NODS as well as the results
from the national survey, the research team believes that the specificity of the NODS will be very
good, reducing the rate of false positives among those classified with the lifetime screen; and in
this respect, contrasting with the performance of the SOGS.

One important step In developing the NODS was a field test with a natlonal clinical sample of 40
individuals In outpatient problem gambling treatment programs. Based on the field test, the
research team concluded that the NODS had strong internal consistency, retest reliability and
good valldity. The field test demonstrated that the sensitivilty of the lifetime NODS In a clinical
population was higher than the past year NODS. This is what one would expect if pathological
gambling is appropriately conceptualized as a chronic disorder.

In the future, it will be important to e xamine whether the lifetime NODS, with its focus on the
accumulation of symptoms over lime, works better than the past year NODS, with its focus on the
clustering of symptoms in time. It will also be important to calibrate the lifetime NODS with the

South Oaks Gambling Screan, both lifetime and past year.

Assessing Problem Gambling in the Future

The assumption underying ail of tha existing gambling research is that gambling-related difficuilies
are a robust phenomenon and that gambiing probiems exist in the community and can be
measured, Dasplte agreement among researchars and treatment professionals at this fundamental
lavel, thare Is disagraement aboul the concepts and measurement of gambling.related difficullles.
Whila the ascription of “conceptual and methodological chaos® to the fleid (Shaffer, Hall & Vander
Biit, 1997: 8) may be an overstatement of the skuation among its experienced researchers, the
presence of compating concepts and methods Is not uncommon among emerging and even mature
sclentific flelds. Nevertheless disputes among 6xperts have led to some degrae of public confusion

and unceriainty about the Impacts of legal gambling on society.
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In the late 1990s, the issues surrounding legal gambling have become far more complex. Policy
makers, government agencles, gambling regulators and gaming operators are concemed about the
likely impacts of changing mixes of legal gambling on the gambling behavior of broad segments of
the population as well as on the prevalence of gambling-related difficulties. Public heakth
researchers and social scientists are concerned with minimizing the risks of legal gambling to
paricular subgroups in the population. Economists, financlal insttutions and law enforcement
professionals are concemed about the relationship between legal gambling and bankruptcies,
gambling and crime, and the reliance of the gaming industries on problem gambiers for revenues.
Treatment professionals, government agencles and not-for-proft organizations are concemed
about how o allocate scarce resources for the prevention and treatment of gambling problems
(Volberg, 1998). Finally, groups opposed lo the expansion of legal gambling have started working
to prevent the further expansion of legal gambling or repeal exdsting activities.

Like much of sclence, measurement is a negotiable process. Instrumentation [s always a
reflection of the work that researchers are doing to identify and describe the phenomena in which
they are interested. As research on problem gambling continues, our systems for classifying
problem gamblers must change. The South Oaks Gambling Screen represents a culturally and
historically situated consensus about the nature of problem gambling. As research continues and
as the definitlons of problerm gambling change, new instruments and new methods for estimating .
prevalence in the general population and for testing models of gambling behavior will continue to -
emerge. These emerQing methods must be tested agalinst each other and against the South
Oaks Gambling Screen in order to advance the field of problem gambling research in an orderly
manner, ensuring the relevance of our past work as well as our work in the future,
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By:
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1. Sampie and welighting overview. The sample is @ “two-phase probabily sample” (Kish, 1668,
Chap. 12), also cailec a *double sample® (Cochran, 1963, Chap. 12), of adult members of
households with telephones located in North Dakota, The first phase involved the selection of
residentlal housaholds wih telephones in North Dakota and the selection of one eligible adult
aged 18 or older from each selected household lo respond {0 the screener or “short form®. The
phasge 1 or short form weights (“WT_SHORT") lreat the first phase selection as an equal-
probabillty setection of eligible aduits in North Dakota, except that male and female adults of
different ages In each of four *regions’ of North Dakota may have different probabilities of
compleling the screener., The second phase sampie Involved a stratified random seiection of
phase-1 respondents for the full-length interview (“long form"): 28% of short.form respondents
who sakd they were lifetime gamblers, 26% of those who sald they were past-year gamblers,
100% of those who said they were past-week gamblers, and 0% of those who said they had
never gambled were selected to receive the full-length interview. (An exception is Reglon 1,
where much higher percentages of lifetime and past-year gamblers were asked to complete the
long form.) The phase 2 or long form waeights ("WT_LONG?") adjust for both the differential
probabliities of selaction for the long formn based on gambling frequency, for differential
nonresponge by reglon, age, and gender at phases 1 and 2, and for differential nonresponse by

gambling frequency at phase 2,

The following sections glve details of the weights for the short and long forms, provide descriptive
statistics for both weights, and discuss the Implementation of the weights in analyses of the North

Dakota gambling dataset,

2. Phase-1 welights ("WT_SHORT"). Separately within each of 48 phase-1 welghting
subclasses, we calculated the phase-1 welght by (a) dividing the number of Individuais who
completed the shorl form by the corresponding number of adults in the same subclass of the
North Dakota population, (b) taking the reciprocal (Inverse) of the resulting ratio, and (c)
standardizing the reclprocals of the ratios so that their sum across all short-form respondents
equals the number of short-respondents, {.e., n = §002. The quantity calculated in (a) estimates
{he “phase-1 incluslon probability,” the probabllity of being selected for and compleling the
screener. The phase-1 weight Is proportional to the reciprocal of the phase-1 inclusion probability

(Cochran, 1963).

The 48& subclasses that were used In the phase-1 weighting resulted from cross-classifylng three
variables: age (coded 18-24, 25-29, 30-34, 35-54, 55-84, and 65 and oider), gender (males and
females), and reglon (coded 1, 2, 3, and 4). A small number of missing screener responses on
age- about 5%- were imputed at the mode.- A printout accompanying this memorandum
("ndimpute.ist”) shows the distribution of short-form respondents by phase-1 weighting subclass.

3. Phase-2 weights ("WT_LONG"). The long-form welghts are the product of iwo factors: (a) the
phase-1 weight ("WT_SHORT™) and (b} the “phase-2 factor,” a factor which adjusts for the
unequal probabllities of selecting short form respondents for the long form and for the unequal
long-form completion rates of Indbdduals of different reglons, ages, genders, and gambling
frequencies. Separately within each of 44 phase-2 weighting subclasses, the phase-2 factor was
computed by (a) dividing the number of long-form respondents by the number of short-form
raspondents in the same welghting subclass and (b) taking the reciprocal inverse. The phase-2
weights (“WT_LONG")-—computed by multiptying the phase-1 welght by the phase-2 factor—
were standardized so that they sum, when added up over all long-forrn responderits, o the
number of long-form respondents, n = 1808, (Note that the long-form weights are not defined—
take on missing data values~ for Individuals who did not complete the long form.) The quantity
calculated in (a) estimates the “phase-2 Inclusion probability,” the conditional probability of being
salected for and compieting the tong form, given completion of the short form. The long-form
weight Is proportional to the reciprocal of the product of the phase-1 and phase-2 Inclusion

probabilities (Cochran, 1983),
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The subclasses used in the phase-2 weighting Inklially resuited from cross.clagr  °
variables: age (coded 13.34, 38.84, 88 and older), gender (Mmales and female "

2,3, and 4), and gambling frequency (never, ifelime, past-year, and past-week). .

necessary o collapse across some weighting subclassas to produce final weighting su.

with sufficient numbers of cases—a minimum of 38 cases per subclass.—~to estimate the pi..
factor: (a) we collapsed across age for all gambling subclasses, axcept past-year gamblers, in'
region 1, (b) we collapsed reglons 2, 3, and 4 for nongamblers and !fetime gamblers: (¢c) we
collapsed both age and region for past-week gambilers in reglons 2, 3, and 4, A printout
accompanying this memorandum (*ndimpute.lst*) shows the distribution of short-form
respondents by phase-2 weighting subclass.

4, Descriptive statistics. A printout accompanying this memorandum (*ndweight.!st”) presents
descriptive statistics for the two weights: WT_SHORT and WT_LONG, Bach weight is only
mildly positively skew (skewness = 1,29 for WT_SHORT and shewness = 0,70 for WT_LONG)
and the coefficient of varlation (standard deviation divided by mean) of each welght is moderate
In magnitude. These statistics suggest that the use of each welght in analysis should occaslon
only a modest reductlion In statistical precision relative lo a seif-welghting sample of the same
slze,

5. Implementation of the welghts in analysls. WT_SHORT should be used In analyses of the
short- form data. WT_LONG should be used in analyses of the long-form data. Each weight is
scaled to sum to the total number of respondents, so these weights should yleld fairly accurate
standard errorg of analytical statistics and confldence intervais for estimated parameters, when
applied using the WEIGHT subcommands of programs like SPSS or SAS, except that these
programs make no adjustment for the clustering of phone numbers with banks (assuming that a
clustered sample of phone numbers was selected in phase 1), Most analytical purposes will be
well served by using these weights. Exceptions would be inferences about the total number of
Narth Dakota aduils with specifled attributes or about the total number of North Dakota gamblers
with specified attributes. For the latter kinds of uses, WT_SHORT should be rescaled to sum to
the number of North Dakota aduits, and WT_LONG should be rescaled to sum to the number of
gamblers in North Dakota (or best available estimate thereof).
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